
Table of Contents

FORM 10-Q

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

 x QUARTERLY REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
   
 For the quarterly period ended     September 30, 2002
   

OR
 

 o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

   
 for the transition period from __________ to __________
  
 For Quarter Ended  Commission File Number
 September 30, 2002  1-718

 

TEJON RANCH CO.
  
 (Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)  

 
Delaware  77-0196136

 
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)  (IRS Employer Identification No.)

   
 P.O. Box 1000, Lebec, California    93243  
     
 (Address of principal executive offices)    (Zip Code)  

   
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code  (661) 248-3000  

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for
the past 90 days.

Yes x No o

Total Shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding on September 30, 2002, were 14,381,043.



Table of Contents

TEJON RANCH CO.

INDEX

  Page No.
  

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION  
   
Item 1. Financial Statements  
   

 
Unaudited Consolidated Condensed Statements of Operations for the Three Months and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2002 and
September 30, 2001 1

   
 Unaudited Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2002 and December 31, 2001 2
   
 Unaudited Consolidated Condensed Statements of Cash Flows for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2002 and 2001 3
   
 Unaudited Consolidated Condensed Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 4
   
 Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements 5
   
Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 11
   
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risks 16
   
Item 4. Controls and Procedures 20
   
PART II. OTHER INFORMATION  
   
Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K 21
   
SIGNATURES  
  



Table of Contents

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

TEJON RANCH CO. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

  
Three Months Ended

September 30  
Nine Months Ended

September 30  
    
  2002  2001  2002  2001  
      

Revenues:              
 Real estate  $ 2,569 $ 3,699 $ 8,586 $ 8,189 
 Farming   3,601  1,696  4,308  2,012 
 Interest income   142  447  653  1,430 
       
   6,312  5,842  13,547  11,631 
Cost and Expenses:              
 Real estate   2,084  2,209  6,143  5,658 
 Farming   3,217  1,690  4,612  3,063 
 Corporate expense   862  661  2,820  2,439 
 Interest expense   (20)  165  —    295 
       
   6,143  4,725  13,575  11,455 
      
Income from operations   169  1,117  (28)  176 
Equity in income (loss) of unconsolidated joint ventures   255  21  178  (84)
Minority interest   (174)  20  (308)  (77)
      
Income before income tax expense   598  1,118  458  169 
Income tax expense   220  425  167  64 
      
Income from operations after tax   378  693  291  105 
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of applicable
income taxes   4  (403)  (271)  303 
      
Net income  $ 382 $ 290 $ 20 $ 408 
      
Income from operations per share, basic  $ 0.03 $ 0.05 $ 0.02 $ 0.01 
Income (loss) from discontinued operations per share, basic  $ —   $ (0.03) $ (0.02) $ 0.02 
Net income per share, basic  $ 0.03 $ 0.02 $ —   $ 0.03 
Income from operations per share, diluted  $ 0.03 $ 0.05 $ 0.02 $ 0.01 
Income (loss) from discontinued operations per share, diluted  $ —   $ (0.03) $ (0.02) $ 0.02 
Net income per share, diluted  $ 0.03 $ 0.02 $ —   $ 0.03 

See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements.
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TEJON RANCH CO. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

(In Thousands)

  September 30, 2002  December 31, 2001*  
    
  (Unaudited)    

ASSETS        
CURRENT ASSETS        
 Cash and cash equivalents  $ 13,774 $ 10,889 
 Marketable securities   12,667  12,574 
 Accounts and notes receivable   4,954  5,850 
 Inventories:        
 Farming   2,945  1,121 
 Other   106  109 
 Assets of discontinued operations   —    5,847 
 Prepaid expenses and other   2,014  1,614 
     
 Total current assets   36,460  38,004 
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT - NET   59,881  61,016 
OTHER ASSETS   473  291 
INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED JOINT VENTURES   1,494  (163)
    
TOTAL ASSETS  $ 98,308 $ 99,148 
    
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY        
CURRENT LIABILITIES        
 Trade accounts payable  $ 1,869 $ 3,332 
 Other accrued liabilities   312  816 
 Short-term borrowings   1,810  1,806 
 Other current liabilities   488  410 
 Borrowings of discontinued operations   —    47 
 Current liabilities of discontinued operations   —    146 
     
 Total current liabilities   4,479  6,557 
LONG-TERM DEBT   14,348  14,563 
MINIMUM PENSION LIABILITY   1,606  1,606 
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES   4,072  3,619 
    
 Total liabilities   24,505  26,345 
MINORITY INTEREST IN EQUITY OF CONSOLIDATED JOINT VENTURE   241  674 
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY        
 Common stock   7,188  7,163 
 Additional paid-in capital   31,216  30,056 
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (1,312)  (1,540)
 Retained earnings   36,470  36,450 
     
 Total stockholders’ equity   73,562  72,129 
     
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  $ 98,308 $ 99,148 
    

 

See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements.
* The Balance Sheet at December 31, 2001 has been derived from the audited financial statements at that date.
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TEJON RANCH CO. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In Thousands)
(Unaudited)

  
Nine Months Ended

September 30  
   
  2002  2001  
    

OPERATING ACTIVITIES        
 Net income  $ 20 $ 408 
 Items not affecting cash:        
 Depreciation and amortization   1,939  2,306 
 Deferred income taxes   316  —   
 Minority interest   (308)  (77)
 Equity in net (income) loss from unconsolidated joint ventures   (178)  84 
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities:        
 Receivables, inventories and other current assets, net   (1,038)  (2,977)
 Current liabilities, net   (1,885)  (644)
     
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES   (1,134)  (900)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES        
 Maturities and sales of marketable securities   8,463  27,569 
 Funds invested in marketable securities   (8,478)  (35,585)
 Distribution to minority interests   (125)  —   
 Property and equipment expenditures   (6,872)  (13,049)
 Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures   (1,479)  —   
 Other   (182)  371 
     
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES  $ (8,673)  (20,694)
    
FINANCING ACTIVITIES        
 Proceeds from revolving line of credit   —    14,337 
 Payments of revolving line of credit   —    (16,886)
 Proceeds from long-term debt   —    1,845 
 Payments of long-term debt   (215)  (5,050)
 Bond reimbursement from community facilities district   6,068  —   
 Proceeds from issuance of common stock   —    29,797 
 Proceeds from exercise of stock options   1,185  432 
     
NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES   7,038  24,475 
    
NET CHANGE IN CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS   5,654  (4,679)
    
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   2,885  (1,798)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD   10,889  2,286 
    
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD   13,774 $ 488 
    

See Notes to Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
($’s in thousands except shares outstanding)

  
Common

Stock Shares
Outstanding  

Common
Stock  

Additional
Paid-In
Capital  

Deferred
Compensation  

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss  

Retained
Earnings  Total  

         
Balance at January 1, 2001   12,712,236 $ 6,356 $ 683 $ (43) $ (663) $ 36,156 $ 42,489 
Net income   —    —    —    —    —    294  294 
Changes in unrealized gains on available-for-
sale securities, net of taxes of $142   —    —    —    —    213  —    213 
Defined benefit plan funding adjustments, net
of taxes of $599   —    —    —    —    (893)  —    (893)
Interest rate swap adjustment, net of taxes of
$233   —    —    —    —    (197)  —    (197)
                     
Comprehensive loss                     (583)
Restricted stock issuance   5,363  3  73  (76)  —    —    —   
Net proceeds from rights offering   1,578,947  790  28,776  —    —    —    29,566 
Exercise of stock options   27,000  14  524  —    —    —    538 
Amortization of deferred compensation   —    —    —    119  —    —    119 
         
Balance at December 31, 2001   14,323,546  7,163  30,056  —    (1,540)  36,450  72,129 
Net income   —    —    —    —    —    20  20 
Changes in unrealized gains on available-for-
sale securities, net of taxes of $31   —    —    —    —    47  —    47 
Interest rate swap adjustment, net of taxes of
$106   —    —    —    —    181  —    181 
                     
Comprehensive income   —    —    —    —    —    —    248 
Exercise of stock options   57,497  25  1,160  —    —    —    1,185 
         
Balance at September 30, 2002   14,381,043 $ 7,188 $ 31,216 $ —   $ (1,312) $ 36,470 $ 73,562 
         

See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements.
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TEJON RANCH CO. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

September 30, 2002

NOTE A – BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The summarized information furnished by the Company pursuant to the instructions to part I of Form 10-Q is unaudited and reflects all adjustments which are, in
the opinion of the Company’s management, necessary for a fair statement of the results for the interim period.  All such adjustments are of a normal recurring
nature.

The results of the period reported herein are not indicative of the results to be expected for the full year due to the seasonal nature of the Company’s agricultural
activities.  Historically, a large percentage of revenues are recognized during the third and fourth quarters.

For further information, refer to the Consolidated Financial Statements and footnotes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2001.

NOTE B – NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic net income (loss) per share is based upon the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the interim period.  Diluted net
income (loss) per share is based upon the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding and the weighted average number of shares
outstanding assuming the issuance of common stock for stock options per Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No.128, “Earnings Per Share”.  Earnings
per share for the periods reported have been computed as follows (dollars are in thousands, except share and per share data):

5



Table of Contents

 
 

Three months ended
September 30  

Nine months ended
September  30  

    
  2002  2001  2002  2001  
      

Income from operations  $ 378 $ 693 $ 291 $ 105 
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of applicable income taxes   4  (403)  (271)  303 
      
Net income  $ 382 $ 290 $ 20 $ 408 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding:              
 Common stock   14,381,043  14,318,183  14,366,475  14,208,198 
 Common stock equivalents - stock options   148,441  180,275  239,346  111,359 
       
 Diluted shares outstanding   14,529,484  14,498,458  14,605,821  14,319,557 
Income from operations per share, basic  $ 0.03 $ 0.05 $ 0.02 $ 0.01 
Income (loss) from discontinued operations per share, basic  $ —   $ (0.03) $ (0.02) $ 0.02 
Net income per share, basic  $ 0.03 $ 0.02 $ —   $ 0.03 
Income from operations per share, diluted  $ 0.03 $ 0.05 $ 0.02 $ 0.01 
Income (loss) from discontinued operations per share, diluted  $ —   $ (0.03) $ (0.02) $ 0.02 
Net income per share, diluted  $ 0.03 $ 0.02 $ —   $ 0.03 

NOTE C – MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Statement on Financial Accounting Standards No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities”, requires that an enterprise classify all
debt securities as either held-to-maturity, trading, or available-for-sale.  The Company has elected to classify its securities as available-for-sale and therefore is
required to adjust securities to fair value at each reporting date. The following is a summary of available-for-sale securities at September 30, 2002 and December
31, 2001 (dollars are in thousands):

  September 30, 2002  December 31, 2001  
    

  Cost  
Estimated 
Fair Value  Cost  

Estimated
Fair Value  

      
Marketable Securities:              
(in thousands)              
 U.S. Treasury and agency notes  $ 8,902 $ 9,015 $ 5,681 $ 5,698 
 Corporate notes and Commercial paper   3,516  3,652  6,722  6,876 
       
  $ 12,418 $ 12,667 $ 12,403 $ 12,574 
      

As of September 30, 2002, the adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive loss in the Consolidated Condensed Statements of Stockholders’ Equity reflects
the fact that the cumulative unrealized gain on marketable securities available for sale at September 30, 2002 was greater than the cumulative unrealized
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gain at December 31, 2001, which results in an increase in the amount of the cumulative adjustment to stockholders’ equity.  The amount of the increase to
stockholder’s equity is $47,000, which is net of a tax expense of $31,000.  As of September 30, 2002, the Company’s gross unrealized holding gains equal
$414,000 and gross unrealized holding losses equal $165,000.  On September 30, 2002, the weighted average maturity of U.S. Treasury and agency securities was
1.64 years and corporate notes was 1.96 years.  Currently, the Company has no securities with a remaining term to maturity of greater than five years.

Market value equals quoted market price, if available.  If a quoted market price is not available, market value is estimated using quoted market prices for similar
securities.  The Company’s investments in corporate notes are with companies with a credit rating of A or better.

NOTE D – CONTINGENCIES

At September 30, 2002, the Company was guaranteeing the repayment of $3.8 million of debt of the Petro Travel Plaza LLC, an unconsolidated limited liability
company.  Total debt outstanding at September 30, 2002 for Petro Travel Plaza LLC is $12.0 million and is related to the construction of the travel plaza.  This
loan has a maturity date of July 2003.  The Company is also guaranteeing 50% of a construction loan to Tejon Dermody Industrial LLC, an unconsolidated
limited liability company, for the construction of a building to lease.  The amount of the loan is approximately $11.6 million.  The maturity date of this loan is
July 2003.  The Company does not expect either of these guarantees to be enforced due to the positive cash flow provided by the operations of the Petro Travel
Plaza, and to cash flows from a lease on the Tejon/Dermody building.  The Company expects the existing debt on these two projects to be replaced in the future
with permanent financing that will either reduce the amount of any guarantee needed or eliminate the need for a guarantee, although the Company cannot assure
that such financing will be available.

The Tejon Ranch Public Facilities Financing Authority, a joint powers authority formed by Kern County  and the Tejon-Castac Water District, formed a
Community Facilities District (“CFD”), which has placed liens on 1,728 acres of the Company’s land.  These liens are to secure payment of special taxes related
to $17.0 million of bond debt sold by the CFD.  The Company is obligated, as a landowner in the district, to pay its share of the special taxes assessed each year. 
The 1,728 acres of land includes the Tejon Industrial Complex development.  Proceeds from the sale of CFD bonds went to reimburse the Company for public
infrastructure related to the Tejon Industrial Complex development. The total amount reimbursed through September 30, 2002 is $14,660,000.   In the nine
months ended September 30, 2002, the Company did not pay any special taxes related to the CFD.  In 2001, the Company paid approximately $300,000 in special
taxes.  As development occurs at Tejon Industrial Complex, new owners of land and new lease tenants, through triple net leases, will begin to pay their portion of
the assessed special tax.  As this happens, the Company’s obligation will be reduced.  It is expected that the Company will have no additional special tax
payments due in 2002, but this could change in the future based on the amount of bonds outstanding within the CFD.  As development and values increase around
the Tejon Industrial Complex, the Company may be able to remove approximately 1,400 acres from the CFD lien.

The Company is also subject to water contracts requiring minimum payments as long as the Company owns certain land.  The minimum payments made for the
nine months ended September 30, 2002 and September 30, 2001 were $915,516 and $994,219, respectively.  These payments are required whether or not the
water is available or used.
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The Company leases land to National Cement Company of California, Inc. (National) for the purpose of manufacturing portland cement from limestone deposits
on the leased acreage.  National, Lafarge Corporation (the parent company of the previous operator) and the Company have been ordered to clean up and abate an
industrial waste landfill site, a storage area for drums containing solvents, an underground storage tank for waste oil and solvents, an underground plume of diesel
fuel, an underground plume of chlorinated hydrocarbons and cement kiln dust piles on the leased premises.  Lafarge has undertaken the investigation and
remediation of landfills.  Lafarge has also completed a substantial amount of the site investigation and is installing a pump-and-treat system to remediate the
chlorinated hydrocarbons.  The plume of chlorinated hydrocarbons covers an extensive area and has migrated off of the leased premises in one direction where it
has been found to be leaking into a local creek.  Lafarge has also removed contaminated soil from the drum storage area.  National has stabilized and capped the
cement kiln dust piles.  Under the orders, the Company is secondarily liable and will be called upon to perform work only if National and Lafarge fail to do so. 
Under the lease agreements with National and Lafarge, each of the companies is required to indemnify the Company for its designated portion of any costs and
liabilities incurred in connection with the cleanup orders.  Due to the financial strength of National and Lafarge, the Company believes at this time that a material
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations is remote.

For further discussion refer to the Company’s 2001 Form 10-K, Part I, Item 3, - “Legal Proceedings”.  There have been no significant changes since the filing of
the 2001 Form 10-K.

NOTE E – INVESTMENT IN UNCONSOLIDATED JOINT VENTURES

The Company maintains investments in unconsolidated limited liability companies.  The Company accounts for the investments in these unconsolidated entities
using the equity method of accounting.  The Company’s investment in unconsolidated limited liability companies at September 30, 2002 is $1,494,000. The
equity in the net income of these unconsolidated entities was $178,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2002.  The Company’s current unconsolidated
limited liability companies are:

Petro Travel Plaza LLC organized for the development and management of the Petro Travel Plaza, of which Petro Stopping Centers, L.P. is also a member.  The
Company owns a 60% interest in this entity, which owns and operates a travel plaza/commercial highway operation in the Tejon Industrial Complex.  It houses
multiple commercial eating establishments as well as diesel and gasoline operations.  At September 30, 2002 we had a deficit equity balance of  $784,000.

Centennial Founders, LLC, formerly RM Development Associates, LLC, organized to pursue entitlement and development of land that the Company owns in Los
Angeles County.  The Company has a 50% ownership interest, and three homebuilders and community developers (Pardee Homes, Lewis Investment Company,
and Standard Pacific Corp.) hold the other interests.  At September 30, 2002 our equity investment balance in this investment was $1,065,000.
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Tejon Dermody Industrial LLC, organized for the development and ownership of a 651,000 square foot industrial building in the Tejon Industrial Complex.  The
Company owns a 50% interest in this venture, and DP Partners owns the other 50%.  At September 30, 2002 our equity investment balance was $1,213,000.

Unaudited condensed financial information of the unconsolidated entities as of and for the nine months ended September 30 is as follows (in thousands):

Condensed Combined Statement of Operations Information

  2002  2001  
    

Net sales  $ 28,967 $ 28,252 
    
Net income (loss)  $ 205 $ (201)
Other member’s share of net income (loss)   27  (117)
    
Equity in net income (loss) from unconsolidated joint ventures  $ 178 $ (84)
    

Condensed Combined Balance Sheet Information

  2002  2001  
    

Current assets  $ 5,365 $ 3,403 
Property and equipment, net   37,541  20,701 
Construction financing debt   (23,626)  (12,675)
Other liabilities   (2,534)  (1,592)
    
Net assets  $ 16,746 $ 9,837 
    

The Company’s investment balance in the unconsolidated entities differs from its capital accounts in the respective joint ventures.  The differential represents the
difference between the cost basis of assets (principally land) contributed by the Company, which is reflected in its investment, and the agreed upon contribution
value of the assets contributed, which is reflected in its capital account within the entities.  The Company’s percentage interest in unconsolidated income/loss is
based on its capital account within the entities.

NOTE G – DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

During April 2001 the Company finalized its plan for the sale of its cattle and feedlot division.  The Company has been disposing of its cattle and feedlot division
to provide capital for real estate development activities and to reduce the outstanding debt of the Company.  The process of selling the Company’s breeding herd,
stocker cattle herd, and feedlot was completed at the end of April 2002.  Revenues from discontinued operations during 2002 consist of sales of cattle.  Expenses
during 2002 consist of cost of sales related to cattle. 

Condensed statement of operations information related to the discontinued operations for the periods ended September 30 is as follows:
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Three Months Ended
September 30  

Nine Months Ended
September  30  

    
  2002  2001  2002  2001  
      

Revenues  $ —   $ 14,291 $ 3,669 $ 39,235 
Expenses   (7)  14,940  4,106  38,746 
      
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, before income taxes  $ 7 $ (649) $ (437) $ 489 
Income taxes   3  (246)  (166)  186 
      
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes  $ 4 $ (403) $ (271) $ 303 
      

NOTE H – INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT

During 2000, the Company entered into interest rate swap agreements with respect to notional debt amounts totaling $11.4 million to manage interest rate risk by
converting floating interest rate debt to fixed rate debt.  These swap agreements, which have a remaining term of six months, are contracts to exchange variable
rate for fixed rate interest payments periodically over the lives of the agreements.  Amounts currently due to or from interest rate swap counterparties are recorded
in interest expense in the period in which they are incurred.  The swap agreements are being accounted for as cash flow hedges in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standard No. 133.

As of September 30, 2002, the cumulative decrease in the fair value of the interest rate swaps was $347,000. Changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps
are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). These amounts are subsequently reclassified into interest expense as yield adjustment in the same
period in which the related interest on the floating rate obligations affects earnings.  No such amounts were reclassified to interest expense during the first nine
months of 2002.
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ITEM 2.       MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Throughout “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk,” and “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” on the preceding pages of this report, management has made forward-looking statements
regarding future revenue and income from our crops, jointly-owned travel plaza, jointly-owned industrial building and jointly-owned master-planned community
development, future special taxes associated with our industrial complex, our ability to refinance construction debt due in July 2003, potential losses to the
Company as a result of pending environmental proceedings, and market value risks associated with investment and risk management activities and with respect to
inventory, accounts receivable, marketable securities, and outstanding indebtedness.  These forward-looking statements are subject to factors beyond the control
of the Company (such as weather, and market and economic forces) and, with respect to the Company’s future development of its land, the availability of
financing and the ability to obtain various governmental entitlements.  No assurance can be given that the actual future results will not differ materially from
those in the forward-looking statements.

Results of Operations

Total revenues, including interest income for the first nine months of 2002, were $13,547,000 compared to $11,631,000 for the same period of 2001.  The
improvement in revenues during the first nine months of 2002 is due to improved real estate and farming revenues.  Real estate revenues increased $397,000 due
to higher oil and mineral revenues, improved leasing revenues, and $1,375,000 in proceeds from the sale of an easement.  The increase in leasing revenues is due
to grazing leases the Company entered into during 2001 in connection with the sale of cattle.  Oil and mineral revenues increased due to improved cement
royalties.  Partially offsetting these improvements in real estate revenues was the earning of additional milestone payments in 2001 related to the signing of the
Calpine power plant lease.  Farming revenues improved $2,296,000 during the first nine months of 2002 due to the timing of the harvest of crops in 2002 and to
the receipt of approximately $500,000 of insurance proceeds related to the 2001 almond, walnut, and zinfandel grape harvests.  During the third quarter of 2002,
crop harvests have been completed for french colombard and zinfandel grapes and pistachios.  The harvests of almonds, walnuts, and rubired grapes were not
completed until late October.  In comparison, during the third quarter of 2001 only a portion of our almond orchards had been harvested, while the harvest of
grapes, walnuts, and pistachios was just beginning.  This timing variance in the harvest of crops resulted in an increase in farming revenues of approximately
$2,200,000.  The insurance proceeds discussed above are related to crop insurance that the Company purchases on selected crops to protect itself against drops in
production due to weather and pest factors.  The crop insurance provides a benefit if production of a crop falls below 50% of its five-year production average. 
Partially offsetting the increase in revenues within farming is a decline in revenues at Pacific Almond, our almond processing plant, of approximately $500,000
due to the timing of the beginning of the processing of customer almonds and to the timing of sale of almond hulls from this year’s crop.   Partially offsetting the
improvement in real estate and farming revenues was a decline in interest income as proceeds from the 2001 rights offering were utilized to fund real estate
activities, and reduce outstanding debt throughout 2001 and 2002.

Net income for the first nine months of 2002, including both continuing operations and discontinued operations, was $20,000 or $0.00 per share, diluted,
compared to net income of $408,000 or $0.03 per share, diluted, for the same period of 2001.  Operating activities from continuing operations during the first nine
months of 2002 resulted in income of $291,000, or $0.02 per share, diluted, compared to income of

11



Table of Contents

$105,000, or $0.01 per share, diluted, for the same period of 2001.  The improvement in continuing operations during the first nine months of 2002 when
compared to the same period of 2001 is due largely to the increase in revenues described above and to an increase in net income of unconsolidated joint ventures. 
Our equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures increased in 2002 due to improved profits at Petro Travel Plaza LLC.  Profits improved at Petro Travel
Plaza LLC due to improved margins on fuel sales and to lower interest costs.  These improvements were offset by an increase in real estate expenses of $485,000,
increased farming expenses of $1,549,000, and an increase in corporate expenses of $381,000.  The increase in real estate expenses is primarily related to staffing
costs, insurance costs, and fixed water costs.  Staffing costs increased during the first nine months of 2002 when compared to the same period of 2001 due to the
timing of hiring additional management staff and property/landscape management and staff during 2001 and early 2002.  The increase in farming expenses is
primarily related to the timing of the 2002 harvest and the recognition from inventory of costs associated with the completed harvests.  The increase in corporate
expense is due primarily to an increase in staffing costs, insurance costs, and professional service costs.

Total revenues for the third quarter of 2002, including interest income, were $6,312,000 compared to $5,842,000 for the third quarter of 2001.  The increase in the
third quarter of 2002 is due to farming revenues increasing $1,905,000.  The explanation for the increase in farming revenue is described above.  The
improvement in farming revenue was partially offset by lower real estate revenues and reduced interest income.  Real estate revenues declined during the third
quarter of 2002 when compared to the same period of 2001, due to the earning of milestone revenues related to the signing of the Calpine power plant lease
during July 2001.

For the third quarter of 2002 the Company had net income, including both continuing operations and discontinued operations, of $382,000, or $0.03 per share
diluted, compared to net income of $290,000, or $0.02 per share diluted, for the same period of 2001.  Income from continuing operations for the third quarter of
2002 was $378,000, or $0.03 per share diluted, compared to income from operations of $693,000, or $0.05 per share diluted for the same period of 2001.  The
decline in income from continuing operations is due to the net increase in revenues described above being more than offset by higher costs.  The increase in costs
during the third quarter of 2002 is due primarily to higher farming expenses and to increased corporate costs.  Farming expenses increased due to the timing of the
2002 harvest when compared to 2001 and the recognition of costs associated with the crops harvested.  Corporate costs increased due to higher staffing costs,
professional service costs, and insurance costs.

In future periods, our real estate division will continue to see an increase in costs related to professional service fees, planning costs, entitlement costs, and
staffing costs as we continue to increase our real estate activities and pursue development opportunities.  These types of real estate development activities and
costs could continue over several years as we develop our land holdings.  Our current industrial development, Tejon Industrial Complex, is continuing forward
with infrastructure development and entitlement of land to support future industrial and commercial retail development.  The actual timing and completion of
entitlement and development related activities is difficult to predict due to the uncertainties of the approval process and market factors.  We will also continue to
evaluate land resources to determine the highest and best uses for our land holdings.  Future sales of land are dependent on market circumstances and specific
opportunities.  Our goal in the future is to increase land value and create future revenue growth through planning and development of commercial, industrial,
resort and residential programs.

During the third quarter of 2002, we announced that our agreement with Pardee Homes, Lewis Investment Company, and Standard Pacific Corp. was amended to
reflect a larger master-planned community development.  The original agreement, previously announced in March 2000, called for a 4,000-acre housing
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development.  The agreement has been amended to accommodate a master-planned community that encompasses 11,700 acres.  The initial plans for this
development were filed in Los Angeles County on August 28, 2002.  Upon completion of the development it is estimated that the community will include
approximately 23,000 homes.  The community will also incorporate business districts, schools, retail and entertainment centers, medical facilities and other
commercial venues that when completed could create a substantial number of jobs over time.

All of our crops are particularly sensitive to the size of each year’s world crop.  Large crops in California and abroad can rapidly depress prices.  Estimated
production as of September 2002 on a statewide basis for many of the crops we grow, especially almonds and pistachios, is still expected to be near or at
historical highs.  This increase in production can potentially lead to a decline in the prices we receive for our crops. At this time, prices for almonds, pistachios,
and walnuts have remained flat despite the estimated increase in production.  These prices could change based on final production numbers after the harvest
season.  Our 2002 pistachio harvest resulted in the highest production (2.3 million pounds) our farming operations have ever produced.  The increase in
production was due to weather conditions that were conducive to pistachios and higher than expected production from young pistachios that were planted in
1994.  Pistachios are an alternate bearing crop.  This means one year has high production and the following year has reduced production.  Because of this cycle
we do not expect production to be as high in 2003.

We continue to believe there is an imbalance within the grape industry between the supply and demand of wine grapes as a result of many new plantings coming
into production.  Thus far, estimates for 2002 statewide grape production are again at record high levels.  During 2002 we contracted our French Colombard grape
production for a two-year period beginning with the 2002 crop and signed a multi-year contract beginning in 2002 for our ruby cabernet grape production.  Our
remaining grape varieties have been sold for 2002.  We have no contracts for the sale of these grapes in future years.  The prices we received for these grapes in
2002 is below our cost of production.

Prices received by the Company for many of our products are dependent upon prevailing market conditions and commodity prices.  Therefore, we are unable to
accurately predict revenue, just as we cannot pass on any cost increases caused by general inflation, except to the extent reflected in market conditions and
commodity prices.  The operations of the Company are seasonal and results of operations cannot be predicted based on quarterly results.  We continue to expect
pricing pressure on our almonds over the next few years due to new plantings within California beginning to produce higher volumes of almonds.  This increase
in production and pressure on prices may be somewhat negated by old almond orchards being removed due to the current low prices for almonds. This potential
increase in overall almond production will, however, positively affect our almond processing operation because of more almonds being available to process. 

For further discussion of the risks and uncertainties that could potentially adversely affect us, please refer to the Company’s 2001 Form 10-K, Part I, Item 7 –
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”.

We continue to be involved in various environmental proceedings related to leased acreage.  For a further discussion, refer to Note E – Contingencies.

Results of Discontinued Operations

During April 2001, the Company finalized its plan for the sale of its cattle and feedlot division.  The purpose has been to provide capital for real estate
development activities and to reduce outstanding debt of the
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Company.  While the sale of livestock assets provided significant working capital, it also resulted in a loss of significant revenues, even after taking into account
the revenue stream from grazing leases that we have entered into in connection with the sales of the breeding herd.  During April 2002, we completed the process
of liquidating the remaining stocker cattle herd and livestock assets.

Total revenues from discontinued operations for the first nine months of 2002 were $3,669,000 compared to $39,235,000 for the first nine months of 2001.  This
decline in revenues is due to fewer cattle sales in 2002 and no revenues in 2002 from the feedlot that was sold in July 2001.  The Company began the year with
4,300 head of cattle remaining to be liquidated.  All remaining cattle were sold by the end of April 2002.

Discontinued operations for the first nine months of 2002 generated a loss of $271,000 or $0.02 per share diluted, compared to income from discontinued
operations of $303,000, or $0.02 per share diluted, for the same period in 2001.  The decrease from the prior year is due to losses on much of the cattle being sold
during the first quarter of 2002 because of lower feeder cattle prices, the inclusion of profits from the feedlot the Company owned during the first six months of
2001, and gains from the sale of the breeding herd in 2001.

Financial Condition

Our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments totaled approximately $26,441,000 at September 30, 2002, compared to $23,463,000 at December 31,
2001.  Working capital as of September 30, 2002 was $31,981,000 compared to $31,447,000 at December 31, 2001.  The increase in working capital during 2002
is due to the receipt of $6,600,000 from a local Community Facilities District to reimburse the Company for public infrastructure it had built in prior years related
to Tejon Industrial Complex.   Partially offsetting this increase was the disposition of assets of discontinued operations, which had been recorded as current
assets.  The funds generated from the disposition of these assets was used to fund real estate entitlement and development activities.

We have a revolving line of credit of $15,000,000 that, as of September 30, 2002, had no outstanding balance. This line of credit bears an interest rate that floats
with changes in the lending bank’s prime interest rate.  At the Company’s option, the interest rate on this line of credit can be fixed at 1.50% over a selected
LIBOR rate or float at 0.50% less than the bank’s prime lending rate. Our outstanding long-term debt, less the current portion of $1,730,000, declined by
$215,000 to $14,348,000 at September 30, 2002 when compared to December 31, 2001.  Long-term debt is being used to fund real estate development
infrastructure and farming assets on our land, commercial buildings in Phoenix, Arizona that were purchased in 1999, and the almond processing plant purchased
in January 2000.  Long-term debt currently consists of three separate debt obligations.  One long-term note for real estate and farming purposes provides for loan
amounts up to $15,000,000 has a current balance of $10,000,000, and is secured by farmland.  This note is due in 2004.  The Company can borrow up to the
maximum loan amount of this note through 2004.  The maximum loan amount on this note will decrease by $1,500,000 in each of 2002, 2003, and 2004.  The
second note obligation was used to purchase the buildings in Phoenix, is secured by mortgages on the buildings, has a balance of $4,638,000 and is payable in
equal monthly installments through April 2009.  The last note is for a loan used to purchase the almond processing plant in 2000 and has a balance of $1,440,000
and is payable in equal annual installments of $180,000 with a final due date of June 2005.  Through September 30, 2002 we have incurred interest expense of
$1,005,000 with $914,000 of that expense being capitalized.
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The following table shows our contractual long-term obligations and commitments over the next five years:

  Payments Due by Period  
   

  Total  
One Year or

Less  Years 2-3  Years 4-5  
After 5
Years  

       
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS:                 
 Long-Term Debt  $ 16,078,000 $ 1,730,000 $ 9,849,000 $ 132,000 $ 4,367,000 
       
 Total Contractual Obligations  $ 16,078,000 $ 1,730,000 $ 9,849,000 $ 132,000 $ 4,367,000 
       
                 

  Amount of Commitment Expiration Per Period  
   

  Total  
One Year or

Less  Years 2-3  Years 4-5  
After 5
Years  

       
OTHER COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS:                 
 Standby Letter of Credit  $ 1,250,000 $ —   $ 1,250,000 $ —   $ —   
 Guarantees   9,600,000  9,600,000  0  —    —   
       
 Total Other Commercial Commitments  $ 10,850,000 $ 9,600,000 $ 1,250,000 $ —   $ —   
       

The standby letter of credit is related to the issuance of Community Facility District bonds by the Tejon Ranch Public Facilities Financing Authority, a joint-
powers authority created by Kern County and the Tejon-Castac Water District.  The standby letter of credit is in place to provide additional credit enhancement
and covers approximately two years worth of interest on the outstanding bonds.  This letter of credit will not be drawn upon unless we, as the largest landowner in
the district, fail to make our property tax payments.  This letter of credit will terminate in the future as land in the district is developed.

The guarantees consist of a $3,800,000 guarantee related to the debt of Petro Travel Plaza LLC, an unconsolidated limited liability company in which we are
equity owners with Petro Stopping Centers, L.P.  Total debt in the venture is approximately $12,025,000 and is related to the construction of the facility.  During
2003 this note is expected to be refinanced with a permanent mortgage loan, and our guarantee is expected to be no longer needed or significantly reduced.  The
remaining $5,800,000 guarantee relates to debt of the Tejon Dermody Industrial LLC, an unconsolidated limited liability company to construct and market a
650,000 square foot building at the Tejon Industrial Complex.  Total debt of the entity is approximately $11,600,000 and was used in the construction of the
building.  In the limited liability company agreement each member agreed to guarantee one half of the outstanding construction loan debt through the two-year
term of the loan. During March 2002, a lease was signed for one half of the building, and the lease payments from this lease are sufficient to cover future debt
service requirements under the current loan agreement.  We also expect to replace this loan with permanent financing.   At this time we believe that neither of the
guarantees will ever be called upon because we will be able to obtain the necessary refinancing, although we have no commitments for the refinancing and there
is always a risk that we may not be able to obtain it.
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New Accounting Procedures

Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement (“FASB”) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, was approved and issued in September 2001 and
addresses amortization on Intangible Assets.  Statement 142 supercedes APB Opinion No. 17, which required amortization of goodwill and tangible assets.  The
presumption that goodwill and intangible assets were wasting assets and should be amortized over a period of not more than 40 years has been altered, and now
such assets are deemed to have an indefinite life and are no longer amortized.  The value of the intangible assets must be assessed annually for impairment.  This
statement will have a minimal impact on our financial position or results of operations as the amount of goodwill and other intangible assets are insignificant.  
The Statement was adopted for the 2002 financial year.

In September 2001 FASB Statement No. 143 was issued addressing Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations (ARO’s).  This statement covers obligations
that a company incurs for the retirement of tangible long-lived assets such as drilling rigs or manufacturing plants.  We do not anticipate this pronouncement
having a significant impact on our financial position or results of operations when it becomes effective for the 2003 financial year. 

FASB Statement No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, was issued in August 2001.  The pronouncement issues guidance on
distinguishing between assets held and used, held for sale, and held for disposal other than sale.   It also addresses the classification and valuation of such assets. 
The pronouncement is effective for the 2002 fiscal year.  We do not anticipate this pronouncement having a significant impact on our financial position or results
of operations.

FASB Statement No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities, was issued in June 2002.  This statement requires that a liability for a
cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred and not at the date of the commitment to an exit plan.  We do not
expect this statement to have a significant impact on our financial position or results of operations when it becomes effective for the 2003 financial year.

ITEM 3.   QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact the financial position, results of operations, or cash flows of the Company due to adverse changes in
financial or commodity market prices or rates.  We are exposed to market risk in the areas of interest rates and commodity prices.

Financial Market Risks

The Company’s exposure to financial market risks, includes changes to interest rates and credit risk related to marketable securities, interest rates related to its
own outstanding indebtedness, and trade receivables.

The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal while at the same time maximizing yields and prudently managing risk.  To achieve this
objective and limit interest rate exposure, we limit our investments to securities with a maturity of less than five years and an investment grade of A or better from
Moody’s or Standard and Poors.  See Note C - Marketable Securities.
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The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its short-term working capital line of credit and the long-term debt currently outstanding.  The short-term line of
credit interest rate can be tied to the lending bank’s prime rate and would change when that rate changes, or the debt can be tied to a LIBOR rate on a fixed basis
and change only at maturity of the fixed rate feature.  A portion of the long-term debt ($4,638,000 at September 30, 2002) has a fixed interest rate, and the fair
value of this long-term debt will change based on interest rate movements in the market.  The remaining long-term debt ($11,440,000 at September 30, 2002,
including the current portion) can either be fixed for periods of time to a LIBOR rate or float with the lending bank’s prime rate.  The floating rate obligations
expose us to variability in interest payments due to changes in interest rates.  If interest rates increase, interest expense increases.  Conversely, if interest rates
decrease, interest expense also decreases.  We believe it is prudent to limit the variability of our interest payments.  To meet this objective we entered into an
interest rate swap agreement to manage the potential fluctuations in cash flows resulting from interest rate risk.  See Note H – Interest Rate Risk Management.

Credit and market risks related to our inventories and receivables ultimately depends on the value of the almonds, grapes, pistachios, and walnuts at the time of
payment or sale.  Based on historical experience with current customers and periodic credit evaluations of our customers’ financial condition, we believe our
credit risk is minimal.  Market risk is discussed below in commodity price exposure.

The following tables provide information about our financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in interest rates.  The tables present our debt obligations,
principal cash flows and related weighted-average interest rates by expected maturity dates.
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Interest Rate Sensitivity Financial Market Risks
Principal Amount by Expected Maturity

At September 30, 2002
(Dollars in Thousands)

  2002  2003  2004  2005  2006  Thereafter  Total  
Fair Value
09/30/02  

          
Assets:                          
 Marketable securities  $ 1,760 $ 5,860 $ 2,464 $ 2,210 $ 124 $ —   $ 12,418 $ 12,667 
 Weighted average interest rate   4.39% 4.21% 6.48% 5.31% 4.50% 0.00% 4.89% 4.89%
Liabilities:                          
 Short-term debt  $ 80 $ —   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 80 $ 80 
 Weighted average interest rate   5.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 5.00% 5.00%
 Long-term debt  $ 13 $ 1,731 $ 8,710 $ 1,139 $ 63 $ 4,422 $ 16,078 $ 16,078 
 Weighted average interest rate   7.64% 8.38% 8.40% 8.36% 7.64% 7.64% 8.18% 8.18%
 Swap notional amount 3-yr swap  $ —   $ 11,440 $ —   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 11,440 $ 11,093 

 
Weighted average pay fixed-rate
contract rate   0.00% 6.91% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 6.91% 6.91%

 

Weighted average receive variable
rate, current rate, adjusts monthly,
based on LIBOR   1.82% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 1.82% 0.00%
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Interest Rate Sensitivity Financial Market Risks
Principal Amount by Expected Maturity

At December 31, 2001
(Dollars in Thousands)

  2002  2003  2004  2005  2006  Thereafter  Total  
Fair Value
12/31/01  

          
Assets:                          
 Marketable securities  $ 2,787 $ 3,911 $ 2,817 $ 2,615 $ 273 $ —   $ 12,403 $ 12,574 
 Weighted average interest rate   5.37% 6.43% 6.40% 5.42% 5.11% 0.00% 5.87% 5.87%
Liabilities:                          
 Short-term debt  $ 127 $ —   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 127 $ 127 
 Weighted average interest rate   5.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 5.00% 5.00%
 Long-term debt  $ 1,726 $ 1,770 $ 7,230 $ 239 $ 243 $ 5,081 $ 16,289 $ 16,289 
 Weighted average interest rate   8.18% 8.18% 8.18% 7.82% 7.82% 7.82% 8.00% 8.00%
 Swap notional amount 3-yr swap  $ —   $ 11,620 $ —   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 11,620 $ 10,986 

 
Weighted average pay fixed-rate
contract rate   0.00% 6.91% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 6.91% 6.91%

 

Weighted average receive variable
rate, current rate, adjusts monthly,
based on LIBOR   1.95% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 1.95% 1.95%

The December 31, 2001 figures above include debt related to discontinued operations.

In comparison to the prior year our risk in regard to fluctuations in interest rates has decreased due to the reduction in the use of both short-term and long-term
lines of credit that fluctuate with the bank’s prime lending rate.  However, the risk from rate fluctuations may have increased as a result of the historically low
rates that presently prevail.

Commodity Price Exposure

At September 30, 2002 we had exposure to adverse price fluctuations associated with certain inventories and accounts receivable.

Inventories consist of farming costs related to 2002 crop production.  The farming costs inventoried related to the 2002 crop are recorded at actual costs incurred. 
Historically, these inventoried costs have been recovered each year when that year’s crop harvest has been sold.
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With respect to accounts receivable, the amount at risk relates primarily to farm crops.  These receivables are recorded as estimates of the prices that ultimately
will be received for the crops.  The final price is generally not known until the third or fourth quarter of the following year.  Of the accounts receivable
outstanding at September 30, 2002, $2,546,000 is at risk to changing prices.  Of the amount at risk to changing prices $2,502,000 is attributable to pistachios, and
$43,600  is attributable to grapes.  The comparable amounts of accounts receivable at December 31, 2001 were $609,000 related to almonds, $1,335,000 related
to pistachios, $138,000 to walnuts, and $32,000 to grapes.

Although the final price of pistachios is not presently known, over the last three years the final prices have ranged from $1.07 to $1.35 per pound.  The estimated
price for recording accounts receivable at September 30, 2002 was $1.05 per pound for pistachios.  For every $.01 change in the price of pistachios, our
receivable for pistachios increases or decreases by $23,832.  The price estimated for grapes was $200 per ton.  For every $1.00 change in the price of zinfandel
grapes our receivable increases or decreases by $218.

ITEM 4.         CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Our Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and
forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our Company’s management, including its
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  Assessing the costs and benefits of
such controls and procedures necessarily involved the exercise of judgment by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, and such controls and
procedures, by their nature, can provide only reasonable assurance that management’s objectives in establishing them will be achieved.

Within 90 days prior to the date of this report, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design
and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-14).  Based upon the foregoing, the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures are effective in timely alerting them to material information relating to the Company (including its consolidated subsidiaries)
required to be included in the Company’s Exchange Act reports.  There have been no significant changes in our Company’s internal controls or in other factors
that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date that our Company carried out its evaluation. 

PART II – OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1.  Legal Proceedings

Not applicable.
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Item 2.  Changes in Securities

Not applicable.

Item 3.  Defaults Upon Senior Securities

Not applicable.

Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None

Item 5.  Other Information

Not applicable.

Item 6.  Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) Exhibits –  
   
 3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation *  
 3.2 Bylaws **  
 10.18 Centennial Founders LLC operating Agreement Page 25  
 99 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  
   
(b) Reports – on Form 8-K  
   
 None.  
   
* This document, filed with the Securities Exchange Commission in Washington, D.C. (file number 1-7183) under Item 14 to the Company’s Annual report

on Form 10-K for year ended December 31, 1987, is incorporated herein by reference.
  
** This document, filed with the Securities Exchange Commission in Washington, D.C. (file number 1-7183) under Item 14 to the Company’s Annual report

on Form 10-K for year ended December 31, 1994, is incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

 TEJON RANCH CO.  
  
 (The Company)  
   
   
 BY  

   
DATE

 
 Allen E. Lyda

Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer
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I, Robert A. Stine, certify that:

 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Tejon Ranch Co.;
   
 2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this quarterly report;

   
 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;
   
 4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:
   
   a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to Tejon Ranch Co., including its consolidated

subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;
    
   b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this

quarterly report (the “Evaluation Date”); and
    
   c. Presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as

of the Evaluation Date;
   
 5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit

committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
   
   a. All significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,

process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and
    
   b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant roll in the registrant’s internal

controls; and
   
 6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this quarterly report whether or not there were significant changes in internal controls

or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective
actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

 

Dated:  November 12, 2002   
   
  
 ROBERT A. STINE 

President and Chief Executive Officer  
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I, Allen E. Lyda, certify that:

 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Tejon Ranch Co.;
   
 2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this quarterly report;

   
 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;
   
 4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:
   
   a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to Tejon Ranch Co., including its consolidated

subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;
    
   b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this

quarterly report (the “Evaluation Date”); and
    
   c. Presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as

of the Evaluation Date;
    
 5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit

committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
   
   a) All significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,

process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and
    
   b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant roll in the registrant’s internal

controls; and
   
 6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this quarterly report whether or not there were significant changes in internal controls

or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective
actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

 

Dated:  November 12, 2002   
   
  
 ALLEN E. LYDA 

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer  
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FIRST AMENDED AND RESTATED

LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT OF

CENTENNIAL FOUNDERS, LLC

                       THIS FIRST AMENDED AND RESTATED LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as
of this 28th day of August, 2002 (the “Effective Date”), by and among TEJON RANCHCORP, a California corporation (“Tejon”), STANDARD PACIFIC
CORP., a Delaware corporation (“Standard Pacific”), LEWIS INVESTMENT COMPANY, LLC, a California limited liability company (“Lewis”), and
PARDEE HOMES, a California corporation, formerly known as Pardee Construction Company (“Pardee”) (collectively, the “Members” and each a “Member”),
for the purposes, among other things, of defining the rights and obligations of the Members with respect to Centennial Founders, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company, formerly known as RM Development Associates, LLC (the “Company”).

RECITALS

          A.          The Company was formed on July 8, 1999, under the name “RM Development Associates, LLC” by filing the Certificate with the Delaware
Secretary of State.  On March 10, 2000, Tejon, Standard Pacific, Lewis, and Pardee entered into that certain Limited Liability Company Agreement of RM
Development Associates, LLC (the “Original LLC Agreement”).

          B.          The Members have all agreed to change, and on or about the date hereof the Company has changed (by filing the appropriate documentation with
the Secretaries of State of the States of Delaware and California), the name of the Company from RM Development, LLC to Centennial Founders, LLC.

          C.          The Members hereby desire to amend and restate the Original LLC Agreement in the form of this Agreement.  This Agreement shall supersede the
Original LLC Agreement in its entirety and the Original LLC Agreement shall be of no further force or effect.

AGREEMENT

          NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as
follows:

1.      DEFINITIONS AND ORGANIZATION.

          1.1.           Defined Terms.  For convenience, various terms are defined for use in this Agreement.  Unless otherwise expressed or provided elsewhere in this
Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings.

                          A.          Terms Defined in this Agreement.
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                                         (1)          “AAA” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 18.3 hereof.

                                          (2)           “Act” shall mean the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act, as the same may be amended from time to time.  All
references herein to sections of the Act shall include any corresponding provisions of succeeding law.

                                          (3)           “Additional Development Land” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.3B hereof.

                                          (4)           “Additional Development Land Contributions” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.3B hereof.

                                          (5)           “Additional Entitlement Stage Contributions” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.2B hereof.

                                          (6)           “Adjacent Property” shall mean that certain approximately 980 acre property adjacent to the Existing Property and owned by
the Company.  The Adjacent Property is more particularly described on Exhibit “A” hereto.

                                          (7)           “Adjacent Property Purchase Agreement” shall mean that certain Vacant Land Purchase Contract and Receipt for Deposit,
dated as of June 17, 1999, by and between Ashcraft Investment Company, Inc., a California corporation (“Ashcraft”), and Pyramid Ranch Company, a Hawaii
limited partnership, as amended by those certain Escrow Instructions dated as of July 7, 1999, as further amended by those certain Supplemental Instructions
dated as of December 14, 1999, as further amended by those certain Supplemental Instructions, dated as of March 1, 2000, as assigned by Ashcraft to the
Company pursuant to that certain Assignment of Vacant Land Purchase Contract and Receipt for Deposit, dated as of April 5, 2000, evidencing the sale of the
Adjacent Property to the Company.

                                          (8)          ”Affiliate” shall mean:  (1) any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with the
Person or entity to which such term applies; (2) as to any natural person, such person’s spouse, child or grandchild, shall be Affiliates of such person or a trust for
the benefit of any such person; (3) as to any corporation, limited liability company or partnership, any person with any of the foregoing relationships described in
clause (2) to any person in control of such partnership as general partner or otherwise or in control of such corporation or limited liability company shall be
deemed to be an Affiliate of such corporation, limited liability company or partnership; (4) an Affiliate of a Member shall include any partnership in which such
Member or any Affiliate of such Member is a general partner or otherwise has control, as well as any corporation, limited liability company or other entity in
which such Member or any Affiliate of such Member has control.  “Control” as applied to any person or entity means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the
power to direct or cause the direction of the management, policies and decision-making of such person or entity, whether through the ownership of voting
interests or by contract or otherwise.  “Control” shall also include, without limitation, the possession of direct or indirect equity or beneficial interests in at least
fifty percent (50%) of the profits or voting control of any entity.
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                                          (9)            “Affiliate LLCs” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 2.3A hereof.

                                          (10)            “Aggregate Prices” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4 hereof.

                                          (11)            “Agreement” shall mean this First Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement, as originally executed
and as amended from time to time.

                                          (12)            “Alternate Notice” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 13.1A(1) hereof.

                                          (13)            “Alternates” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 7.1D hereof.

                                          (14)            “Approve”, “Approved” or “Approval” mean, as to the subject matter thereof and as the context may require, an express
approval:  (i) contained in a written statement signed by the approving Person; or (ii) by the requisite number of votes of the Members or of the Executive
Committee in the manner specified herein.

                                          (15)            “Approved Existing Exceptions” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.3A(1)(b)(i) hereof.

                                          (16)            “Arbitration” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 18.3 hereof.

                                          (17)            “Arbitration Initiation Date” shall have the meaning given such terms in Section 18.3 hereof.

                                          (18)            “Arbitration Tribunal” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 18.3 hereof.

                                          (19)            “Arbitrator” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 18.3 hereof.

                                          (20)            “Attorneys’ Fees” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 18.15A hereof.

                                          (21)            “Available Cash” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 6.1 hereof.

                                          (22)            “Balance of the Ranch” shall mean the property located within the Ranch which does not include the Master Project.

                                          (23)            “Bond Financing” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.6B hereof.
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                                          (24)            “Book Capital Account” shall have the meaning given such term in Appendix “A” attached hereto.

                                          (25)            “Business Plan” shall mean, as applicable, the Entitlement Business Plan or the Development Business Plan.

                                          (26)            “Buy/Sell Closing” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 17.4 hereof.

                                          (27)            “Capital Contribution” shall mean any money, property, promissory note or other sums contributed to the Company as
provided in the Original Agreement or this Agreement.

                                          (28)            “CCP” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 18.3 hereof.

                                          (29)            “CE Members” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.6C(3) hereof.

                                          (30)            “Certificate” shall mean the Certificate of Formation of the Company as filed with the Secretary of State of the State of
Delaware, as the same may be amended from time to time.

                                          (31)            “Certified EIR” shall mean the environmental impact report to be prepared in connection with the obtaining of the
Entitlements that is certified by the applicable governmental agency.

                                          (32)            “Claims” shall mean all claims, losses, damages, costs, expenses, demands, liabilities, obligations, liens, encumbrances,
rights of action and attorneys’ fees and costs.

                                          (33)            “Closing” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 15.6E(2) hereof.

                                          (34)            “Closing Date” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 15.6E hereof.

                                          (35)            “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.  All references herein to sections of
the Code shall include any corresponding provision or provisions of succeeding law.

                                          (36)            “Combined Acreage” shall have the meaning given in Section 4.3A(1)(b)(v).

                                          (37)            “Combined Tejon Credit” shall have the meaning given in Section 4.3A(1)(b).
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                                          (38)            “Commercial Developer Acceptance” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4C(4)(a) hereof.

                                          (39)            “Commercial Developers” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4A hereof.

                                          (40)            “Commercial Parcel Offer Price” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4B hereof.

                                          (41)            “Commercial Parcel” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4C hereof.

                                          (42)            “Company” shall have the meaning given such term in the preamble to this Agreement.

                                         (43)            “Company Offer” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.2 hereof.

                                          (44)            “Contingent Note” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 13.1A(3)(i)A hereof.

                                          (45)            “Contribution Percentage” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.2A hereof.

                                          (46)            “Control” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 1.1 hereof under the definition of “Affiliate”.

                                          (47)            “Counter-Offer” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.3A(4)(a) hereof.

                                          (48)            “CPA” shall mean the Company’s independent certified public accounting firm, which initially shall be Ernst & Young
Kenneth Leventhal, but may be replaced by the Executive Committee from time to time.

                                          (49)            “CP Company Offer” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4B hereof.

                                          (50)            “CP Counter Offer” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4C(4)(a) hereof.

                                          (51)            “Credit Enhancements” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.6C hereof.

                                          (52)            “Date of Value” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 17.1 hereof.
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                                          (53)            “Default Buy Out Notice” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 15.6C hereof.

                                          (54)            “Default Date of Value” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 15.6B hereof.

                                          (55)            “Default Interest Rate” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.5A hereof.

                                          (56)            “Deemed Withdrawal” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 13.1A hereof.

                                          (57)            “Defaulting Member” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 15.1 hereof.

                                          (58)            “Defaulting Member’s Price” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 15.6A hereof.

                                          (59)            “Deposit” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 14.5A(3) hereof.

                                          (60)            “Developer Acceptance” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.3A(4)(a) hereof.

                                          (61)            “Developer Lot” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 17.1 hereof.

                                          (62)            “Developer Representatives” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 14.5A(1) hereof.

                                          (63)            “Developers” shall mean, collectively, Standard Pacific, Lewis and Pardee.  Standard Pacific, Lewis and Pardee are
sometimes each referred to as a “Developer”.

                                          (64)            “Development Business Plan” shall mean an overall business plan as the same may be amended from time to time and
Approved in accordance with this Agreement.  The Development Business Plan shall, at a minimum, cover the following topics:

                                                              (a)          An annual budget for the current year and a projected budget for the next two (2) years (the “Development
Budget”);

                                                              (b)           A proforma cash flow analysis for the current year and a projected proforma cash flow analysis for the next two
(2) years;

                                                              (c)           A development schedule (the “Development Schedule”);

                                                              (d)           Specific procedures for constructing joint and Regional Improvements, advancing the cost thereof and the
calculation of any reimbursable costs relating
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thereto.  In connection therewith, the Company shall seek reimbursement rights for joint and Regional Improvements to the extent the same benefits property
other than the Master Project (i.e. property owned by Tejon or other parties) and would not otherwise be required.  Such reimbursement obligation would be
funded upon the sale of such benefited property.  Pursuant to any reimbursement agreements agreed to in connection with the foregoing, the Company (or Tejon,
in the case of Regional Improvements) should be entitled to a construction supervision and overhead fee in an amount to be Approved by the Executive
Committee.

                                                              (e)            (i) The appropriate sharing of any land set-aside for public or Regional purposes, (ii) the formation of a school
district and the construction of schools, and (iii) other Regional or public facilities to be constructed as part of the Master Project.

                                                              (f)           A finance plan (the “Development Finance Plan”) setting forth the projected financing required to fund the costs
of development set forth in the Development Budget;

                                                              (g)           A narrative business plan stating the general goals and objectives for the development of the Master Project;

                                                              (h)           A sales and marketing plan for the sale of the various Planning Areas (or portions thereof) to merchant builders
(the “Marketing Plan”), including, without limitation, projected takedown schedules (the “Take Down Schedules”) and pricing schedules (“Pricing
Schedules”), a summary of other material terms and conditions for such sales and form master builder/merchant builder purchase and sale documents; and

                                                              (i)          Any other components provided for herein which shall be applicable and pertaining to the Development Business
Plan as the same may be amended from time to time in accordance with this Agreement.

The initial Development Business Plan shall be developed, agreed upon and initialed by the Members in accordance with this Agreement prior to the date upon
which the permitted business of the Company is expanded to include the Development Stage Business and shall replace the Entitlement Business Plan.

                                          (65)          “Development Manager” shall have the meaning given to such term in Section 7.2 hereof.

                                          (66)            “Development Stage” shall mean the period of time during which the Development Stage Business is conducted pursuant to
the terms of this Agreement.

                                          (67)            “Development Stage Business” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 2.3A hereof.

                                          (68)            “Development Stage Conditions” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 2.3B hereof.
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                                          (69)            “Development Stage Contributions” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.3A(1) hereof.

                                          (70)            “Discussion Period” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 7.5B hereof.

                                          (71)            “Dissolution Notice” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 13.1C hereof.

                                          (72)            “Effective Date” shall have the meaning given such term in the preamble to this Agreement.

                                          (73)            “Electing Member(s)” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 15.6C hereof.

                                          (74)            “Election Notice” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 14.5 hereof.

                                          (75)            “Election Period” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 14.5 hereof.

                                          (76)            “Entitlement Business Plan” shall mean that certain overall business plan dated August 30, 2001, for obtaining the
Entitlements as the same may be amended from time to time, which business plan has been Approved prior to the Effective Date in accordance with the Original
LLC Agreement.

                                          (77)            “Entitlement Period” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 2.3B(1) hereof.

                                          (78)            “Entitlement Stage” shall mean the period of time during which the Entitlement Stage Business is conducted pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement.

                                          (79)            “Entitlement Stage Business” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 2.2A hereof.

                                          (80)            “Entitlement Stage Contributions” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.2A hereof.

                                          (81)            “Entitlements” shall mean a specific plan, development agreement, and a superpad tentative tract “A map” for the Master
Project, together with all related CEQA approvals, each having received final approval by the County of Los Angeles with all applicable appeal periods having
expired or, in the event of any legal action opposing such final approvals, the entry of final judgment or settlement of such action.  The development agreement
with the appropriate county shall, among other things, establish zoning, suspend the applicability of certain fees and statutes, and set forth the necessary bond
financing mechanics.  The Entitlements shall be consistent with the Entitlement Business Plan.
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                                          (82)            “ESC Cure Expiration” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.2C hereof.

                                          (83)            “Escrow Holder” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 14.5 hereof.

                                          (84)            “Event of Default” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 15.1 hereof.

                                          (85)            “Executive Committee” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 7.1A hereof.

                                          (86)            “Executive Committee Deadlock” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 17.1 hereof.

                                          (87)            “Existing Property” shall mean that certain property of approximately 10,700 acres located within the Ranch currently
owned by Tejon, as more particularly described in Exhibit “A” hereto.

                                          (88)            “Existing Property Contribution” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.3A(1)(b) hereof.

                                          (89)            “Failure to Close” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 14.5J(1) hereof.

                                          (90)            “Failure Notice” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 15.1A hereof.

                                          (91)            “Feasibility Analysis” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 2.1A hereof.

                                          (92)            “Feasibility Business Plan” shall mean the overall business plan for assessing the feasibility of the Master Project, which
business plan was Approved prior to the Effective Date in accordance with the Original LLC Agreement and was replaced and superseded in its entirety by the
Entitlement Business Plan.

                                          (93)            “Feasibility Costs” shall have the meaning given to such term in Section 4.1B hereof.

                                          (94)            “Feasibility Stage Business” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 2.1A hereof.

                                          (95)            “Final Election Notice” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 15.6E hereof.

                                          (96)            “First Commercial Developer” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4C(1) hereof.
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                                          (97)            “First Developer” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.3A(1) hereof.

                                          (98)            “Improvements” shall mean those infrastructure improvements benefiting the Master Project, including, without limitation,
schools, parks, backbone infrastructure and Regional Improvements.

                                          (99)            “Income Producing Sites” shall mean the commercial, industrial and for rent multifamily sites which are part of the Master
Project.

                                          (100)            “Increased Aggregate Prices” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4 hereof.

                                          (101)            “Indemnified Party(ies)” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 16.2 hereof.

                                          (102)            “Independent Development Managers” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 7.2C(2) hereof.

                                          (103)            “Initial Capital Contributions” shall mean with respect to each Developer, any Capital Contributions (excluding any
Additional Development Land Contributions) made by such Developer prior to the Effective Date, as set forth on Exhibit “B” attached hereto.

                                          (104)            “Initiating Entity” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 17.1 hereof.

                                          (105)            “Interest” shall mean all of the right, title and interest of a Member in and to capital, distributions, income and losses of
and from the Company and all management, approval, voting and other rights of a Member provided herein.

                                          (106)            “Interest Book Value” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 15.6A hereof.

                                          (107)            “Interest Book Value Method” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 15.6A hereof.

                                          (108)            “Interest Fair Market Value” shall have the meaning give such term in Section 15.6A hereof.

                                          (109)            “IPS Company Offer” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4 hereof.

                                          (110)            “IPS Offer Price” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4 hereof.

34



                                          (111)            “JAMS” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 18.3 hereof.

                                          (112)            “LA County Activity” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 7.4 hereof.

                                          (113)            “LA County Portion” shall mean the portion of the Balance of the Ranch which is situated in Los Angeles County.

                                          (114)            “LA County Portion Notice” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 7.5B hereof.

                                          (115)            “LCCP” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 18.3 hereof.

                                          (116)            “Lewis” shall have the meaning given such term in the preamble to this Agreement.

                                          (117)            “Liquidating Distribution Amount” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 17.1 hereof.

                                          (118)            “Liquidating Member” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 14.2 hereof.

                                          (119)            “Lots” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.1.

                                          (120)            “MAI” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 15.6D(1)(a) hereof.

                                          (121)            “Majority-in-Interest” means with respect to any relevant group of Members, Members holding greater than fifty percent
(50%) of all of the Percentage Interests held by such Members.

                                          (122)            “Master Conceptual Plan” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 2.1A hereof.

                                          (123)            “Master Project” shall mean the Existing Property, the Adjacent Property, the Additional Development Land, and any
Mitigation Land conveyed to the Company pursuant to Section 9.1, below.

                                          (124)           “ Material Adverse Activity” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 7.4 hereof.

                                          (125)            “Material Taking” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.3A(b)(v) hereof.
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                                          (126)            “Member Loan” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.7A hereof.

                                          (127)            “Member(s)” shall have the meaning given such term in the preamble to this Agreement.

                                          (128)            “Memorandum of Contribution Agreement” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.3A(1)(b) hereof.

                                          (129)            “Mitigation Land” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 9.1 hereof.

                                          (130)            “Mitigation Value” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 9.1 hereof.

                                          (131)           “Multi-Family Parcels” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4A hereof.

                                          (132)            “Negotiation Period” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 14.5A(1) hereof.

                                          (133)            “New Commercial Parcel” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4C(3) hereof.

                                          (134)            “New Offered Lot Group” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.3A(3).

                                          (135)            “Non-CE Loan” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.6C(3) hereof.

                                          (136)            “Non-CE Member” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.6C(3) hereof.

                                          (137)            “Non-Competition Area” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 7.5D hereof.

                                          (138)            “Non-Contributing Member” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.5A hereof.

                                          (139)            “Non-Contribution Loans” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.5A hereof.

                                          (140)            “Non-ESC Developer” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.2C hereof.

                                          (141)            “Non-Withdrawing Developers” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 7.5B hereof.
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                                          (142)            “Offer Price” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.2 hereof.

                                          (143)            “Offered Lot Group” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.2 hereof.

                                          (144)            “Offering Notice” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 17.1 hereof.

                                          (145)            “Open Market Lots” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.1 hereof.

                                          (146)            “Open Market Retail Parcels” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4A hereof.

                                          (147)            “Original LLC Agreement” shall have the meaning given such term in Recital A. hereof.

                                          (148)            “Other Members” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.5A hereof.

                                          (149)            “Pardee” shall have the meaning given such term in the preamble to this Agreement.

                                          (150)            “Paying Member” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.6C(2) hereof.

                                          (151)            “Percentage Interest” shall mean initially, with respect to each Member, the percentage set forth on Exhibit “B” hereto,
subject to any adjustment pursuant to this Agreement.

                                          (152)            “Person” shall mean an individual, partnership, limited liability company, corporation, joint venture, trust, business trust,
association or similar entity and the heirs, executors, legal representatives, successors and assigns of such entity where the context requires.

                                          (153)            “Planning Areas” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 2.1A hereof.

                                          (154)            “Previous Commercial Parcel” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4C(3) hereof.

                                          (155)           “Previous Offered Lot Group” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.3A(3).

                                          (156)            “Price Condition” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 14.5A(3)(b)(ii).
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                                          (157)            “Private Sale Commercial Parcels” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4A.

                                          (158)            “Private Sale Lots” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.1.

                                          (159)            “Private Sale Retail Parcels” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4A.

                                          (160)            “Project Employee(s)” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 7.3 hereof.

                                          (161)            “Property Fair Market Value” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 14.5A hereof.

                                          (162)            “Purchase Notice” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 14.5A(3) hereof.

                                          (163)            “Purchase Notice Deadline” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 14.5A(3) hereof.

                                          (164)            “Purchase Price” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 17.1 hereof.

                                          (165)            “Purchasing Entity” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 17.3 hereof.

                                          (166)            “Purchasing Member(s)” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 15.6E(2) hereof.

                                          (167)            “Ranch” shall mean Tejon Ranch, as depicted on Exhibit “A” hereto.

                                          (168)            “Real Estate Closing” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 14.5F hereof.

                                          (169)            “Regional Improvements” shall refer to those improvements and facilities which are required to service real property
which exceeds that of the Master Project in any material manner, including, without limitation, parks and open spaces and sewer treatment plants, etc.

                                          (170)            “Regulations” shall mean the Treasury Regulations (including temporary or proposed regulations) promulgated under the
Code, as amended from time to time, including corresponding provisions of succeeding regulations.

                                          (171)            “Reinstated Developer” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 13.1A(3) hereof.
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                                          (172)            “Remaining Contribution Date” shall mean the date which is the earlier of the granting of the Entitlements in a manner
consistent with the Entitlement Business Plan or the commencement of Significant Grading/Infrastructure Activity.

                                          (173)            “Remaining Developers” shall mean those Developers other than a Withdrawing Developer.

                                          (174)            “Replacement DM” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 7.2C(1) hereof.

                                          (175)            “Representative(s)” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 7.1C hereof.

                                          (176)            “Responding Commercial Developer” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4C(4)(a) hereof.

                                          (177)            “Responding Developer” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.3A(4)(a) hereof.

                                          (178)            “Responding Entity” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 17.1 hereof.

                                          (179)            “Response Notice” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 17.3 hereof.

                                          (180)            “Retail Parcels “ shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4A hereof.

                                          (181)            “Retraction” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 13.1A(3) hereof.

                                          (182)            “Retraction Notice” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 13.1A(3) hereof.

                                          (183)            “Revised Sale Price” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 14.5A(3)(d) hereof.

                                          (184)            “Sales Employee” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 7.3 hereof.

                                          (185)            “Second Commercial Developer” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.4C(1) hereof.

                                          (186)            “Second Developer” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.3A(1) hereof.
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                                          (187)            “Selling Entity” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 17.3 hereof.

                                          (188)            “Selling Member” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 15.6E(2) hereof.

                                          (189)            “Shortfall Contribution” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.4 hereof.

                                          (190)            “Significant Grading/Infrastructure Activity” shall mean (i) mass grading of a significant portion of the Master Project
pursuant to approved mass grading plans and appropriate grading permits; and/or (ii) significant infrastructure construction on the Master Project pursuant to
approved improvement plans and appropriate building permits, in either case, which has been Approved by the Executive Committee.

                                          (191)            “Sixty Day Withdrawal Period” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 13.1A(4) hereof.

                                          (192)            “Standard Pacific” shall have the meaning given such term in the preamble to this Agreement.

                                          (193)            “Subordinated Debt” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 13.1A(3)(i)B hereof.

                                          (194)            “Substitute Credit Enhancement” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.6C(3) hereof.

                                          (195)            “Substitute Developer” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 13.1A(1) hereof.

                                          (196)            “Tejon/Developer Lot Deadlock” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 17.1.

                                          (197)            “Tejon Existing Property Credit” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.3A(1)(b) hereof.

                                          (198)            “Tejon Feasibility Cost Credit” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.1B.

                                          (199)            “Third Developer” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 10.3A(1).

                                          (200)            “Third-Party Buyer” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 14.5A(3)(b) hereof.

                                          (201)            “Third Party Financing” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 4.6 hereof.
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                                          (202)            “Third-Party Purchase Agreement” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 14.5A(3)(b)(i) hereof.

                                          (203)            “Thirty Day Good Faith Negotiation Period” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 17.1 hereof.

                                          (204)            “Timing Condition” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 14.5A(3)(b)(i) hereof.

                                          (205)            “TMP” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 11.4 hereof.

                                          (206)            “Term” shall mean the term of this Agreement as described in Section 1.5.

                                          (207)            “Transfer” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 12.1A hereof.

                                          (208)            “Transfer Period” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 13.1A(1) hereof.

                                          (209)            “Voting Interest” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 7.1C hereof.

                                          (210)            “Withdrawing Developer” shall mean a Developer that has delivered a Withdrawal Notice or is otherwise deemed to have
elected to withdraw pursuant to Section 13.1A.

                                          (211)          “Withdrawal Notice” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 13.1A hereof.  Except as otherwise provided in this
Agreement, a Withdrawing Developer shall have no further rights or obligations with respect to the Company or the Master Project upon the effective date of a
Withdrawal Notice.

                          B.          Terms Defined in the Act.  Terms defined in the Act and used herein without definition shall have the definitions given them under the
Act.

          1.2.          Formation of Limited Liability Company.  The Company has been formed by the filing of the Certificate pursuant to the Act.

          1.3.          Principal Place of Business.  The principal place of business of the Company within the State of California shall be at 10880 Wilshire Boulevard,
Suite 1900, Los Angeles, California 90024.  The Company may change and locate its place of business and registered office at any other place or places as the
Executive Committee may from time to time deem advisable.

          1.4.          Registered Office and Registered Agent.  For purposes of Section 18-104(a)(1) of the Act, the registered office of the Company is c/o Paracorp
Incorporated, 15 North East Street,
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Dover, Delaware 19901, and the name of its initial registered agent at such address shall be Paracorp Incorporated.  The registered office and registered agent may
be changed by the Executive Committee from time to time by filing the address of the new registered office and/or the name of the new registered agent with the
Delaware Secretary of State pursuant to the Act.

          1.5.          Term.  The Term commenced on March 10, 2000, and shall continue (unless the Company is sooner dissolved as provided herein) until January 1,
2050.

2.       PERMITTED BUSINESSES.

          2.1.          Feasibility Stage Business.

                         A.          Initially, the business of the Company was to (i) conduct a feasibility analysis in order to assess the feasibility of the Master Project (the
“Feasibility Analysis”), (ii) use diligent efforts to develop and achieve unanimous written agreement of the Members upon the “Master Conceptual Plan” for the
financing, development, marketing and disposition of the Master Project and the individual components thereof, including a tentative allocation of the
development of the Master Project among various planning areas (“Planning Areas”) as a master planned residential community with ancillary commercial,
industrial and multifamily uses, (iii) based upon such agreement use diligent efforts to develop and achieve unanimous written agreement of the Members on the
initial Entitlement Business Plan based upon the Master Conceptual Plan, and (iv) carry on all other activities incidental to, or necessary or convenient in
furtherance of, the Feasibility Stage Business as Approved by the Executive Committee (collectively, the “Feasibility Stage Business”).  The Members hereby
acknowledge that the Feasibility Analysis has been completed, the Master Conceptual Plan has been unanimously approved by the Members, the Members have
Approved the initial Entitlement Business Plan and that the Company is currently engaged in the “Entitlement Stage Business” (as defined below).

          2.2.          Entitlement Stage Business.

                          A.          The business of the Company currently includes (i) the pursuit of Entitlements for the Master Project in accordance with the Entitlement
Business Plan and (ii) all other activities incidental to, or necessary or convenient in furtherance of, the Entitlement Stage Business as Approved by the Executive
Committee (collectively, the “Entitlement Stage Business”).

                          B.          During the Entitlement Stage, each of the Members shall use its diligent and good faith efforts to prepare and agree upon the
Development Business Plan.

          2.3.          Development Stage Business.

                          A.          Upon satisfaction of the “Development Stage Conditions” (as defined below) within the “Entitlement Period” (as defined below),
without further action of the Members, the business of the Company shall be further expanded to include (i) the acquisition by the Company of the Existing
Property from Tejon, and financing, developing and improving the respective Planning Areas, (ii) marketing and disposing of completed residential lots to
merchant
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builders (such merchant builders may include individual Developers and/or their Affiliates), (iii) disposing of or improving, operating and holding for investment,
the Income Producing Sites; provided that the Executive Committee, subject to the terms of Section 10.4 hereof, (a) may Approve and cause the contribution of
portions of the Master Project, such as the Income Producing Sites, to single-member limited liability companies (“Affiliate LLCs”) that would be wholly-owned
by the Company or “sister” limited liability companies owned by the Members under substantially the same terms and conditions set forth herein, and (b) will
Approve the disposition of the Private Sale Commercial Parcels to the Commercial Developers and/or their Affiliates pursuant to this Agreement, and (iv) to
carry on all other activities incidental to, or necessary or convenient in furtherance of, the Development Stage Business as Approved by the Executive Committee
(collectively, the “Development Stage Business”).  The Development Stage Business shall be conducted in accordance with the Development Business Plan.

                          B.          As used herein, the “Development Stage Conditions” shall mean the following:

                                          (1)          The Company shall have obtained the Entitlements in accordance with the Entitlement Business Plan within the time period
specified in the entitlement schedule set forth in the Entitlement Business Plan (the “Entitlement Period”);

                                          (2)          Tejon and at least two (2) of the Developers shall have agreed upon the initial Development Business Plan in writing;
provided, further, any Developer that withholds its Approval of any Development Business Plan that is Approved pursuant to this Section 2.3B(2) shall be
deemed to be a Withdrawing Developer under Section 13.1A; and

                                          (3)          Developers shall have made (or be deemed to have made) all of their required Entitlement Stage Contributions as provided in
Section 4.2A and Additional Entitlement Stage Contributions as provided in Section 4.2B.

                          C.          If all of the Development Stage Conditions are not satisfied or the Development Stage Business has not commenced by the expiration of
the Entitlement Period, then the Company may be dissolved in accordance with Section 14.1.

          2.4.          Adjacent Property.  The Company has purchased the Adjacent Property pursuant to the Adjacent Property Purchase Agreement with the proceeds
of Capital Contributions made by the Members.  The Company shall own, entitle, finance, develop, improve, market and sell (or hold for investment) the
Adjacent Property as appropriate in accordance with the applicable Business Plan.

3.       MEMBERS, MEMBERSHIP INTERESTS AND LIMITED LIABILITY.

          3.1.          Addresses and Interests of Members.  The Members’ respective addresses, Initial Capital Contributions, the Tejon Feasibility Cost Credit,
Additional Development Land Contributions to date, and Percentage Interests in the Company are set forth on Exhibit “B” attached hereto and incorporated
herein.
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          3.2.          Limited Liability.  Except as required under the Act or as expressly set forth in this Agreement, the debts, obligations and liabilities of the
Company, whether arising in contract, tort or otherwise, will be solely the debts, obligations and liabilities of the Company, and no Member will be obligated
personally for any debt, obligation or liability of the Company solely by reason of being a member of the Company.

4.       CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS, BOOK CAPITAL ACCOUNTS, FINANCING AND LOANS.

          4.1.          Capital Contributions and Other Funding To Date.

                          A.           Initial Capital Contributions.  Prior to the Effective Date, each of the Developers has funded Initial Capital Contributions to the
Company in the aggregate amount set forth opposite such Member’s name in the column labeled “Initial Capital Contributions” on Exhibit “B” attached hereto,
which have been credited to each such Member’s Book Capital Account.

                          B.          Tejon Feasibility Contributions.  Prior to the Effective Date, Tejon represents and warrants that it paid various expenses for feasibility
studies and related costs that directly benefited the Existing Property in an aggregate amount equal to Two Hundred Forty-One Thousand Seven Hundred Four
and 45/100 Dollars ($241,704.45) (collectively, the “Feasibility Costs”), as set forth more fully on Exhibit “C” attached hereto.  Tejon shall be deemed to have
made a Capital Contribution and receive credit to its Book Capital Account as of the date each such cost was paid in an aggregate amount equal to the Feasibility
Costs (the “Tejon Feasibility Cost Credit”).

          4.2.          Capital Contributions and Other Funding During the Entitlement Stage.

                          A.          During the Entitlement Stage, the Developers shall make Capital Contributions from time to time, in cash, and receive credit to their
respective Book Capital Accounts in the amounts and on the dates Approved by a majority of the Representatives of the Executive Committee, prorata in
accordance with the Developers’ relative Percentage Interests (“Entitlement Stage Contributions”).  The total amount of the Entitlement Stage Contributions to
be made by each Developer pursuant to this Section 4.2A shall not exceed such Developer’s Percentage Interest divided by fifty percent (50%) (“Contribution
Percentage”) multiplied by the excess of (i) Twelve Million Dollars ($12,000,000), over (ii) any Capital Contributions previously made by Developers as of the
Effective Date (other than any Capital Contributions made to fund the acquisition of the Adjacent Property or any other Additional Development Land
Contributions).

                          B.          After the full amount of the Entitlement Stage Contributions required under Section 4.2A have been made (i.e., a total of $12,000,000.00
less all Developer Capital Contributions made on or before the Effective Date other than any Capital Contributions made to fund the acquisition of the Adjacent
Property or any other Additional Development Land Contributions), upon the Approval of the Executive Committee, each Developer shall continue to contribute
additional capital in cash and receive credit to its Book Capital Account for Capital
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Contributions from time to time as deemed necessary by the Executive Committee to further the purposes of the Entitlement Stage Business or as otherwise called
for in the Entitlement Stage Business Plan (the “Additional Entitlement Stage Contributions”).  The Additional Entitlement Stage Contributions shall be
contributed prorata by the Developers in accordance with their relative Percentage Interests and, without approval of all of the Developers, shall not result in the
total Capital Contributions made by the Developers under Section 4.1 and this Section 4.2 exceeding Thirty-Three Million Dollars ($33,000,000) (which amount
represents the Members’ estimate as of the Effective Date of the Tejon Existing Property Credit).

                          C.          Should a Developer fail to make an Entitlement Stage Contribution or an Additional Entitlement Stage Contribution (“Non-ESC
Developer”), then at any time following such failure to contribute, any other Member of the Company may deliver written notice to the Non-ESC Developer of
its failure to contribute.  If the Non-ESC Developer has not made its Entitlement Stage Contribution or Additional Entitlement Stage Contribution by the date
which is five (5) days from the delivery of such notice (the “ESC Cure Expiration”), then the Non-ESC Developer shall be deemed to have withdrawn from the
Company and Section 13.1 hereof shall apply.

          4.3.          Development Stage Contributions and Contributions for Additional Development Land.

                          A.           Development Stage Contributions. 

                                          (1)          Provided that the Development Stage Conditions set forth in Sections 2.3B have been satisfied within the Entitlement Period,
Developers and Tejon shall make the following additional Capital Contributions (the “Development Stage Contributions”):

                                                        (a)          Following the Remaining Contribution Date, each Developer shall, from time to time, make contributions in cash and
receive credit to its Book Capital Account, as and when required pursuant to the terms of the Development Business Plan,   provided that the aggregate Capital
Contributions to be made by each such Developer pursuant to this subsection (a) shall not exceed an amount equal to the excess, if any, of (i) such Developer’s
Contribution Percentage multiplied by the Combined Tejon Credit (as defined below), less (ii) all Capital Contributions previously contributed to the Company by
such Developer under Sections 4.1 and 4.2 hereof (and exclusive of any Additional Development Land Contributions made by such Developer pursuant to
Section 4.3B).

                                                         (b)          Within three (3) business days of delivery of written notice by the Development Manager to the Members of the
occurrence of the Remaining Contribution Date, or on or about such later date as the Existing Property may reasonably (independent of any other real property)
be conveyed to the Company as one or more legal parcels in accordance with the California Subdivision Map Act, Tejon shall contribute by grant deed the
Existing Property to the Company.  In addition, Tejon shall, to the extent assignable and subject to the retention by Tejon of any rights necessary for Tejon’s
development of the Balance of the Ranch, contribute any and all of its right, title and interest in and to (i) all documents, contracts and agreements
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relating to the Existing Property, (ii) all prior rights and agreements with governmental authorities relating to the acquisition, design, development, construction
and operation of the Existing Property, (iii) all entitlements obtained to date and all applications for entitlements submitted to date, including all fees, deposits and
other matters relating to the Existing Property, (iv) all agreements and will-serve letters to provide utility services to the Existing Property, (v) all representations,
warranties, guaranties, covenants and similar matters from third parties to which Tejon and/or any Affiliate thereof are entitled relating to the Existing Property,
and (vi) all other rights relating to the Existing Property.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent any of the foregoing relates to property owned by Tejon
and/or any of its Affiliates (other than the Existing Property), the foregoing contribution and assignment to the Company shall be on a non-exclusive basis and
Tejon shall retain non-exclusive rights in connection with the same.  Tejon shall reasonably cooperate with the Company, at the sole cost and expense of the
Company, to cause the Existing Property to be made into one or more legal parcels under the California Subdivision Map Act.  Within thirty (30) days after the
date upon which a preliminary legal description of the Existing Property, in form reasonably satisfactory to Tejon, has been finalized, a memorandum of this
Agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit “G” (the “Memorandum of Contribution Agreement”) shall be recorded in the County of Los Angeles solely
for the purpose of the notification of third parties of the existence of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to the Company and as between
the Members, the legal description of the Existing Property shall be described as the legal parcel or parcels comprising the Existing Property to be created in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement.  As the legal description of the Existing Property is revised and clarified throughout the development process
contemplated by this Agreement, the legal description attached to the Memorandum of Contribution Agreement shall be updated and revised to reflect such
updated legal description.

                                                        In consideration for such contribution of the Existing Property by Tejon (the “Existing Property Contribution”), Tejon shall
be deemed to have made a Capital Contribution, and shall receive a credit to its Book Capital Account in the amount of Thirty Three Million Dollars
($33,000,000.00) (the “Tejon Existing Property Credit”), subject to any adjustments made pursuant to this Section and Section 4.3A(1)(b)(ii) and Section
4.3A(1)(b)(v), below.  As of the Effective Date, the Members anticipate that the Existing Property is comprised of approximately 10,700 acres.  However, in the
event that the Members agree that the number of acres comprising the Existing Property is less than 10,600 acres or more than 11,100 acres as a result of a
modification of the Existing Property’s boundaries in connection with the processing and procurement of the Entitlements, then the Tejon Existing Property
Credit of Thirty-Three Million Dollars ($33,000,000.00) shall be (i) decreased by Three Thousand Eighty-Five Dollars ($3,085.00) for each acre that the number
of acres comprising the Existing Property is less than 10,600 acres, and (ii) shall be increased by Three Thousand Eighty-Five Dollars ($3,085.00) for each acre
that the number of acres comprising the Existing Property is more than 11,100 acres.  The credit to Tejon’s Book Capital Account shall not be adjusted if the
number of acres comprising the Existing Property is between 10,600 acres and 11,100 acres.  By way of example, if at the time of Tejon’s contribution of the
Existing Property such property is comprised of 10,500 acres, then the Tejon Existing Property Credit shall equal Thirty Two Million Six Hundred Ninety-One
Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($32,691,500.00) (i.e., $33,000,000.00 – ((10,600-10,500) x $3,085.00)).  The Tejon Existing Property Credit (as adjusted
pursuant to this
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Section 4.3A(1)(b), Section 4.3A(1)(b)(ii) and Section 4.3A(1)(b)(v) and the Tejon Feasibility Cost Credit are hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Combined Tejon Credit”.

                                                                       (i)           Prior to the Effective Date, the Executive Committee approved certain existing exceptions to title of the
Existing Property (the “Approved Existing Exceptions”), which exceptions are set forth on Exhibit “D” attached hereto.  Tejon’s contribution of the Existing
Property shall be subject only to the Approved Existing Exceptions and all other matters impacting title to the Existing Property whether or not of record either (i)
not caused by Tejon or its Affiliates, or if caused by Tejon or its Affiliates, that do not materially and adversely impact the Company’s intended development of
the Existing Property, (ii) which would be disclosed on a survey or by inspection of the Property but which were not specifically identified on the preliminary title
report attached hereto as Exhibit “D”, (iii) which have been Approved by the Executive Committee, (iv) which otherwise arise out of the entitlement and
development activities of the Company or (v) which constitute non-delinquent taxes and assessments.  The foregoing shall be evidenced by an ALTA standard
coverage policy of title insurance (or, at the election of the Executive Committee, an ALTA extended coverage policy of title insurance) covering the Existing
Property, issued on the date of the contribution of the Existing Property by Tejon by a title company selected by the Executive Committee, with policy limits
equal to the amount of the Tejon Existing Property Credit and insuring title to the Existing Property vested in the Company in the condition described above.

                                                                        (ii)          With respect to monetary liens recorded against the Existing Property (other than Approved Existing
Exceptions and monetary liens Approved by the Executive Committee or otherwise caused by a Developer), Tejon shall, at its election, either remove such liens,
if any, on or before the contribution of the Existing Property, or offset the aggregate amount of such monetary liens against and thereby reduce the Tejon Existing
Property Credit that Tejon would have received upon its contribution of the Existing Property pursuant to Section 4.3A(1)(b), above, had Tejon removed such
monetary liens.

                                                                        (iii)          From and after the date hereof until the earlier of (i) dissolution of the Company or (ii) Tejon’s contribution
of the Existing Property, Tejon shall not utilize or encumber the Existing Property (including without limitation the recordation of monetary liens against the
Existing Property) in any material manner, without the Approval of the Executive Committee, which Approval shall not be unreasonably withheld if such action
will not materially or adversely affect the Company’s future ownership and development of the Master Project as contemplated by this Agreement and the
Business Plan then in effect.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, prior to the contribution of the Existing Property to the Company, Tejon may, without the Approval
of the Executive Committee, enter into agreements for or otherwise permit hunting and the grazing of livestock on the Existing Property and engage in or
otherwise allow any other party to engage in any activity specifically permitted pursuant to the Approved Existing Exceptions.

                                                                        (iv)          All closing costs and expenses shall be allocated between Tejon and the Company in accordance with the
closing customs in Los Angeles County.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, all real estate taxes and assessments payable with respect to the Existing Property shall
be apportioned between Tejon and the Company as of Tejon’s
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conveyance of the Existing Property to the Company and Tejon shall be responsible for the cost of the ALTA standard coverage title policy covering the Existing
Property.  Any additional premium for ALTA extended coverage, surveys or endorsements shall be paid by the Company.

                                                                        (v)          In the event that Tejon receives a condemnation award with respect to the Existing Property prior to Tejon’s
contribution of the Existing Property to the Company, any condemnation proceeds received by Tejon shall be set aside in one (1) or more bank accounts.  If and
when Tejon is required to contribute the Existing Property, Tejon shall also contribute such condemnation proceeds and any interest accrued thereon earned in
such bank accounts.  Such Existing Property, condemnation proceeds and accrued interest thereon shall be credited to Tejon’s Book Capital Account in aggregate
amount equal to the Tejon Existing Property Contribution; provided, however, if total combined acreage (the “Combined Acreage”) that is contributed by Tejon
to the capital of the Company and condemned is less than 10,600 acres or more than 11,100 acres, then the Tejon Existing Property Credit of Thirty-Three Million
Dollars ($33,000,000) shall be (a) decreased by $3,085 for each acre that the Combined Acreage is less than 10,600 acres, and (b) increased by $3,085 for each
acre that the Combined Acreage is more than 11,100 acres.  In the event that the Existing Property is subject to condemnation, and such condemnation results in
the taking of enough of the Existing Property so as to cause the Executive Committee to determine that it would not be feasible to develop the Existing Property
(a “Material Taking”), then such determination shall be deemed an election by the Executive Committee to dissolve the Company and all condemnation
proceeds up to Three Thousand Eighty-Five Dollars ($3,085.00) per acre of such condemned Existing Property shall be retained by Tejon and all condemnation
proceeds in excess of such amount for such condemned Existing Property shall be contributed by Tejon to the Company (which shall not be treated as a Capital
Contribution or otherwise credited to Tejon’s Book Capital Account) and shall be distributed to the Members in accordance with Section 6.1 hereof.

                                          (2)          The Members currently agree that the Existing Property constitutes approximately ten thousand seven hundred (10,700) acres. 
However, Tejon shall consider, in good faith, contributing additional adjoining developable land if (i) such contribution would materially benefit the Development
Business Plan and (ii) the Executive Committee has Approved the value of such additional Capital Contribution.

                          B.           Additional Development Land Contributions.  Prior to the Effective Date, the Company acquired the Adjacent Property in accordance
with the terms of the Original LLC Agreement with the proceeds of Capital Contributions that were made by the Members.  The Members shall make such
additional Capital Contributions in cash in accordance with their respective Percentage Interests to fund the cost of acquiring any additional land necessary to
obtain the Entitlements or which would otherwise benefit the Master Project, in the reasonable opinion of the Executive Committee, as specified by the Business
Plan from time to time.

                                          (1)          As used herein, the Adjacent Property and such additional land to be acquired by the Company in accordance with this Section
shall be referred to collectively as the “Additional Development Land”.  In addition to the Capital Contributions described above and in accordance with the
Business Plan, the Members shall make additional Capital
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Contributions in cash to the Company from time to time in the amount necessary to acquire the applicable Additional Development Land, which Capital
Contributions shall be made in accordance with their respective Percentage Interests.  Until the commencement of the Development Stage, ownership of the
Additional Development Land shall be separately accounted for and the Members, in accordance with their Percentage Interests, shall be responsible for making
Capital Contributions in such amounts deemed reasonably necessary by the Executive Committee to pay the costs and expenses arising out of the ownership of
such Additional Development Land, including without limitation, property taxes and assessments, insurance, and costs of maintaining such Additional
Development Land.  The Capital Contributions previously contributed and hereafter contributed to acquire the Additional Development Land (including, without
limitation, the Adjacent Property) and such costs arising out the acquisition and ownership of the Additional Development Land shall collectively be referred to
herein as the “Additional Development Land Contributions.”

          4.4.          Additional Capital Contributions.  If additional Capital Contributions for the Company, over and above the Capital Contributions set forth in
Sections 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3 above, are deemed necessary by the Executive Committee, the Executive Committee shall elect, to the extent available, to arrange for
third party financing to compensate for such shortfall.  If such third party financing is unavailable, then the Executive Committee may call upon each Member to
make additional Capital Contributions (“Shortfall Contributions”).  The Members’ Shortfall Contributions shall be made in the form of cash and shall be made
pro rata in accordance with the Members’ Percentage Interests.

          4.5.          Failure to Contribute.

                                          A.          Should (i) any Developer fail to contribute timely its Development Stage Contribution, or (ii) any Member fail to contribute on
the date requested by the Executive Committee either (a) its Additional Development Land Contribution pursuant to Section 4.3, above, or (b) its Shortfall
Contribution pursuant to Section 4.4, above (“Non-Contributing Member”), all, some or one of the other Members who are not themselves Defaulting Members
(“Other Members”) shall be entitled to make non-recourse loans secured by the Non-Contributing Member’s Interest in the Company (“Non-Contribution
Loans”) to the Non-Contributing Member in the amount of the cash Capital Contribution which the Non-Contributing Member failed to make.  If more than one
(1) Other Member elects to make a Non-Contribution Loan to the Non-Contributing Member, then such Other Members shall make the Non-Contribution Loans
pro rata in accordance with their relative Percentage Interests.  The Non-Contribution Loan shall bear interest at a default interest rate which is the greater of the
following (the “Default Interest Rate”):  (i) twenty percent (20%) per annum, or (ii) the reference rate of Bank of America NT&SA, plus six percent (6%) per
annum, in either case, compounded monthly.  The Members acknowledge and agree that the foregoing Default Interest Rate is a default rate of interest. 
Accordingly, to the extent the Default Interest Rate exceeds that which would otherwise be permitted by law, such excess interest is intended to reflect a
liquidated damages amount for the default of the Non-Contributing Member and not a penalty.  Instead, such excess interest constitutes a good faith estimate by
the Members to estimate the actual damages resulting from the Non-Contributing Member’s default.  The Members agree that such estimate is reasonable. 
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, all distributions
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which would otherwise be made to the Non-Contributing Member under Sections 4.3A(1)(b)(v), 6 and 14.3, below shall be paid over to the Other Members who
had made Non-Contribution Loans, in proportion to the outstanding balance(s) of the Non-Contribution Loan(s) made by such Other Members, until their Non-
Contribution Loans to the Non-Contributing Member, including all interest accrued thereon, are repaid in full.  Any such amounts shall be deemed to have been
distributed to the Non-Contributing Member and applied by the Non-Contributing Member to repay the Non-Contribution Loan(s).  Further, the Non-
Contributing Member’s Interest shall be deemed pledged to the Other Members as security for repayment of their Non-Contribution Loans.  The Non-
Contributing Member shall execute and deliver to the Other Members such agreements and instruments requested by any of the Other Members to evidence and
perfect the Other Members’ security interest in the Non-Contributing Member’s Interest to secure such Non-Contribution Loan, including, without limitation, a
pledge agreement and a UCC-1 financing statement.  The Other Members shall advance the Non-Contribution Loan directly to the Company on behalf of the
Non-Contributing Member, which advance shall be deemed to be a Capital Contribution by the Non-Contributing Member.  The foregoing remedies set forth in
this Section 4.5A shall be in addition to and not in limitation of the remedies available to the Other Members under this Agreement for the Non-Contributing
Member’s failure to make the required cash Capital Contribution.

                                          B.          Failure of Tejon to Contribute Existing Property Contribution.  Should Tejon fail to make the Existing Property Contribution in
accordance with Section 4.3A(1)(b), then, notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, and in addition to the remedies provided in Sections 15.2A,
15.2B and 15.2D for so long as Tejon fails to cure such failure to make the Existing Property Contribution, Developers may select one (but not both) of the
following additional remedies as their sole and exclusive remedy:  either (i) a Majority-in-Interest of the Developers may elect, without the Approval of Tejon or
the Executive Committee, to seek an action for specific performance on behalf of all of the Developers and/or the Company requiring Tejon to make the Existing
Property Contribution; or, in the alternative, (ii) a Majority-in-Interest of the Developers may elect to dissolve the Company and, notwithstanding anything herein
to the contrary, Tejon shall be obligated to pay to each Developer an amount equal to the excess, if any, of (a) such Developer’s total outstanding Capital
Contributions plus a yield thereon of eighteen percent (18%) per annum through the date such amount is recovered from Tejon, compounded annually, less (b)
any amounts received by such Developer from the Company as liquidating distributions pursuant to Section 14.3 of this Agreement.  Any amounts paid by Tejon
to any Developer pursuant to this Section 4.5B shall not be treated as a Capital Contribution (or otherwise credited to Tejon’s Book Capital Account) for purposes
of this Agreement.  In addition to being each Developer’s sole and exclusive remedy for Tejon’s failure to make the Existing Property Contribution (in addition to
the remedies provided in Section 15.2A, 15.2B and 15.2D for so long as Tejon fails to cure such breach), a Developer may not seek either of the foregoing
remedies without the Approval of at least a Majority-in-Interest of the Developers and upon such Approval, all Developers shall be bound by such selection of
remedies; provided, however, that if, within ninety (90) days from the date upon which Tejon was to make the Existing Property Contribution, a Majority-in-
Interest of the Developers are unable to agree upon which remedy to pursue, then all of the Developers shall be deemed to have Approved the remedy set forth in
subsection (ii), above.  If, after such election or deemed election by the Developers, a court nonetheless disallows either such remedy, then the other
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remedy shall, in all events, be available to the Developers.  By entering into this Agreement and upon selecting either of such remedies or joining in such action,
each remaining Developer, if any, waives and relinquishes all other remedies (except as provided in Sections 15.2A, 15.2B and 15.2D) against Tejon (whether at
law or equity), including, without limitation, all Claims for consequential or incidental damages and lost profits, arising by reason of Tejon’s failure to make the
Existing Property Contribution.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, on and subject to the terms of Section 18.15 below, Developers shall also have the right to
recover attorneys’ fees in any action permitted by this Section 4.5B if, on the merits of such action, they are the prevailing parties in such action.  The parties
agree that the sole recourse for the failure of Tejon to make the Existing Property Contribution shall be through the Developers’ actions in accordance with this
Section 4.5B.  In addition, notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if Tejon contributes the Existing Property pursuant to the specific
performance remedy described above or otherwise cures its initial failure to contribute the Existing Property by subsequently making such contribution, then,
from and after the date of such cure, Tejon shall not be treated as having committed an Event of Default under this Agreement for any purpose.

          4.6.          Financing of the Master Project.  Upon approval of the Development Business Plan and the Development Stage Contributions, the Members
anticipate that third party equity and/or debt financing (the “Third Party Financing”) will be necessary to pay the balance of the cost of development of the
Master Project and the Improvements.  Any Third Party Financing must either conform to the Development Business Plan or otherwise be approved by the
Executive Committee.

                          A.          To the extent such Third Party Financing contemplates an equity investment in the Company or a participating or convertible debt
component, the Interests of the Members shall be diluted prorata to accommodate such Third Party Financing.

                          B.          To the extent such Third Party Financing contemplates the issuance of such public finance vehicles as Mello Roos, assessments or tax
increment financing (“Bond Financing”), then the amount of Bond Financing encumbering the for sale residential portion of the Master Project shall not exceed
an amount which would cause the annual payments for real estate taxes and all other assessments on such residential property (including, without limitation,
lighting and landscaping district assessments, master homeowner association dues, and other similar assessments) to exceed two percent (2%) of the base sales
price of each home projected in the Development Business Plan.  The lien established by the Bond Financing shall be spread among the Planning Areas
(including the Income Producing Sites) on a fair and equitable basis as determined by the Executive Committee.

                          C.          The Members further acknowledge and agree that it may be necessary to provide certain credit enhancements (e.g., remargin (loan to
value maintenance) guaranties or completion guaranties, repayment guaranties, letters of credit, indemnities, etc.) in a form acceptable to the third-party lender or
other party requesting such enhancements, guaranties, etc., for the purpose of obtaining the Third Party Financing and to obtain any required subdivision or
similar surety bonds (the “Credit Enhancements”).
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                                          (1)          The Members shall provide the required Credit Enhancements as and when contemplated by the Development Business Plan
or as otherwise Approved by the Executive Committee.  The Members will attempt to structure any such Credit Enhancements (a) as several, but not joint,
obligations or, alternatively, with other limitations, to attempt to avoid any one Member being liable for more than its proportionate share of the obligation for
which the Credit Enhancement is provided, and (b) as remargin (loan to value maintenance) guaranties or completion guaranties instead of repayment guaranties,
letters of credit, indemnities or other forms of guaranty, the effect of which would be to guaranty the borrowings of the Company.  Such proportionate share of
each Member shall be based upon each Member’s Percentage Interest.

                                          (2)          Should a Member make a cash payment or otherwise indirectly make a payment as a result of any draw of such Member’s
letter of credit (“Paying Member”) pursuant to a Credit Enhancement which payment is greater than that Member’s proportionate share based on its Percentage
Interest, then, upon demand by such Member, the other Members shall be obligated to reimburse such Paying Member for such difference, based on their
respective Percentage Interests.  Any payments and reimbursements made pursuant to a Credit Enhancement shall be deemed Capital Contributions by such
Paying Member and shall be credited to the applicable Book Capital Account of such Paying Member at the time such payment is made.  The Book Capital
Account of a Paying Member which is reimbursed for a disproportionate payment it made pursuant to a Credit Enhancement shall be reduced by the amount such
Member is reimbursed by the other Members.

                                          (3)          Should a Member fail to provide any Credit Enhancement as required by this Agreement (“Non CE Member”), all, some or
one of the other Members who have provided such Credit Enhancement (“CE Members”) shall be entitled to provide the Non CE Member’s required Credit
Enhancement with a substitute credit enhancement acceptable to the third-party lender or other party requiring such Credit Enhancement in the same amount (the
“Substitute Credit Enhancement”).  Such Substitute Credit Enhancement shall be treated as a loan by the CE Members to the Non CE Member on the same
terms and conditions as the Non-Contribution Loan (“Non CE Loan”) and shall be applicable to the entire Credit Enhancement which the Non CE Member failed
to provide.  If more than one CE Member elects to make a Non CE Loan to the Non CE Member, then such CE Members shall make the Non CE Loans pro rata
in accordance with their relative Percentage Interests.  In addition to repaying the Non CE Loan in cash, the Non CE Member may repay the principal balance of
the Non CE Loan (but not the accrued interest thereon) by delivering the required Credit Enhancement and causing the full release of the Substitute Credit
Enhancement.

          4.7.          Member Loans and Contributions.

                          A.          Except for any loan expressly authorized or required by this Agreement, no Member shall be obligated or authorized to lend or contribute
money to the Company.  If, without the prior written consent of the Executive Committee, a loan or contribution not otherwise provided for herein is made to the
Company by a Member, no such loan or contribution shall entitle the lending or contributing Member to any increase in its interest in Company profits, losses or
distributions or to the recoupment or repayment of such loans or
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contributions or the payment of any interest charge or other consideration for the use of such funds.  Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, only by the
Approval of the Executive Committee at the time that a loan or contribution is made to the Company shall any such loan or contribution be made a debt due or
capital contribution recoverable from the Company to such lending or advancing Member repayable out of the Company’s assets upon such terms and conditions
as shall be approved by all Members.  Any such Approved loan shall be referred to herein as a “Member Loan.”

                          B.          Any Member Loan made pursuant to this Agreement shall be a non-recourse obligation of the Company to the lending Member and shall
be repayable solely out of Available Cash as provided in Section 6.1B, below.  All Member Loans shall be payable pro rata based on the relative outstanding
balances of such loans.

5.        PROFITS AND LOSSES.  The agreement of the Members concerning the maintenance of Book Capital Accounts, allocation of income and loss, deficit
restoration and other related matters is set forth in Appendix “A” attached hereto.

6.        DISTRIBUTIONS OF AVAILABLE CASH.

          6.1.          Definitions and Distributions.  As used in this Agreement, the term “Available Cash” means the gross receipts of the Company over and above
such payments and reserves as are reasonably calculated by the Executive Committee to enable the Company to meet its financial obligations in a timely manner
and after payment of all costs and expenses of the Company as the same come due (other than payments made pursuant to Section 6.1A and payments made in
respect of Member Loans).  Reserves shall include an amount for expenses and liabilities reasonably expected to be incurred by the Company in connection with
the Company’s business and affairs.  The minimum amount of reserve shall be established in the Business Plan.  Subject to Section 6.2, Available Cash shall be
distributed as follows no less often than quarterly:

                          A.          First Level.  To any of the Members (or any Affiliate thereof) who, at the written request of the Executive Committee, are performing
duties related to the development of the Master Project, pro rata to the outstanding fees owing to each such Member (or Affiliate) as provided for in the Business
Plan;

                          B.           Second Level.  To the payment of any Member Loans (including any interest accrued thereon);

                          C.          Third Level.  To the Members, pro rata in accordance with their respective unreturned Capital Contributions until their respective
unreturned Capital Contributions are repaid in full;

                          D.           Fourth Level.  To the Members, pro rata in accordance with their respective Percentage Interests, until the Developers who are not
Defaulting Members have collectively received distributions under Section 6.1C and this Section 6.1D sufficient to achieve an internal rate of return of 25% on
their Capital Contributions, calculated in accordance with Exhibit “E” attached hereto;
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                          E.          Fifth Level.  To the Members, pro rata in accordance with the following percentages:  70% to Tejon and 30% to the Developers in
proportion to their respective Percentage Interests, until the aggregate amount distributed to Tejon during the current and all prior periods pursuant to this Section
6.1E equals Thirty Million Dollars ($30,000,000); and

                          F.          Sixth Level.  To the Members, pro rata in accordance with the following percentages:  50% to Tejon and 50% to the Developers in
proportion to their respective Percentage Interests.

          6.2.          Overriding Distribution upon Withdrawal or Dissolution.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if the Company is dissolved prior to
the commencement of the Development Stage, then the net proceeds realized from the sale of any Additional Development Land (including, without limitation,
the sale of the Adjacent Property in accordance with Section 14.5) (i.e., after payment of closing costs and commissions, etc.) shall be distributed as follows upon
the dissolution of the Company:

                                          (1)          First Level.  To the Members, pro rata in accordance with their respective Additional Development Land Contributions, until
their respective Additional Development Land Contributions are paid in full;

                                          (2)          Second Level.  To the Withdrawing Developers who have made Additional Development Land Contributions for which they
have received credit as a Contingent Note hereunder, to repay the Contingent Note; and

                                          (3)          Third Level.  To the Members, in accordance with Section 6.1.

7.        MANAGEMENT.

          7.1.          Executive Committee Generally.

                          A.          In General.  The overall management and control of the business and affairs of the Company shall be overseen by a committee (the
“Executive Committee”), in the form and manner described below; provided, however, that Developer Manager shall have the rights and responsibilities set
forth herein; provided, further, that such rights and responsibilities shall be subject to the oversight, review and approval of the Executive Committee.  Except as
otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Executive Committee shall have the exclusive power and authority to take such action for and on behalf of the
Company as the Executive Committee shall from time to time deem necessary or appropriate to carry on the Company business and to carry out the purposes for
which the Company was organized.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Executive Committee’s authority shall be limited to matters directly pertaining to the
business purpose of the Company.

                          B.           Approval of Business Plan.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Approval of the initial Business Plan for the Development Stage shall
require the Approval of Tejon and at least two (2) of the Developers.  Any modifications to a Business Plan shall require the Approval of the Executive
Committee pursuant to Section 7.1C(2) (except with respect to any such change which also constitutes a decision set forth in Section 7.1C(3), below, which
decision shall in all
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events require the approval of the Executive Committee pursuant to Section 7.1C(3), below).  If one (1) or more of the Developers or Tejon disapproves of any
Business Plan or any modifications thereto, then either (i) Section 13.1 shall apply if only one (1) Developer has disapproved of the Business Plan (provided,
however, that Section 13.1 shall only so apply prior to the commencement of the Development Stage) or (ii) subject to the rights of the Members to dissolve the
Company set forth in Section 14.1C below, if applicable, the Members shall meet and cooperate in good faith until the Members Approve such Business Plan or
modification thereto.

                          C.           Composition of Executive Committee and Voting Interests.  The Executive Committee shall be comprised of individuals appointed by
the Members.  Such individuals shall be referred to herein collectively as “Representatives” and each individually as a “Representative”.  Except as provided
below, each Representative shall have one (1) vote on the Executive Committee, which voting right shall be referred to herein as a “Voting Interest”.  Each
Developer shall have the right to appoint one (1) Representative.  Tejon shall appoint two (2) Representatives each with a Voting Interest; provided that each such
Tejon Representative shall be authorized to vote both of Tejon’s Voting Interests if the other Tejon Representative fails or is otherwise unable to vote such Voting
Interest.

                                          (1)          The initial Representatives of the Members are as follows:

Tejon Robert Stine
Dana Severy

  
Pardee Michael McGee
  
Lewis John Goodman
  
Standard Pacific Dale Casey

                                          (2)          Except as set forth herein, and subject to Section 15.2A, any actions which require Approval of the Executive Committee shall
be deemed Approved only if there are at least four (4) votes in favor of such action.  If one (1) of the Developers has withdrawn from the Company (and not been
replaced by a Substitute Developer) pursuant to Section 13, below, then, subject to Section 15.2A, any actions which require Approval of the Executive
Committee, except as set forth herein, shall require at least three (3) votes in favor of such action.

                                          (3)          Notwithstanding the foregoing, but subject to Section 15.2A, the Approval of any of the following decisions shall require the
unanimous Approval of the Executive Committee, i.e. all five (5) Representatives, or in the case of the withdrawal of one (1) of the Developers (that has not been
replaced by a Substitute Developer) pursuant to Section 13 hereof, all four (4) Representatives:

                                                        (a)          Make any change to the purpose of the Company;
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                                                         (b)          Cause or permit the Company to engage in any activity that is not consistent with the purposes of the Company as set
forth in this Agreement;

                                                         (c)          Knowingly do any act which would make it impossible to carry on the business of the Company, except as otherwise
provided in the Agreement;

                                                         (d)          Institute proceedings to adjudicate the Company bankrupt or consent to a filing of a bankruptcy proceeding against
the Company or file a petition or answer or consent seeking reorganization of the Company under the Federal Bankruptcy Code or any other similar applicable
federal or state law, or consent to the filing of any such petition against the Company, or consent to the appointment of a receiver or liquidator or trustee or
assignee in bankruptcy or insolvency of the Company, or of their property, or make an assignment for the benefit of creditors of the Company, or admit the
Company’s, inability to pay its debts generally as they become due;

                                                         (e)          Dissolve, terminate, or liquidate the Company other than in accordance with this Agreement;

                                                         (f)          Make any amendments to this Agreement; and

                                                         (g)          Require any Member to provide a Credit Enhancement of Third Party Financing (other than a Credit Enhancement in
the form of a remargin (loan to value maintenance) guaranty or completion guaranty); provided, however, that any Shortfall Contributions shall require the
Approval of the Executive Committee in accordance with Section 7.1C(2).

                          D.           Alternates.  Each Member shall appoint two (2) alternate Representatives (“Alternates”).  Each Alternate shall have all of the rights and
obligations of the Representatives hereunder.  Each Member may substitute its Alternate(s) for its Representative(s) at such Member’s sole and absolute
discretion; provided, however, that, with respect to the Developers, only one (1) Alternate may represent each Voting Interest at one time.  Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Tejon may appoint one (1) Alternate to substitute for either or both of Tejon’s Representative(s).  The initial Alternates of the Members are as follows:

Tejon: Allen Lyda
Dennis Mullins

  
Pardee: Harold Struck

William Bryan
  
Lewis: Randall Lewis

Richard Lewis
  
Standard Pacific: Stephen Boggs

Jeffrey Malone
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                          E.           Regular Meetings of the Executive Committee.  The Executive Committee shall meet not less frequently than once every other month
(for a total of at least six (6) meetings each year), and more often if necessary, at such times and at such place as may be determined by the Executive Committee,
provided that the Members shall be given not fewer than ten (10) business days’ prior written notice of such meetings.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, each
Member shall be entitled to call special meetings of the Executive Committee, provided that the Members’ Representatives shall be given not fewer than ten (10)
business days’ prior written notice of such meetings.  Each Member shall use its best efforts to cause its Representatives to attend such meetings, either in person
or by telephone.  Each Representative shall have the right to grant another Representative its written proxy to vote its Voting Interest.

                          F.          Other Provisions Relating to the Executive Committee.

                                        (1)          All Members shall be entitled to be reimbursed by the Company for their Representatives’ out-of-pocket costs incurred in
connection with their duties and responsibilities as Representatives to the extent provided for in the Business Plan.  Except as otherwise provided in this
Agreement, no Member or Representative, or any Affiliate of either such Person, shall receive any salary or other remuneration for its services rendered pursuant
to this Agreement.

                                         (2)          The Members and their Representatives shall devote such time to the Company business as they deem to be necessary or
desirable in connection with their respective duties and responsibilities hereunder.

                                         (3)          The Executive Committee may appoint subcommittees from time to time which shall operate at the direction and with the
oversight of the Executive Committee.  In no event shall the authority of the subcommittees exceed that of the Executive Committee as provided herein.

                                         (4)          Each Member may change its Representatives and Alternates upon ten (10) days prior written notice to the Executive
Committee.

          7.2.          Development Manager.  The Executive Committee shall either appoint or hire a manager of the development team who shall report to the
Executive Committee.  Such manager shall be referred to herein as the “Development Manager”.

                          A.          The Development Manager’s authority shall be limited to matters directly pertaining to the Master Project.  Subject to the Approval and
oversight of the Executive Committee, the Development Manager shall manage the day to day operations of the Company in accordance with the Business Plan.

                          B.          The Development Manager shall be paid a monthly fee as provided in the Business Plan for its supervision of the day to day operations
of Company.

                          C.          Pardee is hereby appointed as the initial Development Manager of the Company.         
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                                         (1)          Upon ninety (90) days’ written notice to the Development Manager, the Executive Committee shall have the right to remove
the then Development Manager.  In addition, Development Manager shall have the right to resign from its position as Development Manager upon ninety (90)
days’ written notice to the Executive Committee.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Development Manager agrees that promptly following its resignation from its
position as Development Manager, it shall (i) turn over all books, records and files pertaining to the Master Project in its possession, and (ii) be available to
cooperate with the Members, the Executive Committee, and whomever shall replace the Development Manager (the “Replacement DM”), by devoting sufficient
time and personnel as is deemed reasonably necessary by the Executive Committee to familiarize the Replacement DM with the responsibilities of the
Development Manager hereunder, the Business Plan and the Master Project as a whole in order to facilitate an orderly transition of the day-to-day management
responsibilities to the Replacement DM.

                                         (2)          Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Members intend that not later than the commencement of the Development Stage, the
Company shall engage a development management team to replace the Development Manager and who shall be independent and unaffiliated with the Members
(other than by virtue of their employment with the Company) (the “Independent Development Managers”).  The Independent Development Managers shall be
responsible for, among other things, preparing sales packages to solicit, and analyzing and preparing recommendations to the Executive Committee regarding,
offers to purchase Planning Areas from merchant builders.

          7.3.          Project Employees.  The Executive Committee may Approve the hiring of one (1) or more employees of the Company to assist the Company in
carrying out its Business Plan (the “Project Employee(s)”).  The Project Employees shall report to the Executive Committee, but shall be supervised by the
Development Manager (unless otherwise determined by the Executive Committee).  Currently, the Company has hired one Project Employee, Greg Medeiros. 
Following the Approval of the initial Development Business Plan, one (1) or more additional Project Employees shall be appointed by the Executive Committee
to coordinate the sale of the Master Project to merchant builders and/or apartment or commercial developers as appropriate (the “Sales Employee”).  The Sales
Employee shall be responsible for, among other things, preparing sales packages to solicit, and analyzing and preparing recommendations to the Executive
Committee regarding, offers to purchase Planning Areas from merchant builders.

          7.4.          Control by Tejon.  Any decisions and actions pertaining to the ownership, operation, financing, construction or development of the Balance of the
Ranch shall be exclusively controlled by Tejon.  Tejon shall control, without limitation, (i) the construction and development of Regional Improvements on the
Balance of the Ranch, and (ii) the selection, engagement and supervision of engineers, architects, underwriters, attorneys, and any other consultants which Tejon,
in its sole and absolute discretion, desires to employ in connection with the Balance of the Ranch; provided, however, that Tejon will not cause any activity within
the LA County Portion of the Ranch (“LA County Activity”) which will have a materially adverse impact on the Master Project (“Material Adverse Activity”). 
Tejon shall give the Developers sixty (60) days prior written notice of its intent to proceed with an LA County Activity.  If Tejon proceeds with an LA County
Activity and the Developers unanimously disagree with Tejon’s
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determination that such activity will not constitute a Material Adverse Activity, then with the unanimous Approval of the Developers such matter shall be referred
to arbitration in accordance with Section 18.3 hereof.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any LA County Activity which meets any one(1) of the
following criteria shall not be a Material Adverse Activity:  (i) an LA County Activity which is a pre-existing activity, (ii) an LA County Activity which is
otherwise contemplated by this Agreement or the Business Plan, (iii) an LA County Activity which is otherwise Approved by one (1) of the Developers, (iv)
Tejon’s involvement with the water-banking project and AVEK on the Balance of the Ranch, or (v) any conveyance of any of the LA County Portion for the
purposes of establishing conservation easements or wildlife habitats, similar environmental preservation or mitigation transactions or to otherwise settle an
environmental claim.

          7.5.          Duty to the Company and Other Opportunities.

                          A.          Other Activities; Opportunities.  Unless otherwise agreed in writing between the Company and any Member, no Member shall be
required to manage the Company as his or her sole and exclusive function, and any Member may have other business interests and may engage in other activities
in addition to those relating to the Company whether or not in conflict or in competition with the Company subject to the specific limitations of this Section 7.5. 
Except as specifically set forth in this Section 7.5, in furtherance thereof, any such Member may pursue any activity for such Person’s own benefit and account
without any participation, right or claim of any other Member or the Company.

                          B.          LA County Portion.  Tejon intends to develop the LA County Portion either itself or in a joint venture with one (1) or more other
developers.  Before entering into a binding agreement with any developer other than the Developers for a joint venture to develop some or all of the LA County
Portion, Tejon shall notify (the “LA County Portion Notice”) in writing each of the Developers who has not withdrawn from the Company (the “Non-
Withdrawing Developers”).  For a period of twenty (20) days from the date of delivery of the LA County Portion Notice (the “Discussion Period”), Tejon shall
make its Representatives reasonably available to the Representatives of the Non-Withdrawing Developers to discuss, in good faith, any proposals by the Non-
Withdrawing Developers to joint venture the development of some or all of the LA County Portion.  Thereafter, should Tejon decide to proceed forward with a
joint venture to develop some or all of the LA County Portion, it shall be free to do so either with the Non-Withdrawing Developers, with any other party or with
any combination of the foregoing, in each case, on terms and conditions acceptable to Tejon in its sole and absolute discretion and whether or not such terms and
conditions are the same as or more or less favorable than those offered by the Non-Withdrawing Developers during the Discussion Period.  If Tejon fails to
present any Non-Withdrawing Developer with an LA County Portion Notice, then such Non-Withdrawing Developer (and the Affiliates Controlled by such Non-
Withdrawing Developer) shall not be subject to Section 7.5D, below, as of the date such Non-Withdrawing Developer was to have received such notice.  If,
however, Tejon delivers such LA County Portion Notice to a Non-Withdrawing Developer, then Section 7.5D shall remain in effect with respect to such Non-
Withdrawing Developer (and the Affiliates Controlled by such Non-Withdrawing Developer), unless Tejon and such Non-Withdrawing Developer are unable to
reach agreement during the Discussion Period.  If a Non-Withdrawing Developer and Tejon are
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unable to reach an agreement during the Discussion Period, then such Non-Withdrawing Developer (and the Affiliates Controlled by such Non-Withdrawing
Developer) shall no longer be subject to Section 7.5D below on the date that is one (1) year following the expiration of the Discussion Period.

                          C.           Ranch.  The Developers and the Company acknowledge that they do not have any right, title or interest in or to the Existing Property or
any other portion of the Ranch, except as specifically and expressly provided in this Agreement.

                          D.           Non-Competition.  Subject to Section 7.5B above, each of the Developers agrees for itself and for its Affiliates Controlled by such
Developer that during the Term it shall not participate in any manner in the purchase or development of any real property within the area designated as the “Non-
Competition Area” on the map attached as Exhibit “F” hereto until the Company has disposed of (i.e. sold and closed) at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the
developable residential acreage (i.e., exclusive of open spaces, common area lots, public or private streets, etc.) located within the Master Project to merchant
builders (including the Developers and their Affiliates, if applicable) as contemplated by this Agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Member withdraws
from the Company in accordance with this Agreement, on the date which is one (1) year following the effective date of such Member’s withdrawal, such Member
shall no longer be subject to this Section 7.5D. 

                          E.           Utilities.  At the election of the Executive Committee, the Company may develop, control, own, operate, and/or sell the generation,
transmission, distribution, metering, billing and maintenance of utilities (including, without limitation, electrical, gas, and water) and sanitary sewer, wastewater
collection and treatment, garbage and refuse, cable services, and video, voice, and data communication services for the Master Project, whether delivered by cable
or by other means.  The Members agree that such activities shall constitute a Company opportunity and that each Member shall be precluded from pursuing any
such opportunity other than for the benefit of the Company.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, Tejon shall not be restricted in any way
from pursuing any of the foregoing for the benefit of any property located outside of the LA County Portion for its own account to the exclusion of the Company
and the other Members.

          7.6.          Officers.  Subject to the terms and provisions of this Agreement and any written employment agreement, the Executive Committee shall be
entitled to appoint such officers, with such titles and authority as the Executive Committee shall from time to time determine.  Any officers so appointed shall
hold office at the pleasure of the Executive Committee, subject, however, to the terms and conditions of any employment contract with an officer, and shall be
entitled to exercise such powers as shall be delegated to them by the Executive Committee and not inconsistent with this Agreement.  Individual Affiliates of
Members may be appointed as officers as aforesaid, but officers need not be individual Affiliates of Members.

          7.7.          Member Compensation.  No compensation for services rendered shall be paid by the Company to any Member or officer except as Approved by
the Executive Committee or otherwise provided herein or in the Business Plan.  This Section shall not prohibit the payment of sums otherwise due to a person as
reimbursement for expenses incurred on behalf of the
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Company as otherwise provided in this Agreement, as indemnification in accordance with this Agreement, or as a distribution or other payment to a Member
relating to that Member’s Interest in the Company.

          7.8.          Payment of Consultant Fees.  The Members acknowledge that, pursuant to the Business Plan, the Company will be paying fees to certain
consultants which fees may benefit the Balance of the Ranch.

8.        ADDITIONAL COVENANTS BY MEMBERS.

          8.1.          Cost Sharing.  The Members shall use their diligent and good faith efforts to agree upon cost sharing arrangements involving the Company and
the Balance of the Ranch for the construction of the Improvements as shall be more fully set forth in the Entitlement Business Plan and the Development Business
Plan.

          8.2.          Cooperation.  Each Developer and the Company covenants to reasonably cooperate with Tejon and one another in the development of each
Planning Area, the Master Project and the Balance of the Ranch.  Such cooperation shall include, without limitation:

                          A.           Dedications of rights-of-way and granting of easements, licenses, and other documents reasonably necessary to develop any real
property owned by the Company, Tejon or any of the Developers within the Ranch, if any.

                          B.          The participation and contribution toward a Master Project Merchant Builder and Marketing Program.

                          C.          The recordation of appropriate Master Project development declarations, conditions, covenants, and restrictions to establish a coherent
master planned development scheme for the Master Project.

9.        MITIGATION LAND.

          9.1.          Mitigation Value.  To the extent provided in the Development Business Plan and consented to by Tejon during the Entitlement Stage (which
consent may be withheld in its sole and absolute discretion), Tejon shall convey by grant deed additional land owned by Tejon during the Development Stage if
the Company is required to dedicate such land for mitigation purposes to comply with its obligations or conditions of approval for the Entitlements (including
conditions of approval imposed to settle any litigation challenging the Entitlements if such settlement has been approved by Tejon and the Executive Committee,
in their respective sole and absolute discretion) (the “Mitigation Land”).  Unless the Executive Committee unanimously agrees to the contrary, the Mitigation
Land will be valued, free and clear of any monetary liens, at One Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($1,500.00) per acre (the “Mitigation Value”), plus a yield
thereon of five percent (5%) per annum, compounded annually, accruing from and after the earlier of (i) January 1, 2004, or (ii) the date upon which the Certified
EIR is obtained, until the Mitigation Land is conveyed to the Company or some other transferee at the direction of the Executive Committee.
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          9.2.          Payment of Mitigation Value.  The Company shall pay Tejon in cash in the amount of the Mitigation Value upon such conveyance of the
Mitigation Land to or on behalf of the Company.

          9.3.          Mitigation Land Parameters.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Members agree that the land which Tejon shall make available
as Mitigation Land shall meet the following parameters:

                          A.          The Mitigation Land shall be undevelopable land which is impacted in some materially detrimental manner to make it infeasible for
development due to adverse conditions including, without limitation, slopes and drainage problems, endangered species or habitat, and wetlands; and

                          B.          The Members intend that the Mitigation Land shall be a portion of the LA County Portion.  The Developers are not precluded from
requesting that Tejon convey land in addition to or in lieu of such Mitigation Land; provided, however, that although Tejon shall, in good faith, consider such
request, Tejon shall determine whether or not to contribute such land in its sole and absolute discretion.

          9.4.          Sale of Mitigation Land.  All closing costs and expenses shall be allocated between Tejon and the Company in accordance with the closing
customs in Los Angeles County.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, all real estate taxes and assessments payable with respect to the Mitigation Land shall be
apportioned between Tejon and the Company as of Tejon’s conveyance of the Mitigation Land to the Company.  The Company shall obtain a title insurance
policy covering the Mitigation Land in the condition Approved by the Executive Committee.  Tejon shall pay the premium for any standard coverage ALTA title
policies and the Company shall pay the additional premium for any extended coverage ALTA title policies, surveys or endorsements.  If the Mitigation Land is
being conveyed directly to a third party transferee, rather than the Company, then such third party shall instead have the approval rights and obligations of the
Company and the Executive Committee set forth in this Section 9.4.

          9.5.          Non-Exclusive Access.  The Company and Tejon, as appropriate, shall provide non-exclusive access to the Mitigation Land through the Master
Project and the Balance of the Ranch, respectively, if such access is required by the appropriate governmental agency; provided, however, that such non-exclusive
access shall not in any way materially interfere with or affect the Company’s or Tejon’s ownership, operation, construction or development of the Master Project
or the Balance of the Ranch.  It is the Members’ intent that such access shall be provided through existing rights-of-way and that the Company and Tejon shall
have no obligation to construct any improvements in connection with such access, to provide the public with rights of access to the Balance of the Ranch, or to
otherwise incur any cost or expense in connection with providing such access.

10.     SALES OF PLANNING AREAS.

          10.1.          Sales to Developers.  It is the intent of the Members that once developed pursuant to the Development Business Plan, fifty-eight percent (58%)
of the total number of lots approved
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under the Entitlements for the development of for sale single family attached and/or detached residences (collectively, the “Lots”) are to be offered for sale to the
Developers (or their Affiliates) as merchant builders, without initially offering such Lots for sale on the open market (the “Private Sale Lots”), in accordance
with the terms of this Section 10.1 and Section 10.3, below, and the remaining Lots (i.e., forty-two percent (42%) of all of the Lots) (the “Open Market Lots”)
are to be sold on the open market to other merchant builders (which may include one (1) or more of the Developers or their Affiliates).  It is further the intent of
the Members that of such Private Sale Lots, each of Pardee (together with its Affiliates) and Standard Pacific (together with its Affiliates), in each case as a
merchant builder, shall be entitled to purchase pursuant to the terms of Section 10.3, below, not less than thirty-four and one-half percent (34.5%) of the total
number of Private Sale Lots and Lewis (together with its Affiliates), as a merchant builder, shall be entitled to purchase pursuant to the terms of Section 10.3,
below, not less than thirty-one percent (31%) of the total number of Private Sale Lots.  The Lots that are to be offered for sale to the Developers and/or in the open
market pursuant to this Section 10 and the method of marketing such Lots shall be determined by the Executive Committee.  In that connection, the Members
have agreed that the Lots shall be conveyed to the Developers (and their Affiliates), as well as to merchant builders not Affiliated with Developers, on the then
prevailing market rate and terms so as to maximize the earnings generated by the Company from the Master Project consistent with prudent and customary master
land development business practices.  In furtherance of the foregoing, the Members have tentatively agreed to the procedures set forth in Section 10.3, below,
with respect to the Private Sale Lots to be offered for sale to the Developers.  The procedures set forth below may be modified by the Executive Committee to the
extent reasonably necessary to accomplish the intention of the Members set forth in this Section 10.1.

          10.2.          Responsibilities of the Sales Employee.  The Sales Employee shall have the responsibility to prepare sales packages and, where appropriate,
solicit offers from third party merchant builders or from the appropriate Developer or its Affiliate.  Such sales packages and solicitations shall be prepared in
accordance with the Development Business Plan or as otherwise Approved by the Executive Committee.  The sales package shall include a sales price (“Offer
Price”) for each group of Private Sale Lots to be offered for sale to the Developers or their Affiliates (the “Offered Lot Group”) in accordance with the
Development Business Plan or as otherwise Approved by the Executive Committee, a response deadline determined by the Executive Committee, and such other
terms and conditions as are determined by the Executive Committee (the “Company Offer”).  The Sales Employee shall also analyze all offers received by the
Company and make recommendations to the Executive Committee concerning the best offer.

          10.3.          Developers.

                            A.           Developer Response.  Unless otherwise approved by Tejon and the Developers, only one (1) Developer at a time may accept a
Company Offer or submit a “Counter-Offer” (as defined below) for any Offered Lot Group in accordance with the following rotation system:
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                                         (1)          In order to determine the order in which each Developer has the right to submit an offer, the following rotation system shall be
utilized.  Prior to the first Offered Lot Group being offered for sale by the Company, the Developers shall draw straws to determine the order of the rotation
system with the first Developer being the one that draws the shortest straw, the second Developer being the one that draws the next shortest straw, and the third
Developer being the one that draws the longest straw.  Tejon shall officiate the drawing of straws.  At any point in time with respect to each Offered Lot Group,
the Developer first in line to make an offer on such Offered Lot Group shall be referred to as the “First Developer” with respect to such Offered Lot Group, the
Developer second in line to make an offer on such Offered Lot Group shall be referred to herein as the “Second Developer” with respect to such Offered Lot
Group, and the Developer third in line to make an offer on such Offered Lot Group shall be referred to herein as the “Third Developer”.

                                         (2)          If more than one Offered Lot Group is being offered for sale by the Company to the Developers at the same time, then the First
Developer shall have the right to choose which Offered Lot Group shall be offered to such First Developer in the same order of priority established pursuant to
the rotation system established in this Section 10.3 (i.e., the First Developer in the rotation system at the time of such offer of sale by the Company shall select
first, then the Second Developer, and so on).

                                         (3)          As the next Offered Lot Group (the “New Offered Lot Group”) is offered for sale by the Company, the First Developer on the
previous Offered Lot Group offered for sale by the Company (the “Previous Offered Lot Group”) shall become the Third Developer on the New Offered Lot
Group (irrespective of whether such Developer actually made an offer on or purchased such Previous Offered Lot Group ), the Second Developer on the Previous
Offered Lot Group shall become the First Developer on the New Offered Lot Group (irrespective of whether such Developer actually made an offer on or
purchased such Previous Offered Lot Group ), and the Third Developer on the Previous Offered Lot Group (if applicable) shall become the Second Developer on
the New Offered Lot Group (irrespective of whether such Developer actually made an offer on or purchased such Previous Offered Lot Group).

                                         (4)          With respect to each Offered Lot Group, the following procedure shall apply:

                                                        (a)          If the First Developer desires to purchase such Offered Lot Group (a “Responding Developer”), then it shall either (i)
accept the Company Offer and agree to purchase the Offered Lot Group  in accordance with the Company’s sales package for such Offered Lot Group by
delivering to the Executive Committee written notice of such acceptance within the time period set forth in the Company Offer (“Developer Acceptance”), or (ii)
deliver a written offer to the Executive Committee at such price and on such terms and conditions as are determined in the sole and absolute discretion of such
Responding Developer prior to the expiration of the time period set forth in the Company Offer (the “Counter-Offer”).  If a Responding Developer timely
delivers a Developer Acceptance, then the Company shall sell such Offered Lot Group to such Developer (or its Affiliate) on the terms and conditions set forth in
the Company Offer.  If the Responding Developer timely delivers a Counter-Offer, then the Executive Committee may accept or reject such Counter-Offer in its
sole and absolute discretion.
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If the Executive Committee does not accept such Responding Developer’s Counter-Offer (or the Company and the First Developer otherwise do not agree to the
purchase and sale of the Offered Lot Group), then such Offered Lot Group shall be offered for sale (initially on the same terms as the last offer made by the
Company to the First Developer) to the Second Developer and then the Third Developer (if the Second Developer does not timely deliver a Developer
Acceptance or the Company and the Second Developer otherwise do not agree to the purchase and sale of the Offered Lot Group), in accordance with Section
10.3A(4)(b) below; provided that the Executive Committee may only accept an offer from any such other Developer if such offer is based on a purchase price
which is at least as favorable for the Company as the purchase price set forth in the highest Counter-Offer previously rejected by the Company for such Offered
Lot Group or, if no such Counter-Offer was made, the Offer Price; or

                                                         (b)          If such First Developer does not either timely deliver a Developer Acceptance or a Counter-Offer, then such Offered
Lot Group shall be offered to the Second Developer and all of the procedures applicable to the First Developer in Section 10.3A(4)(a) shall be repeated for the
Second Developer.  If the Offered Lot Group is not purchased by the Second Developer, then such procedures shall be repeated for the Third Developer.

                                         (5)          If , after the foregoing procedures have been applied to the First Developer and repeated for the Second Developer and the
Third Developer, (i) a Developer Acceptance is not timely delivered by any Developer and/or (ii) the Executive Committee fails to reach an agreement with any
Developer in accordance with the procedures described above, then such Offered Lot Group shall no longer be considered an Offered Lot Group and shall be
offered for sale by the Sales Employee in the open market to third-party merchant builders that are not Affiliated with any Member; provided that the Executive
Committee shall not be authorized or permitted to Approve (without the unanimous consent of the Representatives) the acceptance of an offer from a third-party
merchant builder unless such offer would result in net proceeds to the Company equal to at least 95% of either (i) the highest Counter-Offer with respect to that
Offered Lot Group, or (ii) if no Counter-Offer was made by any Developer, the Offer Price.

                                         (6)          Lewis is presently not engaged in the business of developing and building for sale single-family attached and/or detached
residences.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lewis has negotiated for the right to purchase Lots in accordance with the terms of this Section 10.3 since Lewis may
in the future elect to engage in such business.  However, if Lewis hereafter determines that it will not re-enter the business of developing and building for sale
single-family attached and/or detached residences and, as a result thereof, elects to waive any of its rights to purchase Lots pursuant to this Section 10.3, then it
shall deliver written notice thereof to the Executive Committee.  Lewis shall have the right to make or not make such determination and/or election in its sole and
absolute discretion.  If and only if such determination and election is made by Lewis as evidenced by the delivery of such written notice, then Pardee and
Standard Pacific shall succeed (in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests) to the rights of Lewis to purchase Lots pursuant to this Section 10.3.
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          10.4.          Commercial Parcels. 

                            A.           It is the intent of the Members that, from time to time, upon the completion of the development of parcels pursuant to the Development
Business Plan that have been entitled for the development of retail improvements or for rent multi-family improvements, (1) such parcels that will contain forty
percent (40%) of the gross square footage of all of the improvements to be constructed on parcels of the Master Project which have been entitled for the
development of retail improvements (the “Retail Parcels”) and (2) such parcels that will contain one hundred percent (100%) of the gross square footage of all of
the improvements to be constructed on parcels of the Master Project which have been entitled for the development of for rent multi-family improvements (the
“Multi-Family Parcels”) are to be offered for sale to the “Commercial Developers” (as defined below) as commercial builders, without initially offering such
Retail Parcels and Multi-Family Parcels for sale on the open market (the “Private Sale Commercial Parcels”), in accordance with the terms of this Section 10.4. 
The remainder of the Retail Parcels (i.e., parcels upon which sixty percent (60%) of the gross square footage of all of the improvements to be constructed on
Retail Parcels are to be constructed) (the “Open Market Retail Parcels”) are to be sold in the open market to commercial builders (which may include one (1) or
more of the Members and/or their Affiliates).  All of the Retail Parcels, with the sole exception of the Open Market Retail Parcels, shall be referred to herein as
the “Private Sale Retail Parcels.”  It is further the intent of the Members that each of Tejon (together with its Affiliates) and Lewis (together with its Affiliates),
each as commercial builder, shall have the right to offer to purchase (1) Private Sale Retail Parcels (that may be offered for sale to the Commercial Developers
pursuant to this Section 10.4A) which have been entitled for the development of not less than twenty percent (20%) of the gross square footage of all of the
improvements to be constructed on Retail Parcels and (2) Multi-Family Parcels which have been entitled for the development of not less than fifty percent (50%)
of the gross square footage of all of the improvements to be constructed on Multi-Family Parcels.  In no event shall the terms “Retail Parcels” and/or “Multi-
Family Parcels” be interpreted to include, and in no event shall any Member have any preferential rights to purchase or to offer to purchase, any of the town
center parcels or any parcels of the Master Project which have been entitled for office or industrial development.  Rather, the town center parcels and any parcels
of the Master Project which have been entitled for office or industrial development shall be offered for sale to such Person(s) as may be Approved by the
Executive Committee in writing, without preference to Lewis, Tejon or any other Person.  The Retail Parcels and Multi-Family Parcels that are to be offered for
sale to the Commercial Developers and/or in the open market pursuant to this Section 10.4 and the method of marketing such Retail Parcels and Multi-Family
Parcels shall be determined by the Executive Committee.  In that connection, the Members have agreed that the Retail Parcels and the Multi-Family Parcels shall
be conveyed to both the Commercial Developers (and their Affiliates), as well as to merchant builders not Affiliated with the Commercial Developers, on the then
prevailing market rates and terms so as to maximize the earnings generated by the Company from the Master Project consistent with prudent and customary
master land development business practices.  In furtherance of the foregoing, the Members have tentatively agreed to the procedures set forth in this Section 10.4
for the offering for sale of the Multi-Family Parcels and the Retail Parcels to the Commercial Developers.  The procedures set forth below may be modified by
the Executive Committee to the extent reasonably necessary to accomplish the intention of the Members set forth in this Section 10.4A.
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For purposes of this Section 10.4, Tejon and Lewis shall be collectively referred to as the “Commercial Developers.”

                            B.           The Sales Employee shall have the responsibility to prepare sales packages and, where appropriate, solicit offers from third party
commercial builders or from the appropriate Commercial Developer or its Affiliate.  Such sales packages and solicitations shall be prepared in accordance with
the Development Business Plan or as otherwise Approved by the Executive Committee.  The sales package shall include a sales price (“Commercial Parcel
Offer Price”) for each of the Private Sale Commercial Parcels, in accordance with the Development Business Plan or as otherwise Approved by the Executive
Committee, a response deadline determined by the Executive Committee, and such other terms and conditions as are determined by the Executive Committee (the
“CP Company Offer”).  The Sales Employee shall also analyze such offers and make recommendations to the Executive Committee concerning the best offer.

                            C.           Unless otherwise approved by the Commercial Developers, only one (1) Commercial Developer at a time may accept a CP Company
Offer or submit a CP Counter-Offer (as defined below) for any Private Sale Commercial Parcel (each a “Commercial Parcel”) in accordance with the following
rotation system:

                                           (1)          In order to determine the order in which each such Commercial Developer has the right to submit an offer, the following
rotation system shall be utilized.  Prior to the first Commercial Parcel being offered for sale by the Company, the Commercial Developers shall draw straws to
determine the order of the rotation system with the first Commercial Developer being the one that draws the shortest straw, and the second Commercial Developer
being the one that draws the longest straw.  The Development Manager shall officiate the drawing of straws.  At any point in time with respect to each
Commercial Parcel, the Commercial Developer first in line to make an offer on such Commercial Parcel shall be referred to as the “First Commercial
Developer” with respect to such Commercial Parcel and the Commercial Developer second in line to make an offer on such Commercial Parcel shall be referred
to herein as the “Second Commercial Developer” with respect to such Commercial Parcel.

                                           (2)          If more than one Commercial Parcel is being offered for sale by the Company at the same time, then the First Commercial
Developer shall have the right to choose which Commercial Parcel shall be offered to such First Commercial Developer in the same order of priority established
pursuant to the rotation system established in this Section 10.4C.

                                           (3)          As the next Commercial Parcel (the “New Commercial Parcel”) is offered for sale by the Company, the First Commercial
Developer on the previous Commercial Parcel offered for sale by the Company (the “Previous Commercial Parcel”) shall become the last Commercial
Developer on the New Commercial Parcel (irrespective of whether such Commercial Developer actually made an offer on or purchased such Previous
Commercial Parcel), the Second Commercial Developer on the Previous Commercial Parcel shall become the
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First Commercial Developer on the New Commercial Parcel (irrespective of whether such Developer actually made an offer on or purchased such Previous
Commercial Parcel ).

                                           (4)          With respect to each Commercial Parcel, the following procedure shall apply:

                                                          (a)          If the First Commercial Developer desires to purchase such Commercial Parcel (a “Responding Commercial
Developer”), then it shall either (i) accept the CP Company Offer and agree to purchase the Commercial Parcel in accordance with the Company’s sales package
for such Commercial Parcel  by delivering to the Executive Committee written notice of such acceptance within the time period set forth in the CP Company
Offer (“Commercial Developer Acceptance”), or (ii) deliver a written offer to the Executive Committee at such price and on such terms and conditions as are
determined in the sole and absolute discretion of such Responding Commercial Developer prior to the expiration of the time period set forth in the CP Company
Offer (the “CP Counter-Offer”).  If a Responding Commercial Developer timely delivers a Commercial Developer Acceptance, then the Company shall sell
such Commercial Parcel to such Commercial Developer (or its Affiliate) on the terms and conditions set forth in the CP Company Offer.  If the Responding
Commercial Developer timely delivers a CP Counter-Offer, then the Executive Committee may accept or reject such CP Counter-Offer in its sole and absolute
discretion.  If the Executive Committee does not accept such Responding Commercial Developer’s CP Counter-Offer (or the Company and the First Commercial
Developer otherwise do not agree to the purchase and sale of the Commercial Parcel), then such Commercial Parcel shall be offered for sale (on the same terms as
the last offer made by the Company to the First Commercial Developer) to the Second Commercial Developer, in accordance with Section 10.4C(4)(b) below;
provided that the Executive Committee may only accept an offer from any such other Commercial Developer if such offer is based on a purchase price which is at
least as favorable for the Company as the purchase price set forth in the highest CP Counter-Offer previously rejected by the Company for such Commercial
Parcel.

                                                           (b)          If such First Commercial Developer does not either timely deliver a Commercial Developer Acceptance or a CP
Counter-Offer, then such Commercial Parcel shall be offered to the Second Commercial Developer and all of the procedures applicable to the First Commercial
Developer in Section 10.4C(4)(a) shall be repeated for the Second Commercial Developer.

                                           (5)          If , after the foregoing procedures have been applied to the First Commercial Developer and repeated for the Second
Commercial Developer, (i) a Commercial Developer Acceptance is not timely delivered by any Commercial Developer and/or (ii) the Executive Committee fails
to reach an agreement with any Commercial Developer in accordance with the procedures described above, then such Commercial Parcel shall no longer be
considered a Commercial Parcel and shall be offered for sale by the Sales Employee in the open market to third-party commercial builders that are not Affiliated
with any Member; provided that the Executive Committee shall not be authorized or permitted to Approve (without the unanimous consent of the
Representatives) the acceptance of an offer from a third-party commercial builder unless such offer would result in net proceeds to the Company equal to at least
95% of either (i)
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the highest CP Counter-Offer with respect to that Commercial Parcel, or (ii) if no CP Counter-Offer was made by any Commercial Developer, the Commercial
Parcel Offer Price.

11.     ACCOUNTING AND RECORDS.

          11.1.          Records and Accounting.  Unless the Executive Committee elects otherwise, the books and records of the Company shall be kept, and the
financial position and the results of its operations recorded, by the Development Manager in accordance with the accounting methods elected to be followed by
the Company under generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied.  The books and records of the Company shall reflect all Company transactions
and shall be appropriate and adequate for the Company’s business in accordance with the Act.

          11.2.          Access to Accounting and Other Records.  All books and records of the Company shall be maintained at the Company’s principal place of
business, and each Member and the Member’s duly authorized representatives, shall have access to them at such office of the Company and the right to inspect
and copy them at reasonable times.  Further, any Member may request the Company to deliver a current list of Members, with addresses, Capital Contributions
(including, without limitation, the Additional Development Land Contributions) and Percentage Interests, and a copy of the Company’s tax returns.

          11.3.          Company Interim Reports.  The Development Manager shall deliver to the Executive Committee the following reports for the applicable period
all in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Executive Committee:

                            A.           A calendar quarterly budget variance substantially in a form Approved by the Executive Committee within fifteen (15) days following
the end of each such quarter;

                            B.           During the Development Stage, a monthly sales report showing sales opened, sales closed, sales canceled and sales prices within five
(5) days following the end of each such months;

                            C.           A calendar quarterly financial statement of the Company including a balance sheet, income statement, a statement of cash flow, a
statement of sources and uses of funds, and a detail of accounts receivable and accounts payable within fifteen (15) days following the end of each such quarter;
and

                            D.           A calendar quarter update to the then current Business Plan (which update shall be prepared and provided for informational purposes
only and shall not be deemed a part of the Business Plan, unless the Executive Committee decides, to incorporate all or any part of such update into the Business
Plan in accordance with Section 7.1C(2) of this Agreement) within fifteen (15) days following the end of each such quarter.

          11.4.          Tax Matters for the Company Handled by Members and Tax Matters Partner.  The Members shall from time to time cause the Company to make
such tax elections as they deem to be in the best interests of the Company and the Members.  The Development Manager shall act as the tax matters partner
(“TMP”).  The TMP shall represent the Company (at the
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Company’s expense) in connection with all examinations of the Company’s affairs by tax authorities, including resulting judicial and administrative proceedings,
and shall expend Company funds for professional services and costs associated therewith.  The TMP shall oversee the Company’s tax affairs in the overall best
interests of the Company; provided, however, that the TMP shall not settle any matter with the Internal Revenue Service, or otherwise extend the statute of
limitations applicable to any Member, without the prior written consent of such Member.  If for any reason the TMP can no longer serve in that capacity, the
Members may designate another Member to be TMP.  The TMP shall cause the Company to deliver to each Member the following:

                            A.           Quarterly Tax Information.  On a calendar quarterly basis, no later than fifteen (15) days prior to the next succeeding date on which
individual estimated Federal income tax payment is due, a statement of pre-tax net income (loss) of the Company for the then most recently completed calendar
quarter and the current balance of each Member’s Book Capital Account; and

                            B.           Annual Tax Information.  Within ninety (90) days after the end of each fiscal year all information relating to the Company necessary
for the preparation of such Member’s federal and state income tax returns.

          11.5.          Company Year End Reports.  Within ninety (90) days following the end of each calendar year, the Development Manager shall deliver to the
Executive Committee for such calendar year a final financial statement of the Company prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
consistently applied, and certified by an officer of the Development Manager.  The financial statements of the Company shall not be audited; provided, however,
the Executive Committee may elect to cause the CPA to audit the Financial Statements of the Company at the Company’s expense.  Notwithstanding the
foregoing, any Member may elect to cause the CPA to audit such statements at such Member’s expense; provided, however, that under all circumstances the
financial statements of the Company for any given year shall only be audited once a year.  The year end financial statements of the Company shall include a
balance sheet, an income statement, statement of cash flow, statement of sources and uses of funds and such other information and reports as the Executive
Committee may reasonably request.

12.     TRANSFER OF INTERESTS, CHANGES IN MEMBERS

          12.1.          Transfer and Assignment of Member’s Interest.

                            A.           Prohibition.  Other than as expressly provided for in this Agreement, no Member shall be entitled to assign, convey, sell, encumber or
in any way alienate (“Transfer”) such Member’s Interest in the Company, or any part thereof or interest therein, except with the unanimous written approval of
the Members, which Approval may be withheld in the sole and absolute discretion of each such Member.

                            B.           Securities Laws.  In addition to the restrictions contained in subsection (a) above, no Member shall assign, convey, sell, encumber or in
any way alienate all or any part of
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such Member’s Interest in the Company without registration under applicable federal and state securities laws, or unless the Member delivers an opinion of
counsel or other evidence satisfactory to the Executive Committee that registration under such laws is not required.

                            C.           Admission of Transferees.  Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, a transferee shall have the right to become
a substitute Member if (i) the requirements of subsections (a) and (b) hereof are met, (ii) such Person executes instruments satisfactory to the Executive
Committee accepting and adopting the terms and provisions of this Agreement, and (iii) such Person pays any reasonable expenses in connection with such
Person’s admission as a substitute Member.

          12.2.          Effects of Transfer.

                            A.           Effective Time.  Any permitted transfer of all or any portion of a Member’s Interest in the Company will take effect on the first day of
the month following approval as provided hereinabove, or otherwise as provided in this Agreement or approved by the Executive Committee, as applicable, and
execution of a counterpart of this Agreement by the transferee which has been approved by the Executive Committee.  Any permitted transferee of an Interest in
the Company shall take subject to terms and provisions of, including those relating to the restrictions on transfer imposed by, this Agreement.

                            B.           Transfers Void.  Any attempted transfer of a Member’s Interest in the Company in violation of this Agreement shall be void and of no
force or effect.  The purported transferee shall have no right to participate in the management of the business and affairs of the Company or to become a Member,
or to receive distributions from the Company, or any other rights whatsoever.  The Member attempting such transfer shall remain a Member.

13.     WITHDRAWAL.

          13.1          During the Entitlement Stage.  No Member may withdraw from the Company, unless such withdrawal is in accordance with this Section 13.1.

                            A.           Withdrawing Developer During Entitlement Stage.  A Developer may withdraw under this Section 13.1 only during the Entitlement
Stage.  During the Entitlement Stage, a Developer may elect to withdraw as a Member of the Company by delivering written notice (the “Withdrawal Notice”)
to Tejon and the other Developers.  In addition, a Developer shall be deemed to have elected to withdraw as a Member of the Company (a “Deemed
Withdrawal”) if (i) such Developer is the only Member that does not approve the initial Development Business Plan pursuant to Section 2.3B(2), or (ii) such
Developer fails to make an Entitlement Stage Contribution or an Additional Entitlement Stage Contribution.

                                           (1)          At the option of the Withdrawing Developer, the Withdrawal Notice may include the name of a replacement developer
(“Substitute Developer”) who would succeed to all rights, and assume all of the obligations of, the Withdrawing Developer.  If the Withdrawing Developer has
withdrawn pursuant to a Deemed Withdrawal, then it may deliver written notice (the “Alternate Notice”) of the Substitute Developer to Tejon and the remaining
Developers within three (3) business days following the effective date of such Deemed
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Withdrawal.  In the Withdrawal Notice or the Alternate Notice, whichever is applicable, the Withdrawing Developer shall disclose in writing to the Members all
terms and conditions for the proposed acquisition by the Substitute Developer of the Interest of the Withdrawing Member.  Any payment by the Substitute
Developer to the Withdrawing Developer for its interest in the Company in excess of the Withdrawing Developer’s outstanding Capital Contributions to date
made in accordance with this Agreement shall be paid directly to the Company and shall not be treated as a Capital Contribution or otherwise be credited to the
Book Capital Account of the Withdrawing Developer or Substitute Developer.

                                           The Withdrawing Developer shall have the right to transfer its Interest to the Substitute Developer if (i) the Company does not timely
elect to exercise its right of first refusal pursuant to Section 13.1(A)(2) below, (ii) the Members unanimously consent in writing to such transfer within forty-five
(45) days after the delivery of the Withdrawal Notice or the Alternate Notice (the “Transfer Period”), which consent may be withheld in the sole and absolute
discretion of each such Member, and (iii) the Withdrawing Developer and the Substitute Developer comply with all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement
including, without limitation, Section 12.  Upon the admission of a Substitute Developer, the Withdrawing Developer shall have no further obligation, duty, right,
title or interest in or to the Company or the Master Project (including any Capital Contributions previously made by such Withdrawing Developer).

                                           (2)          The Company shall have a right of first refusal for a period of forty-five (45) days following the delivery of the Withdrawal
Notice or Alternate Notice, whichever is applicable, naming a Substitute Developer to acquire the Withdrawing Developer’s Interest on the same terms and
conditions as those being offered by the Substitute Developer (provided the purchase price to be paid by the Company shall not exceed the Withdrawing
Developer’s outstanding Capital Contributions to date).  The Company may elect to exercise such right by delivering written notice of such election to the
Withdrawing Member prior to the expiration of such forty-five (45) day period.  If the Company exercises its right of first refusal, then (i) the respective
Percentage Interests of Tejon and the Remaining Developers shall each be increased, in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests, by the reduction in the
Percentage Interest of the Withdrawing Developer, (ii) each remaining Member shall succeed to a proportionate share of any other rights of the Withdrawing
Developer (including, without limitation, the right of such Withdrawing Developer to receive distributions of Available Cash pursuant to Section 6.1E and the
corresponding allocations of Profits and Losses pursuant to the Tax Appendix attached hereto as Appendix “A”), which proportionate share shall equal the
Percentage Interest of such Member divided by the Percentage Interests of all of the remaining Members, and (iii) each remaining Member shall assume, in
writing, a proportionate share, based upon the increase in the Percentage Interest of such Members of the duties and obligations of the Withdrawing Developer
including, without limitation, the contribution of all of the Capital Contributions and the provision of all Credit Enhancements, if any, that the Withdrawing
Developer was required to contribute or provide to the Company prior to its withdrawal as a member.  The closing of the acquisition of any Withdrawing
Developer’s Interest pursuant to this Section 13.1A(2) shall take place at the principal place of business of the Company and the Withdrawing Member hereby
agrees to execute any and all documents that are reasonably necessary in the opinion of the other Members in order to effectuate the transfer of the
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Withdrawing Member’s Interest (and its withdrawal as a member of the Company).  The exercise of the foregoing right of first refusal shall require the
unanimous Approval of the Remaining Developers and Tejon.

                                           (3)          Should the Company not elect to exercise its right of first refusal or any of the Remaining Developers and/or Tejon fail to
Approve the Substitute Developer, then the Withdrawing Developer shall have the right to retract (the “Retraction”) the Withdrawal Notice or the Deemed
Withdrawal, whichever is applicable, and resume its position as a Member of the Company (a “Reinstated Developer”) as if the Withdrawal Notice had never
been delivered by the Reinstated Developer or the Deemed Withdrawal never occurred; provided, however, that in order to be effective, (i) the Retraction must be
made by written notice (the “Retraction Notice”) from the Withdrawing Developer to the Remaining Developers and Tejon within five (5) business days
following the earlier of (a) the Withdrawing Developer’s receipt of written notice from any of the Remaining Developers or Tejon that it or they have disapproved
of the admission of the Substitute Developer and the Company’s exercise of its right of first refusal, or (b) the expiration of the Transfer Period, (ii) concurrently
with the delivery of the Retraction Notice, the Reinstated Developer shall have contributed any Capital Contributions which it would have been required to
contribute had it never withdrawn, and (iii) the Reinstated Developer shall have no further rights under Section 13.1A(1), (2), (3) or (4).  Following such
Retraction, should the Reinstated Developer attempt to again withdraw from the Company, such Developer shall be deemed to have withdrawn from the
Company and shall have no right of reimbursement from, or any further right, title or interest in, the Company or to the Master Project (including any Capital
Contributions previously made by such Reinstated Developer), except that (a) the amount of the Withdrawing Developer’s total Entitlement Stage Contributions
and Additional Entitlement Stage Contributions (if applicable) which have been made to the date of the Withdrawal Notice or effective date of the Deemed
Withdrawal shall be converted to Subordinated Debt, and (b) its Additional Development Land Contribution shall be converted to the Contingent Note.

                                                         (i)          As used herein the following terms shall have the following meanings:

                                                                       A.           “Contingent Note” shall mean an unsecured loan to the Company in an amount equal to the Withdrawing
Developer’s Additional Development Land Contribution.  Such loan shall not bear interest and the repayment of such loan shall be contingent upon the Company
obtaining the Entitlements substantially consistent with the Entitlement Business Plan and this Agreement.  The Contingent Note shall be due and payable upon
the earlier of (i) the date which is one hundred and twenty (120) days following the date on which the Company obtains such Entitlements, or (ii) in accordance
with Section 6.2A, following a sale of the Additional Development Land prior to the commencement of the Development Stage.

                                                                       B.           “Subordinated Debt” shall mean an unsecured loan to the Company which shall not bear interest and the
repayment of which shall be solely from Available Cash and subordinated to (a) all expenses, liabilities and debt of the Company and reasonable reserves
established by the Developers, other than the Withdrawing
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Developer, and Tejon; and (b) the payment of the Developers’, other than the Withdrawing Developer, and Tejon’s (i) Capital Contributions and loans made in
accordance herewith, and (ii) an internal rate of return computed with reference to such Capital Contributions and loans of twenty-five percent (25%) per annum. 
Thereafter, the Subordinated Debt shall be paid from fifty percent (50%) of the remaining Available Cash of the Company.  The foregoing internal rate of return
shall be calculated in accordance with the method described on Exhibit “E” attached hereto.

                                           (4)          If (i) a Substitute Developer is not admitted to the Company in accordance with Section 13.1A(1) within sixty (60) days
following the delivery of the Withdrawal Notice or Alternate Notice (the “Sixty Day Withdrawal Period”), (ii) the Company does not exercise its right of first
refusal set forth in Section 13.1A(2), and (iii) the Withdrawing Developer has not made a Retraction pursuant to Section 13.1(A)(3), then the Withdrawing
Developer shall be deemed to have withdrawn from the Company as of the expiration of the Sixty Day Withdrawal Period and shall have no right of
reimbursement from, or any further right, title or interest in or to, the Company or the Master Project (including any Capital Contributions previously made by
such Withdrawing Developer), except that (a) the amount of the Withdrawing Developer’s total Entitlement Stage Contributions and Additional Entitlement Stage
Contributions (if applicable) which have been made to the date of the Withdrawal Notice or effective date of the Deemed Withdrawal shall be converted to
Subordinated Debt, and (b) its Additional Development Land Contribution shall be converted to the Contingent Note.

                            B.           Post Withdrawal Acquisition/Admission Rights.  Each Remaining Developer shall have the right, but not the obligation, to elect to
acquire the entire Interest previously held by the Withdrawing Developer for no consideration by delivering written notice of such election to Tejon within thirty
(30) days after the expiration of the Sixty Day Withdrawal Period.  If more than one (1) Remaining Developer elects to acquire the entire Interest previously held
by the Withdrawing Developer, then such Interest shall be acquired by such Remaining Developers in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests (or in
such other proportion as is agreed to in writing by the Remaining Developers).  Following the election of the Remaining Developer(s) to acquire the Interest
previously held by the Withdrawing Member pursuant to this Section 13.1B, such Remaining Developer(s) shall succeed to and assume (in proportion to the
Interest acquired by each such Remaining Developer pursuant to this Section 13.1B) all of the duties and obligations of the Withdrawing Developer including,
without limitation, the contribution of all of the Capital Contributions and the provision of those Credit Enhancements, if any, which the Withdrawing Developer
was required to have contributed or provided to the Company in accordance herewith had such Developer not withdrawn; provided that such Remaining
Developer(s) must make such assumption in writing and contribute any Capital Contributions and provide any Credit Enhancements, if any, then due from the
Withdrawing Developer(s) within thirty (30) days after the expiration of the Sixty Day Withdrawal Period.  Should one (1) or two (2) Remaining Developers
remain, Executive Committee Approval shall require a majority of the Representatives of the Members.  If the Remaining Developer(s) proceed(s) in accordance
with this Section 13.1B, then each Remaining Developer shall succeed to a proportionate share, based on the Interest acquired by such Developer pursuant to this
Section 13.1B, of the rights of the Withdrawing Developer including, without limitation, the Book Capital Account and Capital Contributions of such
Withdrawing Developer (but exclusive
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of any Capital Contributions of the Withdrawing Developer that were converted into the Contingent Note or Subordinated Debt).

                                       If the Remaining Developer(s) do not elect to acquire the entire Interest of the Withdrawing Developer in accordance with this Section
13.1B, then Tejon and the Remaining Developers shall have the right, for a period of one hundred eighty (180) days following the expiration of the thirty (30) day
period referenced above in this Section 13.1B, to carry on negotiations with other developers to replace the Withdrawing Developer(s) on substantially the same
terms and conditions binding upon the Remaining Developer(s), subject to the consent of all of the Remaining Developer(s) and Tejon.  Such consent to a
substitute developer may be withheld by each such Member in its sole and absolute discretion.  If (i) the Remaining Developer(s) proceed in accordance with the
first paragraph of this Section 13.1B, or (ii) the Withdrawing Developer(s) is/are replaced in accordance with the terms of this paragraph; and Tejon and the
Remaining Developers have (together with any replacement Developer) Approved or otherwise agreed upon the Development Business Plan and the remaining
Development Stage Conditions are satisfied in accordance with Section 2.3, then the Company shall commence the Development Stage.

                            C.           Dissolution Upon Withdrawal.  Tejon shall have the right to dissolve the Company and wind up its business affairs in an orderly
fashion following the withdrawal of a Withdrawing Developer if (i) a Substitute Developer is not admitted as a member of the Company pursuant to Section
13.1A(1), (ii) the Company does not exercise its right of first refusal pursuant to Section 13.1A(2), (iii) the Withdrawing Developer does not deliver a Retraction
Notice pursuant to Section 13.1(A)(3), (iv) one (1) or more of the Remaining Developers do not acquire the entire Interest of the Withdrawing Developer pursuant
to Section 13.1B, and (v) Tejon and the Remaining Developer(s) do not replace the Withdrawing Developer with another developer in accordance with the terms
of Section 13.1B.  Tejon may exercise its right to dissolve the Company pursuant to this Section 13.1C by delivering written notice (the “Dissolution Notice”) of
such election to the Remaining Developers within ninety (90) days following the expiration of the one hundred eighty (180) day period referenced in Section
13.1B, above.

          13.2.          Limited Withdrawal Rights.  The right of a Developer to withdraw in accordance with this Section 13 shall be subject to the following:

                            A.           A Developer may not withdraw once the Company has obtained Third Party Financing for the development of the Master Project.

                            B.           A Developer may not withdraw if the exercise of such right would violate any prohibitions or restrictions against transfers or
withdrawals provided in any contract or agreement, including this Agreement, to which the Company is subject.

                            C.           A Developer may not withdraw following the commencement of the Development Stage.
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14.      DISSOLUTION AND LIQUIDATION.

          14.1.          Events Giving Rise to Dissolution.  No act, thing, occurrence, event or circumstance shall cause or result in the dissolution of the Company,
except that the happening of any one of the following events shall result in the immediate dissolution of the Company:

                            A.           Unanimous Agreement.  The unanimous agreement of the Representatives pursuant to the terms of Section 7.1 hereof;

                            B.           Failure to Satisfy Development Stage Conditions.  The failure to satisfy all of the Development Stage Conditions on or before the
expiration of the Entitlement Period followed by the delivery of written notice electing to dissolve the Company sent by either (i) the Executive Committee to all
the Members, (ii) all of the Remaining Developers to Tejon, or (iii) Tejon to all of the Developers (provided such election under this clause (iii) may only be made
on or after March 10, 2010);

                            C.           Failure to Approve Development Business Plan.  Upon the written election of Tejon delivered to the Developers if Tejon and at least
two (2) of the Developers fail to Approve the Development Business Plan despite the diligent and good faith efforts of the Members made pursuant to Section
2.2B to agree upon such development plan;

                            D.           Dissolution Notice.  The delivery by Tejon of a Dissolution Notice in accordance with the terms of Section 13.1C;

                            E.           Failure of Tejon to Contribute Existing Property.  Upon the written election of a Majority-in-Interest of the Developers made pursuant
to Section 4.5B if Tejon breaches its obligation to contribute the Existing Property to the capital of the Company;

                            F.           Bankruptcy/Insolvency.  The occurrence of any event of bankruptcy with respect to a Member as set forth in Section 18-304 of the Act,
unless within ninety (90) days following such bankruptcy the Executive Committee (made up of the Representatives of the remaining Members) agrees in writing
to continue the business of the Company;

                            G.           Material Condemnation.  Upon the written election of the Executive Committee made pursuant to Section 4.3(A)(1)(b)(v) following
any Material Taking;

                            H.           Sale or Transfer.  The sale or conveyance of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and the payment of, or appropriate
reservation for (as determined by the Executive Committee), all material liabilities of the Company;

                            I.           Other Events.  Any other event which is deemed to cause a dissolution of the Company under the Act or under this Agreement; or

                            J.           Term Expiration.  Expiration of the Term.
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          14.2.          Liquidating Member.  The “Liquidating Member” shall be Tejon or such other Member as is selected by a majority of the Developers (in terms
of Percentage Interests) if Tejon is a Defaulting Member.

          14.3.          Distributions upon Liquidation.  The proceeds of the Company shall be applied and distributed as follows and in the following order of priority:

                            A.           First, to the payment of third party debts, liabilities and loans of the Company (excluding Member Loans);

                            B.           Second, to the payment of the reasonable expenses of the liquidation;

                            C.           Third, to the setting up of any reserves which the Liquidating Member shall determine to be reasonably necessary for contingent,
unliquidated or unforeseen liabilities or obligations of the Company or the Members arising out of or in connection with the Company.  Such reserves, may, in the
discretion of the Liquidating Member, be paid over to a national bank or national title company as escrow holder for the purposes of disbursing such reserves to
satisfy the liabilities and obligations described above, and at the expiration of such period as the Liquidating Member may reasonably deem advisable, distribute
any remaining balance in the manner set forth below;

                            D.           Fourth, to pay interest and then principal on any Member Loans authorized hereunder;

                            E.           Fifth, to the Members in accordance with Section 6.1, or Section 6.2A, as applicable.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, all net proceeds
resulting from the sale of Additional Development Land prior to the commencement of the Development Stage shall be distributed in accordance with Section
6.2B after the payment of any required third-party expenses related to such land, pursuant to the separate accounting in accordance with Section 4.3B(1).

                            No payment or distribution in any of the foregoing categories shall be made until all payments in each prior category shall have been made in
full.  If the payments due to be made in any of the foregoing categories exceed the remaining assets available for such purpose, such payments shall be made to
the Persons entitled to receive the same pro rata in accordance with the respective amount due them.  Payments described in clauses (D) and (E) above may be
made in cash or in assets of the Company in kind, upon the unanimous Approval of the Members.  Any asset distributed in kind shall be valued at its fair market
value and for all purposes of this Agreement shall be treated as if such asset had been sold at such value, subject to existing liens and encumbrances, and the net
cash proceeds therefrom distributed to the Members.

          14.4.          Acts in Furtherance of Liquidation.  Each Member, upon the request of the Liquidating Member, shall promptly execute, acknowledge and
deliver all documents and other instruments as the Liquidating Member shall reasonably request to effectuate the proper dissolution and termination of the
Company, including the winding up of the business of the Company.
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          14.5.          Adjacent Property and Expiration of Entitlement Period.  If the Company dissolves in accordance with Section 14.1B, above, provided that an
Event of Default committed by Tejon is not then outstanding under this Agreement, then Tejon shall have twenty (20) days from the dissolution of the Company
(the “Election Period”), to elect to purchase the Adjacent Property for its “Property Fair Market Value” (as defined below) from the Company by delivering a
written notice of its election to purchase the Adjacent Property (the “Election Notice”) to the Executive Committee.  If Tejon does not deliver the Election Notice
within the Election Period, then Section 14.5B, below, shall apply.  All proceeds from any sale of the Adjacent Property (whether to Tejon or to a “Third-Party
Buyer” (as defined below)) shall be distributed to the Members in accordance with Section 14.3 hereof.  Immediately following the delivery of such Election
Notice, the Company and Tejon shall open an escrow at First American Title Company (“Escrow Holder”) by delivering a signed copy of this Agreement and the
Election Notice to Escrow Holder.  This Agreement shall constitute joint escrow instructions to Escrow Holder.  The parties to this escrow shall execute such
additional instructions, not inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement, as Escrow Holder may reasonably require.  The terms of the escrow shall be as
follows:

                            A.           Property Fair Market Value.  Immediately following Tejon’s delivery of the Election Notice, the “Property Fair Market Value” of the
Adjacent Property shall be determined as provided below.  The determination of the Property Fair Market Value, whether (i) determined by the Members’
Representatives in accordance with Section 14.5A(1), below, or (ii) determined by an appraiser in accordance with Section 14.5A(2), below, shall be final and
binding upon all of the parties.

                                           (1)          During the period which is fifteen (15) days from Tejon’s delivery of the Election Notice (the “Negotiation Period”), Tejon
and the Representatives (excluding Tejon’s Representatives) (“Developer Representatives”) shall attempt, in good faith, to agree in writing upon the Property
Fair Market Value.  If Tejon and at least two (2) of the Developer Representatives agree upon the Property Fair Market Value within such period, then the
procedures set forth in Section 14.5A(3) shall apply.  If Tejon and at least two (2) of the Developer Representatives do not reach such agreement, then the
Property Fair Market Value shall be determined by appraisal in accordance with Section 14.5A(2).

                                            (2)          For a period of ten (10) days following the expiration of the Negotiation Period, Tejon and at least two (2) of the Developer
Representatives shall attempt to agree upon the appointment of a single appraiser to determine the Property Fair Market Value.  If such an agreement is reached,
the agreed upon single appraiser shall determine the Property Fair Market Value within thirty (30) days following his or her appointment.  If such an agreement is
not reached within (10) days of the expiration of the Negotiation Period, then either Tejon or the Developer Representatives, upon written notice to the other(s),
may apply for such appointment to the court of Los Angeles County, California having jurisdiction over the matter.  An appraiser appointed by the court shall be
instructed to determine the Property Fair Market Value within thirty (30) days following such appointment.

                                           (3)          If, following the determination of the Property Fair Market Value in accordance with the above Section 14.5A(1) or (2),
whichever is applicable, Tejon desires to
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purchase the Adjacent Property, Tejon must deliver written notice of such election (the “Purchase Notice”) on or prior to the date which is fifteen (15) days
following the determination of the Property Fair Market Value (the “Purchase Notice Deadline”).  On or prior to the date which is three (3) business days from
Tejon’s delivery of the Purchase Notice, Tejon shall deposit with Escrow Holder the amount of three percent (3%) of the Property Fair Market Value (the
“Deposit”), which shall be applicable to the purchase price to be paid by Tejon for the Adjacent Property, subject to Section 14.5J, below.

                                                         (a)          If Tejon timely delivers the Purchase Notice and the Deposit, then the closing date for the sale of the Adjacent
Property to Tejon shall occur on or prior to the date which is thirty (30) days from Tejon’s delivery of the Purchase Notice on and subject to the terms set forth in
this Section 14.5.

                                                         (b)          If Tejon timely delivers an Election Notice but does not timely deliver the Purchase Notice, then the Company may
sell the Adjacent Property to a third-party buyer upon the Approval of the Executive Committee (“Third-Party Buyer”) on and subject to the terms of this
Section 14.5, provided, however, that Tejon’s Representatives shall only be entitled to withhold their approval if such prospective Third-Party Buyer is not
reputable, and provided, further, that the following conditions are met:

                                                                       (i)           The Company and the Third-Party Buyer have executed a purchase agreement in connection with the sale of
the Adjacent Property (the “Third-Party Purchase Agreement”) within one hundred and twenty (120) days from the Purchase Notice Deadline, and the closing
shall have occurred pursuant to the Third-Party Purchase Agreement within one hundred and eighty (180) days of the Purchase Notice Deadline (collectively, the
“Timing Condition”); and

                                                                        (ii)          The purchase price under the Third-Party Purchase Agreement shall be all cash payable at closing and shall
equal or exceed the Property Fair Market Value determined pursuant to Section 14.5A(1) or (2), above as applicable (the “Price Condition”).

                                                         (c)          If the Timing Condition is not satisfied with respect to the purchase of the Adjacent Property by a Third-Party Buyer,
then Tejon shall once again have the right to elect to purchase the Adjacent Property by delivering an Election Notice within thirty (30) days of the date upon
which such Timing Condition was to have been satisfied.  Such delivery shall trigger the procedures (including, without limitation, the appraisal procedures) set
forth in this Section 14.5.

                                                         (d)          If the Company desires to sell the Adjacent Property for a price that will not satisfy the Price Condition, then the
Development Manager shall notify Tejon that the Company is prepared to accept such price (the “Revised Sale Price”).  Within ten (10) days of the receipt of
such notice from the Development Manager, Tejon shall be entitled to exercise a right of first refusal to purchase the Adjacent Property for the Revised Sale Price
(i.e., the purchase price which failed to satisfy the Price Condition).  Should Tejon exercise such right of first refusal, the closing for the sale of the Adjacent
Property to Tejon shall take place in
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accordance with this Section 14.5 as if the Property Fair Market Value equaled the Revised Sale Price and was determined in accordance herewith on the date
Tejon exercises its right of first refusal.  If Tejon does not exercise its right of first refusal, then the Company may enter into the Third-Party Purchase Agreement
on the same material terms and conditions offered to Tejon under this Section provided that if the Timing Condition is not satisfied with respect to the purchase of
the Adjacent Property by a Third-Party Buyer, then Tejon shall once again have the right to elect to purchase the Adjacent Property by delivering an Election
Notice within thirty (30) days of the date upon which such Timing Condition was to have been satisfied.  Such delivery shall trigger the procedures (including,
without limitation, the appraisal procedures) set forth in this Section 14.5.

                            B.           Tejon’s Failure to Deliver Notice.  If Tejon does not timely deliver an Election Notice or the Deposit at any time it is entitled to do so
hereunder, then the Company may sell the Adjacent Property to a Third-Party Buyer at any price upon the Approval of the Executive Committee; provided,
however, that Tejon’s Representatives shall only be entitled to withhold their approval if such prospective Third-Party Buyer is not reputable and provided,
further, that the following conditions are met:

                                           (1)          The Company and the Third-Party Buyer shall have entered into a binding Third-Party Purchase Agreement for such sale
within one hundred and twenty (120) days from the applicable deadline for Tejon’s Election Notice, and the closing of such sale shall have occurred within one
hundred and eighty (180) days from the applicable deadline for Tejon’s Election Notice.

                                           (2)          If such timing requirements are not satisfied with respect to the purchase of the Adjacent Property by a Third-Party Buyer,
then Tejon shall once again have the right to elect to purchase the Adjacent Property by delivering an Election Notice within thirty (30) days of the date upon
which such timing requirements were to have been satisfied.  Such delivery shall trigger the procedures (including, without limitation, the appraisal procedures)
set forth in this Section 14.5.

                            C.           Appraisers’ Qualifications.  Each appraiser appointed hereunder must be a disinterested person of recognized competence who has
been a member in good standing of the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers for at least five (5) years and is otherwise qualified in the general
geographical areas where the Adjacent Property is located.

                            D.           Value Determination Costs.  The costs of the Property Fair Market Value determination, including the appraisal fees and other costs,
shall be borne by the Company, except as provided below.

                            E.           Appraiser’s Failure or Refusal to Act.  If an appraiser fails, refuses or is unable to act in the manner provided herein, a new appraiser
shall be appointed in his or her stead.  Such an appointment shall be made in the same manner as provided above for the appointment of the appraiser so failing,
refusing or unable to act.
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                            F.           Real Estate Closing.  Except as set forth above, the Escrow shall close on or before (i) the date which is thirty (30) days after the date
on which the Property Fair Market Value of the Adjacent Property has been determined if the Adjacent Property is to be sold to Tejon, or (ii) the date set forth in
the Third-Party Purchase Agreement if the Adjacent Property is to be sold to a Third-Party Purchaser.  For purposes of this Agreement, the “Real Estate
Closing” shall mean the date on which the grant deed conveying the Adjacent Property to Tejon (or the Third-Party Buyer, if applicable) is recorded in the
Official Records of Los Angeles County.

                            G.           Title.  Upon the Real Estate Closing, the Company shall convey, without making any representations or warranties, the Adjacent
Property to Tejon (or the Third-Party Buyer, if applicable) by the Escrow Holder’s standard form grant deed subject only to the following exceptions:

                                           (1)          Non-monetary covenants, conditions, restrictions, easements, reservations, rights and rights-of-way of record existing on the
date on which the grant deed conveying the Adjacent Property to Tejon or the Third-Party Buyer is recorded;

                                           (2)          Non-delinquent general, special and supplemental real property taxes, bonds and assessments; and

                                           (3)          Any other matters Approved by the Executive Committee prior to the dissolution of the Company.  Notwithstanding the
foregoing, any matters Approved by the Executive Committee shall be deemed approved by Tejon and its Representatives.

                            H.           Title Insurance.  The Executive Committee shall, at the Company’s expense, cause to be delivered to Tejon (or the Third-Party Buyer,
if applicable) at the Real Estate Closing, a ALTA standard coverage policy of title insurance covering the Adjacent Property, issued by First American Title
Company, with policy limits equal to the Property Fair Market Value and insuring title to the Adjacent Property vested in Tejon (or the Third-Party Buyer, if
applicable) in the condition described above.

                            I.           Prorations; Costs.  All real property taxes and assessments shall be prorated as of the Real Estate Closing.  Tejon (or the Third-Party
Buyer, if applicable) shall pay for one-half of the Escrow fee, the cost of recording the deed conveying the Adjacent Property to Tejon (or the Third-Party Buyer,
if applicable), and any of the costs which, in the opinion of Escrow Holder, are customarily borne by buyers of real property in Los Angeles County.  The
Company shall pay for the cost of the ALTA standard coverage title insurance policy, documentary transfer taxes, one-half of the Escrow fee and any other costs
which in the opinion of Escrow Holder are customarily borne by sellers of real property in Los Angeles County.

                            J.           Failure of Tejon to Close.

                                           (1)          If Tejon delivers the Purchase Notice and thereafter fails to deliver the Deposit or purchase the Adjacent Property at the Real
Estate Closing in accordance with this Agreement for any reason other than the Company’s failure to comply with this Section 14.5 (“Failure to Close”), then the
sole and exclusive remedies of the Developers and the Company
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shall be (i) to recover a reimbursement for the transaction costs of the attempted sale of the Adjacent Property to Tejon, and (ii) to recover the Deposit made or
required to be made by Tejon as liquidated damages.  Such transaction costs shall be reasonable and shall include the cost of appraisal, legal fees and costs and
escrow cancellation fees.  In the event of a Failure to Close, Tejon shall no longer be entitled to deliver any additional Election Notices or otherwise have any
right to purchase the Adjacent Property.

                                           (2)          THE PARTIES HAVE AGREED THAT THE DEVELOPERS’ AND THE COMPANY’S ACTUAL DAMAGES, IN THE
EVENT OF A FAILURE TO CLOSE, WOULD BE EXTREMELY DIFFICULT OR IMPRACTICABLE TO DETERMINE.  THEREFORE, BY PLACING
THEIR INITIALS BELOW, THE PARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THE RIGHT TO RECOVER THE TRANSACTION COSTS AND TO RETAIN OR
RECOVER THE DEPOSIT HAS BEEN AGREED UPON, AFTER NEGOTIATION, AS THE PARTIES’ REASONABLE ESTIMATE OF THE DAMAGES IN
THE EVENT OF A FAILURE TO CLOSE.  THE REMEDIES SET FORTH IN SECTION 14.5J(1), ABOVE, SHALL BE THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE
REMEDIES OF THE DEVELOPERS AND THE COMPANY AGAINST TEJON, AT LAW OR IN EQUITY, IN THE EVENT OF A FAILURE TO CLOSE.

INITIALS: Tejon _________ Pardee ___________
   
 Standard Pacific_______ Lewis ____________

                                            (3)          If Tejon delivers the Purchase Notice and thereafter fails to purchase the Adjacent Property at the Real Estate Closing in
accordance with this Agreement, but such failure is attributable to any of the Members’ failure to comply with this Section 14.5 or such failure occurs through no
fault of Tejon, the Deposit shall be fully refundable to Tejon; provided, however, that such refund shall not limit the rights and remedies of Tejon against such
defaulting Member or the Company.

15.      DEFAULT, REMEDIES.

          15.1.          Events of Default.  The occurrence of any of the following events (or any other events set forth herein which are deemed to cause a Member to
be in default of this Agreement) by or with respect to a Member (the “Defaulting Member”) shall be defaults under this Agreement, and if not cured within the
applicable notice and cure period provided below, if any, to such default shall constitute an “Event of Default” hereunder:

                            A.           Failure to Contribute Capital or Provide Credit Enhancement.  The failure of a Member to make a Capital Contribution or deliver any
Credit Enhancement required by Section 4 hereof and a continuation of such failure for more than five (5) business days after written notice by any other Member
to the Defaulting Member and the other non-defaulting Members that such Defaulting Member has breached its obligations under Section 4 (“Failure Notice”);

                            B.           Failure to Perform.  The failure of a Member (or any Affiliate thereof) to comply with or perform any of its (or such Affiliate’s) other
obligations under this Agreement
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(other than those obligations arising under Section 4 covered by Section 15.1A and those obligations under Section 17.5 covered by Section 15.1D) and a
continuation of such failure or breach for more than thirty (30) days after written notice to the Defaulting Member that such Member (or such Affiliate) has failed
to perform any of such obligations under this Agreement; provided, however, if such failure is of a nature that it can be cured but cannot reasonably be cured
within such thirty (30) day period, such period shall be extended for up to an additional one hundred and twenty (120) days so long as the Defaulting Member (or
such Affiliate) in good faith commences all reasonable curative efforts within such thirty (30) day period and diligently and expeditiously continues its curative
efforts to completion; and

                    C.     Insolvency Proceedings.  With respect to any Member, a case or proceeding shall be commenced by such Member seeking relief under the
federal Bankruptcy Code or any other federal or state law relating to insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization; an adjudication that such Member is insolvent or
bankrupt; the entry of an order for relief under the federal Bankruptcy Code with respect to such Member; the filing of any such petition or the commencement of
any such case or proceeding against such Member, unless such petition and the case or proceeding initiated thereby are dismissed within ninety (90) days from the
date of such filing; the filing of an answer by such Member admitting or failing to contest the allegations of any such petition; the appointment of (or seeking,
consenting to or acquiescing in the appointment of) a trustee, receiver or custodian for all or substantially all of the assets of such Member unless such
appointment is vacated or dismissed within ninety (90) days from the date of such appointment but not fewer than five (5) days before the proposed sale of any
assets of such Member (or if such appointment is stayed within such ninety (90) day period, such appointment is not vacated within ninety (90) days of the
expiration of such stay); the insolvency of such Member or the execution by such Member of a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; the convening by
such Member of a meeting of its creditors, or any class thereof, for purposes of effecting a moratorium upon or extension or composition of its debts; the failure
of such Member to pay its debts as they mature, or the failure generally of such Member to pay its debts as they become due; the levy, attachment, execution or
other seizure of all or substantially all of the assets or the Interest of such Member where such seizure is not discharged within thirty (30) days thereafter; or the
admission by such Member in writing of its inability to pay its debts as they mature or that it is generally not paying its debts as they become due.

                    D.     Failure to Close Buy/Sell.  The failure of a Purchasing Entity to close under Section 17.5, below.

          15.2.  Remedies.  Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the Company and the Members (who are not Defaulting Members) shall have the following
rights and remedies:

                    A    Termination of Management.  The termination of all management and approval rights as a Member under this Agreement, including, without
limitation, the removal of the Defaulting Member’s Representatives and Alternates from the Executive Committee and the termination of the Defaulting
Member’s right to appoint any future Representatives thereto or otherwise participate in any meeting or action taken by the Executive Committee; provided,
however that with respect to an Event of Default under Section 15.1A, such Defaulting Member may have its management and approval rights reinstated if the
Defaulting Member cures such
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default and, to the extent outstanding, repays any Non-Contribution Loan or Non CE Loan, as applicable, together with all unpaid accrued interest thereon at the
Default Interest Rate.

                    B.     Termination of Purchase Rights.  With respect to (i) a Developer who is a Defaulting Member, the suspension of any right to purchase all or any
part of the Master Project, including, without limitation, any Offered Lot Groups or Commercial Parcels and (ii) Tejon, if Tejon is a Defaulting Member, the
suspension of any right to purchase any Commercial Parcels or the Adjacent Property hereunder, in each case, until such Defaulting Member cures such Event of
Default.

                    C.     Default Buy Out.  With respect to any default under Section 15.1A (exclusive of any failure to make timely any Entitlement Stage Contribution
or Additional Entitlement Stage Contribution), above, the exercise of the default buy out rights provided in Section 15.6, below, subject to Section 4.5B.

                    D.     Suspension of Buy/Sell-Default Buyout.  The suspension of any buy/sell or buyout rights of a Member under Section 17 or 15.6, respectively,
who is a Defaulting Member until such Defaulting Member cures such Event of Default.

                    E.     Other Rights and Remedies.  Subject to the limitations provided in this Agreement, all other rights and remedies available to the other Members
and the Company at law or in equity.

          15.3.  Cumulative Remedies.  Except as set forth in this Agreement, no remedy conferred upon the Company or any Member in this Agreement is intended
to be exclusive of any other remedy herein or by law provided or permitted, but rather each shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy
given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law, in equity or by statute.

          15.4.  Litigation Without Termination.  Subject to the alternative dispute resolution mechanisms set forth below in Section 18.3, any Member shall be
entitled to maintain, on its own behalf or on behalf of the Company, any action or proceeding against any other Member or the Company (including, without
limitation, any action for damages, specific performance or declaratory relief) for or by reason of breach by such party of this Agreement, except as set forth in
Section 4.5B, above, notwithstanding the fact that any or all of the parties to such proceeding may then be Members in the Company, and without dissolving the
Company as a limited liability company.

          15.5.  No Waiver.  No waiver by a Member or the Company of any breach of or default under this Agreement shall be deemed to be a waiver of any other
breach or default of any kind or nature, and no acceptance of payment or performance by a Member or the Company after any such breach or default shall be
deemed to be a waiver of any breach or default of this Agreement, whether or not such Member or the Company knows of such breach or default at the time it
accepts such payment or performance.  No failure or delay on the part of a Member or the Company to exercise any right it may have shall prevent the exercise
thereof by such Member or
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the Company at any time such other may continue to be so in default, and no such failure or delay shall operate as a waiver of any default.

          15.6.  Default Buy Out.

                    A.     Right To Purchase.  Following a thirty (30) day period following the date of the Failure Notice, at any time during the pendency of an Event of
Default for which this remedy may be utilized under Section 15.2, above, the Other Members shall have the right but not the duty to acquire the Defaulting
Member’s Interest for an amount (the “Defaulting Member’s Price”) determined as hereinafter provided; provided, however, that no Member shall have any
right to acquire the Defaulting Member’s Interest if (i) the Member that desires to acquire such Interest is in default under this Agreement, or (ii) the Event of
Default of the Defaulting Member whose Interest may be acquired consists of a failure to contribute a cash Capital Contribution or a failure to provide a Credit
Enhancement, pursuant to Sections 4.3, 4.4 and 4.6C, and a Non-Contribution Loan or a Non CE Loan has been timely made to such Member in the amount of
such required Capital Contribution or Credit Enhancement.  The Defaulting Member’s Price shall be lesser of (i) ninety percent (90%) of the fair market value of
the Defaulting Member’s Interest (“Interest Fair Market Value”) on the “Default Date of Value” (defined below) as determined in accordance with Section
15.6B, or (ii) the outstanding Book Capital Account balance of such Defaulting Member (the “Interest Book Value”) as determined by the CPA on the Default
Date of Value in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied for the Company, which determination shall be final and binding
on the Members (the “Interest Book Value Method”).

                    B.     Calculation of Interest Fair Market Value.  Unless the Defaulting Member and Other Members otherwise agree to the Interest Fair Market
Value, the Interest Fair Market Value shall be determined by the appraisal method set forth herein.  In determining the Interest Fair Market Value, both minority
and lack of liquidity discounts shall be applied by the appraisers.  The Interest Fair Market Value shall be determined as of the date (the “Default Date of Value”)
that an Other Member gives the notice to the Defaulting Member under Section 15.6C.

                    C.     Initiation of Purchase Right.  Any Other Member (the “Electing Member(s)”) may initiate the right to purchase granted by this Section 15.6 by
giving a written notice (“Default Buy Out Notice”) to such effect to the Defaulting Member and all Other Members within ninety (90) days from the date of the
Event of Default giving rise to the exercise of the remedy provided in this Section 15.6.  If more than one (1) Other Member desires to be an Electing Member,
then such Other Member must make an election to become an Electing Member by delivering a Default Buy Out Notice within the earlier of (i) the foregoing
ninety (90) day period or (ii) ten (10) days following its receipt of a Default Buy Out Notice from another Electing Member.  If there is more than one (1)
Electing Member, then the Electing Members shall participate in the purchase of the Defaulting Member’s Interest under this Section 15.6 in accordance with
their relative Percentage Interests (or in such other percentage as is agreed to by such Electing Partners).  As used herein, the term “Electing Member” shall
mean individually and collectively each Electing Member delivering a Default Buy Out Notice in accordance with this Section 15.6C.
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                              (1)     Upon notice of such election to the Defaulting Member by any Electing Member of an election to initiate the right to purchase granted by
this Section 15.6, the Defaulting Member and each Electing Member shall attempt to agree on the Interest Fair Market Value and each Electing Member shall
request the CPA to compute the Interest Book Value.

                             (2)     The establishment of the Defaulting Member’s Price by applying either the Interest Book Value Method or utilizing ninety percent (90%)
rather than one hundred percent (100%) of the Interest Fair Market Value is not intended as a penalty but rather is intended as liquidated damages inasmuch as the
actual damages to the Electing Members occasioned by the Event of Default of the Defaulting Member are and may be difficult if not impossible to ascertain and
thus the application of book value and the ten percent (10%) reduction constitutes a good faith effort by the Members to estimate such damages.  The Members
agree that such estimate is reasonable.

                    D.     Appraisal.

                             (1)     Appointment of Appraisers.

                                        (a)     If the Electing Member(s) and the Defaulting Member have not agreed upon the Interest Fair Market Value within twenty (20) days
following the delivery of the last Default Buy Out Notice by an Electing Member, then the Electing Member(s), on the one hand, and the Defaulting Member, on
the other, shall each, within ten (10) days after such twenty (20) day period, appoint in writing an appraiser, which appraiser shall be a Membership Appraisal
Institute (“MAI”) California certified appraiser with at least five (5) years of experience appraising real estate development companies.  If one (1) party has
appointed an appraiser hereunder, and the other party fails to appoint an appraiser hereunder within ten (10) days of the first party’s written request to do so, the
Interest Fair Market Value will be established by the determination acting alone of the appraiser appointed by such first party, and such other party hereby
consents to the same.  The appraiser or appraisers appointed under this Section 15.6D(1)(a) shall be instructed to complete their appraisals within thirty (30) days
of their appointments, and to appraise only the Interest Fair Market Value as of the date of the last Default Buy Out Notice delivered by an Electing Member.

                                        (b)     If two (2) appraisers are appointed pursuant to Section 15.6D(1)(a), the two (2) appraisers so appointed shall conduct independent
appraisals and meet within thirty (30) days after their appointment to attempt to set the Interest Fair Market Value.  If they are unable to agree upon such Interest
Fair Market Value within said thirty (30) day period, they shall appoint a third appraiser who meets the qualifications set forth above.  If they fail to appoint a
third appraiser within seven (7) days after such thirty (30) day period, either the Electing Member(s) or the Defaulting Member, on behalf of both, may request
such appointment by the president or executive secretary of the Southern California chapter of the MAI.  The third appraiser shall be instructed to complete an
appraisal within twenty (20) days from his appointment.  Within five (5) days after completion of the third appraiser’s appraisal, all three (3) appraisers shall meet
and a majority of the appraisers shall attempt to determine the Interest Fair Market Value for purposes of this Section 15.6.  If a majority are unable to determine
the Interest Fair Market Value at such meeting, the three (3) appraisals shall be added together and their total
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divided by three (3).  The resulting quotient shall be the Interest Fair Market Value.  If, however, either or both of the low appraisal or the high appraisal are more
than ten percent (10%) lower or higher than the middle appraisal, any such lower or higher appraisal shall be disregarded.  If only one (1) appraisal is disregarded,
the remaining two (2) appraisals shall be added together and their total divided by two (2), and the resulting quotient shall be such fair market value.  If both the
lower appraisal and higher appraisal are disregarded as provided herein, the middle appraisal shall be such fair market value.  Any Interest Fair Market Value
determined in accordance with Section 15.6D shall be final and binding upon all of the Members.  The Defaulting Member shall pay all of the fees and costs of
the appraisers and CPA or, at the election of the Electing Member(s), the same may be subtracted from the amount payable to the Defaulting Member for its
Interest.

                                        (c)     Each appraiser is hereby instructed to apply minority and lack of liquidity discounts in arriving at the Interest Fair Market Value.

                                        (d)     The Electing Members may elect to waive the foregoing appraisal provisions set forth in this Section 15.6D by unanimously
agreeing to pay the Interest Book Value for the Defaulting Member’s Interest. 

                             (2)     Determination of Purchase Price.

                                        (a)     Once the Defaulting Member’s Price based on the Interest Fair Market Value is determined in accordance with this Section 15.6D,
the lesser of the Interest Fair Market Value and the Interest Book Value shall be the Defaulting Member Price which the Electing Members may pay to purchase
the Defaulting Member’s Interest in accordance herewith.

                                        (b)     The Members hereby agree that the CPA shall have no liability to any Member for its determination of the Defaulting Member
Price, unless in making such determination, the CPA has committed gross negligence or willful misconduct.  In connection therewith, each Member hereby
indemnifies and holds harmless the CPA from any liabilities, damages, costs or expenses (including, without limitation, actual attorneys fees) arising from any
claim asserted by such Member against the CPA in connection with making the determination required by this Section 15.6D, provided that the CPA has not
committed gross negligence or willful misconduct.

                    E.     Electing Member’s Election.  Each Electing Member shall have thirty (30) days after the determination of the Defaulting Member’s Price to
elect whether or not to purchase the Defaulting Member’s Interest (or its proportionate share thereof based on its Percentage Interest with the other Electing
Members).  If such Electing Member elects not to purchase or makes no election, the Electing Member shall have no purchase obligations pursuant to this Section
15.6 and the remaining Election Members, if any, making the election under this Section 15.6E to purchase the Defaulting Members Interest shall do so prorata in
accordance with their relative Percentage Interests (or in such other percentages as is agreed to by such Electing Members).  If an Electing Member desires to
purchase, such Electing Member shall give a written notice to the Defaulting Member of its election to purchase within such thirty (30) day
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election period (the “Final Election Notice”).  The closing of the purchase of the Defaulting Member’s Interest by those Electing Members delivering the Final
Election Notice shall take place at the principal place of business of the Company and shall occur on or before the date (the “Closing Date”), which is thirty (30)
days after the delivery of the last Final Election Notice delivered by an Electing Member.  Upon the closing, the Defaulting Member whose Interest is purchased
by the Electing Member shall have no further rights or remedies hereunder, except for the rights to indemnification set forth in Section 16.1, below, with respect
to any events occurring on or prior to the date of such closing.  The closing shall occur in accordance with and subject to the following:

                             (1)     The amount due to be paid to the Defaulting Member for its Interest in connection with a purchase pursuant to this Section 15.6 shall be
paid by a confirmed wire transfer of readily available funds in full at the time of closing.  If the Defaulting Member has previously failed to contribute a cash
Capital Contribution or failed to provide a Credit Enhancement pursuant to Sections 4.3, 4.4 and 4.6, and Non-Contribution Loans or Non CE Loans, as
applicable, were made in connection with such failure (i.e., a previous Non-Contribution Loan or Non CE Loan arising out of a failure which is not the basis of
the current invocation of this Section 15.6), then all amounts due to be paid to the Defaulting Member for its Interest shall be applied to pay all unpaid Non-
Contributions Loans and Non CE Loans to such Member (and any interest accrued on the same in accordance with the Default Interest Rate).  Only then shall any
difference between such unpaid obligations and the amount due the Defaulting Member for its interest be paid to such Defaulting Member.  If an Electing
Member has failed to make a cash Capital Contribution or failed to provide a Credit Enhancement pursuant to Sections 4.3, 4.4 and 4.6C, and a Non-Contribution
Loan or Non CE Loan, as applicable, was made in connection with such failure, then such Electing Member must repay any such Non-Contribution Loans and
Non CE Loans (and any interest accrued on the same in accordance with the Default Interest Rate) prior to purchasing the Interest of the Defaulting Member.

                             (2)     The Defaulting Member and Electing Member(s) shall meet and exchange documents and pay any amounts due, and otherwise do all
things necessary to conclude the transaction set forth herein at the closing of such purchase (the “Closing”).  The Closing shall occur at the office of the Company
at 1:00 p.m. on the Closing Date unless that day is a national or state holiday or weekend and, in that event, on the next business day.  At the Closing, the
Defaulting Member (the “Selling Member”) shall deliver to the Electing Members who delivered the Final Election Notice (the “Purchasing Member(s)”) a
duly executed assignment of its Interest, cash for the full amount, if any, which the Selling Member is required to pay hereunder, and shall also, upon the request
of the Purchasing Member, concurrently therewith (or at any time and from time to time thereafter) execute and deliver such other documents and Company
records as the Purchasing Member determines are necessary or desirable to conclude the Closing and to transfer ownership, title and control of the assigned
interest (including but not limited to execution, in recordable form, of an amended certificate of the Company) and to otherwise assist the Purchasing Member in
connection with the development, use, sale, rental or disposal of the Master Project.  The Purchasing Member shall deliver to the Selling Member any other
documents reasonably necessary from the Purchasing
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Member to conclude the Closing.  The Selling Member shall transfer its Interest free of all liens or encumbrances.

                    F.     Designee; Financing.  Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary (but subject to the terms of Section 12.1), the Electing
Members shall be entitled to unanimously designate any third party to be the transferee of the Defaulting Member’s Interest or obtain financing from any third
party with respect to such purchase, provided that the foregoing shall not delay any transaction described in this Section 15.6.

16.     INDEMNIFICATION.

          16.1.    Breach.  Each Member hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the other Members, Representatives and the Company (and (i) their
respective Affiliates, (ii) their direct and indirect agents, employees, representatives, officers, directors, shareholders, members and partners, and (iii) the direct
and indirect agents, employees, representatives, officers, directors, shareholders, members and partners of their Affiliates) from and against (a) all Claims which
may arise as a result of any act or omission that constitutes gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the indemnifying Member or its Representative,
and (b) all Claims resulting from any material breach of this Agreement by a Member, subject to the limitations set forth in Section 4.5B, above.  Such indemnity
shall survive the termination or expiration of the Term of the Company, the sale of all of the assets of the Company and the transfer or sale of the Interest of the
indemnifying Member.

          16.2.    Conduct of Company.  No Member, Representative or officer (or (i) their respective Affiliates, (ii) their direct and indirect agents, employees,
representatives, officers, directors, shareholders, members and partners, and (iii) the direct and indirect agents, employees, representatives, officers, directors,
shareholders, members and partners of their Affiliates) (collectively, the “Indemnified Parties” and each an “Indemnified Party”), shall be liable to the
Company or to any other Indemnified Party for any act performed, or omitted to be performed, by it in the conduct of its duties in connection with the Company
if such act or omission is reasonably believed by such Person to be within the scope of the authority of such Person under this Agreement, is performed or omitted
in good faith and without gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of such Person, and does not otherwise constitute a material breach of this
Agreement, subject to the limitations set forth in Section 4.5B, above.  The Company shall defend, indemnify and save harmless each Indemnified Party from any
Claim sustained by any such Indemnified Party by reason of any act performed, or omitted to be performed, in good faith and without gross negligence or willful
misconduct in the conduct of its duties within the scope of its authority expressly conferred by the Original LLC Agreement and/or this Agreement, provided that
such act does not constitute a material breach of the Original LLC Agreement and/or this Agreement.  The Company’s duty to defend each of the Indemnified
Parties shall become effective immediately following the assertion of a Claim against an Indemnified Party; provided, however, that the Company shall not
reimburse the attorneys’ fees or costs incurred by any Indemnified Party in any cause of action or proceeding commenced by a Member or the Company against
such Indemnified Party, unless and until a final determination is made in such action or proceeding that the Indemnified Party is entitled to indemnification under
this Section 16.2.  Such indemnity shall not be construed to limit or

89



diminish the coverage of any Member or Representative under any insurance obtained by the Company.  Payment shall not be a condition precedent to any
indemnification provided in this Agreement.

          16.3.    General Indemnity Provisions.  Each indemnity provided for under this Agreement shall be subject to the following provisions:

                      A.     Coverage.  The indemnity shall cover the costs and expenses of the indemnitee, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs, related to
any actions, suits or judgments incident to any of the matters covered by such indemnity.

                      B.     Notice.  The indemnitee shall notify the indemnitor of any Claim against the indemnitee covered by the indemnity within forty-five (45) days
after the indemnitee has notice of such Claim, but failure to notify the indemnitor shall in no case prejudice the rights of the indemnitee under this Agreement
unless the indemnitor shall be prejudiced by such failure and then only to the extent the indemnitor shall be prejudiced by such failure.  Should the indemnitor fail
to discharge or undertake to defend the indemnitee against such liability upon learning of the same, then the indemnitee may settle such liability, and the liability
of the indemnitor hereunder shall be conclusively established by such settlement, which amount of such liability shall include both the settlement consideration
and the reasonable costs and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred by the indemnitee in effecting such settlement.

17.     BUY/SELL.

          17.1.    Generally.  At any time following the commencement of the Development Stage, if the Executive Committee is unable to reach a decision on a
matter which is material to the Master Project including, without limitation, the financing, refinancing, sale, exchange, or other disposition of the Master Project
(an “Executive Committee Deadlock”) and (i) such Executive Committee Deadlock was caused by all of the Representatives of Developers who are Members at
such time (the “Developer Lot”) unanimously agreeing upon a specific course of action or decision and the sole Representatives refusing to Approve such course
of action or decision being Tejon’s Representatives (a “Tejon/Developer Lot Deadlock”), and (ii) such Tejon/Developer Lot Deadlock nonetheless continues to
exist after at least thirty (30) days of good-faith negotiations (the “Thirty Day Good Faith Negotiation Period”) between Tejon and the Developer Lot above
(which period shall commence upon the delivery of written notice by either the Developer Lot to Tejon or Tejon to the Developer Lot of the same following a
Tejon/Developer Lot Deadlock), either Tejon or the Developer Lot (the “Initiating Entity”) may give written notice (the “Offering Notice”) to the other (the
“Responding Entity”) of its intent to rely on this Section 17 and to purchase all, but not less than all, of the Responding Entity’s Interest; provided, however, that
the Offering Notice must be delivered within thirty (30) days following the expiration of the Thirty Day Good Faith Negotiation Period.  The Initiating Entity
shall specify in its Offering Notice the all-cash purchase price (“Purchase Price”) at which the Initiating Entity would be willing to purchase all of the assets of
the Company as of the date the Offering Notice is given (“Date of Value”) and the amount (“Liquidating Distribution Amount”) that each Member would have
been entitled to receive hereunder if the Company had sold the Company assets to a third party for the Purchase Price on the Date of Value and

90



liquidated the Company.  For the purposes of establishing the Liquidating Distribution Amount, the liabilities of the Company shall be limited to known non-
contingent liabilities and shall not include reserves or prepayment penalties with respect to any Third Party Financing.

          17.2.    Response of Responding Entity.  Upon receipt of the Offering Notice, the Responding Entity shall then be obligated either:

                      A.     To sell to the Initiating Entity its Interest at a price equal to the amount the Responding Entity would have been entitled to receive hereunder if
the Company had sold the Company assets to a third party for the Purchase Price on the Date of Value and liquidated the Company; or

                      B.     To purchase the Interest of the Initiating Entity at a price equal to the amount the Initiating Entity would have been entitled to receive
hereunder if the Company had sold the Company assets for the Purchase Price to a third party on the Date of Value and liquidated the Company.

          17.3.    Timing of Response.  The Responding Entity shall notify the Initiating Entity in writing (the “Response Notice”) of its election under Section 17.2,
above, within ninety (90) days of its receipt of the Offering Notice.  Failure to give written notice electing to purchase the Initiating Entity’s Interest within the
required time period shall be deemed an election of the Responding Entity to sell its entire Interest to the Initiating Entity.  For purposes of this Section 17, the
term “Purchasing Entity” shall mean either Tejon or the Developer Lot, as applicable, which is obligated to purchase the other’s Interest pursuant to this Section
17 (whether such entity is the Initiating Entity or the Responding Entity ) and the term “Selling Entity” shall mean either Tejon or the Developer Lot, as
applicable, which is obligated to sell its Interest to the Purchasing Entity.  Any Offering Notice or Response Notice delivered by one (1) or more of the
Developers which notice is not on behalf of all of the Developers who are then Members of the Company shall be void and shall have no effect.

          17.4.    Buy/Sell Closing.  Tejon and the Developer Lot shall meet and exchange documents and pay any amounts due, and otherwise do all things
reasonably necessary to consummate the transaction set forth herein at the closing of such purchase (the “Buy/Sell Closing”).  The Buy/Sell Closing shall occur
at the office of Tejon’s legal counsel at 1:00 p.m., on the first Wednesday after the sixtieth (60th) day after the delivery of the Response Notice unless that day is a
national or state holiday and, in that event, on the next business day.  At the Buy/Sell Closing, the Selling Entity shall deliver to the Purchasing Entity a duly
executed assignment of its Interest and shall also, upon the request of the Purchasing Entity, concurrently therewith (or at any time and from time to time
thereafter) execute and deliver such other documents and Company records as are reasonably necessary to conclude the Buy/Sell Closing and to transfer
ownership, title and control of the Company assets to the extent necessary (including but not limited to execution, in recordable form, of an amended Certificate
and/or cancellation of Certificate).  Subject to Section 17.6, below, the Purchasing Entity shall deliver to the Selling Entity cash for the full amount of the
consideration, if any, for such Interest, and shall deliver any other documents reasonably necessary from the Purchasing Entity to conclude the Buy/Sell Closing. 
The Selling Entity shall transfer its Interest free of all liens or encumbrances.
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Further, on the Buy/Sell Closing, the Selling Entity and/or its Affiliates shall be released from its liability under any third party loans to the Company and any
Credit Enhancements.  If a Company creditor refuses to so release the Selling Entity and/or its Affiliates, the Purchasing Entity shall indemnify the Selling Entity
and/or its Affiliates from liability under such loans and Credit Enhancements.  The obligations hereunder of the Developer Lot (including, without limitation, any
indemnification by the Developer Lot) shall be joint and several among all of the Developers.  If the Developer Lot is the Purchasing Entity, the Developers shall
pay for and obtain ownership of Tejon’s Interest pursuant to this Section 17.4 in accordance with their Percentage Interests, or as otherwise determined by the
Developers.

          17.5.    Failure to Close.  If the Purchasing Entity fails to close as aforesaid, the same shall be deemed an Event of Default hereunder by the Purchasing
Entity within the meaning of Section 15.1D.  In addition to any other remedies available under this Agreement by reason thereof, the Selling Entity shall have the
right, exercisable by written notice to the Purchasing Entity given within thirty (30) days of the date set for the Buy/Sell Closing, to purchase the Interest of the
Purchasing Entity.  If the Selling Entity exercises such option, the Purchase Price shall be ninety percent (90%) of the Purchase Price then established by the
Offering Notice previously given pursuant to Section 17.1.

          17.6.    Limitations on Right to Deliver Offering Notice.  Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, no Initiating Entity may
deliver an Offering Notice to a Responding Entity if such Initiating Entity is in default under this Agreement, which in the case of the Developer Lot, shall mean
any one (1) of the Developers.  If the Purchasing Entity (or any of the Developers, if the Purchasing Entity is the Developer Lot) has failed to make a cash Capital
Contribution or failed to provide a Credit Enhancement pursuant to Sections 4.3, 4.4 and 4.6C, and a Non-Contribution Loan or Non CE Loan, as applicable, was
made in connection with such failure, then such Purchasing Entity (or such individual Developers, if the Purchasing Entity is the Developer Lot) must repay any
such Non-Contribution Loans and Non CE Loans (and any interest accrued on the same in accordance with the Default Interest Rate) prior to purchasing the
Interest of the Selling Entity.  If the Selling Entity (or any of the Developers, if the Selling Entity is the Developer Lot) has failed to make a cash Capital
Contribution or failed to provide a Credit Enhancement pursuant to Sections 4.3, 4.4 and 4.6C, and a Non-Contribution Loan or Non CE Loan, as applicable, was
made in connection with such failure, then the proceeds from the sale of such Selling Entity’s Interest must first be used to first repay any Non-Contribution
Loans and Non CE Loans (and any interest accrued on the same in accordance with the Default Interest Rate).  Only then shall any difference between such
unpaid obligations and the amount due the Selling Entity for its Interest be paid to such Selling Entity.

18.     MISCELLANEOUS.

          18.1.    Notices.  All notices, requests and demands to be made hereunder to the parties hereto shall be in writing and shall be deemed received and effective
upon personal delivery to the party to whom the notice is directed or, if sent by reputable overnight delivery service, upon one (1) business day after delivery to
the delivery service, or if sent by telecopy, upon electronic verification of receipt by the sending machine (provided a copy of such notice is sent the next business
day in any of the additional means listed in this Section 18.1), or if sent by mail, three
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(3) business days following its deposit in the United States mail, postage prepaid, certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the applicable
party at the addresses set forth below:

To Tejon: Tejon Ranchcorp
 P.O. Box 1000
 4436 Lebec Road
 Lebec, California  93243
 Facsimile: (661) 248-3100
 Attention: Mr. Robert Stine
   
with a copy to: Tejon Ranchcorp
 P.O. Box 1000
 4436 Lebec Road
 Lebec, California  93243
 Facsimile: (661) 248-3100
 Attention: Dennis Mullins, Esq.
   
with a copy to: Cox, Castle & Nicholson LLP
 2049 Century Park East, 28th Floor
 Los Angeles, California  90067-3284
 Facsimile: (310) 277-7889
 Attention: Mathew A. Wyman, Esq.
   
To Standard Pacific: Standard Pacific Corp.
 32133 Lindero Canyon Road, Suite 105
 Westlake Village, California  91361
 Facsimile: (818) 889-1852
 Attention: Mr. Dale Casey
   
with a copy to : Allen Matkins Leck Gamble & Mallory LLP
 1900 Main Street, 5th Floor
 Irvine, California  92614-7321
 Facsimile: (949) 553-8364
 Attention: Paul D. O’Connor, Esq.
   
To Lewis: Lewis Investment Company, LLC
 1156 N. Mountain Avenue
 Upland, California  91785-0670
 Facsimile: (909) 981-9799
 Attention: Mr. John M. Goodman
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with a copy to : Lewis Operating Corporation
 1156 N. Mountain Avenue
 Upland, California  91785-0670
 Facsimile: (909) 981-9799
 Attention: General Counsel
   
To Pardee: Pardee Homes
 10880 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 1900
 Los Angeles, California  90024
 Facsimile: (310) 446-1295
 Attention: Mr. Michael V. McGee
   
with a copy to : Sandler and Rosen, LLP
 1801 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 510
 Los Angeles, California  90067
 Facsimile: (310) 277-5954
 Attention: Steven E. Levy, Esq.

 

          18.2.    Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, together with the exhibits hereto (which are incorporated herein by reference) represent the entire agreement of
the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes any and all prior agreements, writings or understandings between the parties with respect to
the subject matter hereof, including, without limitation, that Letter of Intent for Tejon Ranch dated June 11, 1999, as amended, and the Original LLC Agreement. 
Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, no amendment or modification to this Agreement shall be binding unless same shall be in writing and signed by
all Members.

          18.3.    Dispute Resolution.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement (other than an action for specific performance
commenced pursuant to Section 4.5B, which action may be commenced either with the Superior Court of the State of California in and for Los Angeles County,
and the associated federal and appellate courts, or pursuant to this Section 18.3, as elected by the party commencing any such action), in the event of a Claim by a
Member against the Company and/or any other Member(s) arising out of or otherwise relating to this Agreement, then such involved Members shall promptly and
in good faith attempt to resolve such Claim by mutual agreement.  In the event the Members are unable to resolve such Claim by mutual agreement, the matter
shall be settled exclusively by a binding arbitration (“Arbitration”), conducted by a single arbitrator (the “Arbitrator”) chosen by the parties as described
below.  Any party may initiate the Arbitration by written notice to the other party(ies) and to the Arbitration Tribunal.  The date on which the notice is given is
called the “Arbitration Initiation Date”.  The fees and expenses of the Arbitration Tribunal and the Arbitrator shall be shared equally by the Members
participating in such Arbitration, in proportion to such Members’ respective Percentage Interests, and advanced by them from time to time as required; provided,
however, that at the conclusion of the Arbitration, the Arbitrator may award costs and expenses (including the costs of the Arbitration previously advanced and
the fees and expenses of attorneys, accountants and other experts) to the prevailing party.  Except as expressly modified herein, the Arbitration shall be conducted
in accordance with the provisions of Section 1280 et seq. of the California Code of Civil Procedure or their successor sections (“CCP”), except that
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Section 1283.05 (discovery) shall not apply, and shall constitute the exclusive remedy for the determination of any Claim, including whether the Claim is subject
to arbitration.  The Arbitration shall be conducted under the procedures of the Arbitration Tribunal, except as modified herein.  The “Arbitration Tribunal” shall
be the Los Angeles Office of JAMS/ENDISPUTE (“JAMS”), unless the parties to the dispute cannot agree on a JAMS arbitrator, in which case the Arbitration
Tribunal shall be the Los Angeles Office of the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”).  The Arbitrator shall be a retired judge or other arbitrator employed
by JAMS selected by mutual agreement of the parties to the dispute, and if they cannot so agree within thirty (30) days after the Arbitration Initiation Date, then
the Arbitrator shall be selected from the Large and Complex Case Project (“LCCP”) panel of the AAA, by mutual agreement of the parties to the dispute.  If the
parties to the dispute cannot agree on an Arbitrator within sixty (60) days after the Arbitration Initiation Date, the Arbitrator shall be selected by the AAA, from
its LCCP panel, through such procedures as the AAA regularly follows.  In all events, the Arbitrator must have had not less than fifteen (15) years experience as a
practitioner or arbitrator of complex business transactions.  If for any reason the AAA does not so act, any party to the dispute may apply to the Superior Court in
and for Los Angeles County, California, for the appointment of a single arbitrator.  No pre-arbitration discovery shall be permitted, except that the Arbitrator shall
have the power in his or her sole discretion, on application by either party, to order pre-arbitration examination solely of those witnesses and documents that the
other party intends to introduce as its case-in-chief at the arbitration hearing.  Prior to the commencement of arbitration hearings, the Arbitrator shall have the
power, in his or her discretion, upon either party’s motion but not the Arbitrator’s own initiative, to order the parties to engage in pre-arbitration mediation for a
period not exceeding thirty (30) days before a mediator mutually acceptable to the parties.  The Arbitrator shall try any and all issues of law or fact and be
prepared to make the award within ninety (90) days after the close of evidence in the Arbitration.  When prepared to make the award, the Arbitrator shall first so
inform the parties, who shall have ten (10) days to attempt to resolve the matter by a binding agreement between them.  If the parties so resolve the matter, the
Arbitrator shall not make any award.  If the parties do not so resolve the matter, the Arbitrator shall make the award on the eleventh day following his notice of
being prepared to make the award.  The Arbitrator’s award shall dispose of all of the claims that are the subject of the Arbitration and shall follow Delaware law
and precedent, and shall be a reasoned opinion.  The Arbitrator shall be empowered to (i) enter equitable as well as legal relief, (ii) provide all temporary and/or
provisional remedies, and (iii) enter binding equitable orders.  The award rendered by the Arbitrator shall be final and not subject to judicial review, and judgment
thereon may be entered in any court of competent jurisdiction.

          18.4.    Governing Law; Choice of Forum.

                      A.     Subject to Section 18.3, above, this Agreement and the rights of the parties hereunder shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with
the internal laws of the State of Delaware, without reference to the rules regarding conflict or choice of laws of such State.

                      B.     The Members each acknowledge and agree that, subject to Section 18.3 above, the Superior Court of the State of California in and for Los
Angeles County, and the associated federal and appellate courts, shall have exclusive jurisdiction to hear and decide any dispute, controversy or litigation
regarding this Agreement or any portion thereof.
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          18.5.    Successors and Assigns.  Except as herein otherwise specifically provided, this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
Members and their legal representatives, successors and assigns, and no party hereto shall be permitted to delegate its duties or responsibilities.

          18.6.    Captions.  Captions contained in this Agreement in no way define, limit or extend the scope or intent of this Agreement.

          18.7.    Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement, or the application of such provision to any person or circumstance, shall be held invalid, the
remainder of this Agreement, or the application of such provision to the persons or circumstances, shall not be affected thereby.

          18.8.    Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall constitute
one (1) and the same document.  Any signature page of this Agreement may be detached from any counterpart of this Agreement and re-attached to any other
counterpart of this Agreement identical in form hereto but having attached to it one (1) or more additional signature pages.

          18.9.    Further Assurances.  Each Member covenants and agrees that it will at any time and from time to time do, execute, acknowledge and deliver, or will
cause to be done, executed, acknowledged and delivered, all such further acts, documents and instruments as may reasonably be requested by the Executive
Committee required by any such Member in order to carry out and effectuate fully the transactions herein contemplated in accordance with this Agreement.

          18.10.  Relationship of Parties.  The relationships between the Members under this Agreement shall be that of a limited liability company for the sole and
limited purpose of carrying on the business of the Company.  Nothing herein shall be deemed to create a limited liability company between the Members for the
carrying on of business outside the scope of this Agreement, nor shall any Member have the ability to act as agent for any other Member.

          18.11.  No Partition.  No Member shall have the right to partition any property of the Company during the term of the Company, nor shall any Member
make application to any court or authority having jurisdiction in the matter or commence or prosecute any action or proceeding for partition and the sale thereof,
and upon any breach of the provisions of this Section by a Member, any other Member, in addition to all rights and remedies at law and in equity it may have or
claim, shall be entitled to a decree or other restraining order enjoining such application, action or proceeding.

          18.12.  No Third Party Rights.  Except as expressly provided herein or in the Act, this Agreement is for the sole benefit of the Members and their respective
permitted successors and assignees, and shall not confer, nor shall it be construed as conferring, directly, indirectly, contingently or otherwise, any rights or
benefits on any person or party other than the Members and their permitted successors and assignees.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, as to any
third party, a deficit Book Capital Account of a Member shall not be deemed to be a liability of such Member nor an asset or property of the Company.
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          18.13.  Survival.  The indemnifications provided herein and any other provisions hereof which state that they expressly survive the term or the termination
hereof shall survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement.

          18.14.  Usury.  If any rate of interest or other charge payable under this Agreement shall at any time exceed the maximum amount chargeable by applicable
laws, then the applicable rate of interest shall be the maximum rate permitted by applicable laws.

          18.15.  Attorneys’ Fees; Waiver of Jury Trial.

                      A.     Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event of any litigation or arbitration between the Members to enforce or interpret any provision or right hereunder, the
unsuccessful party to such litigation covenants and agrees to pay the successful party all costs and expenses reasonably incurred, including, without limitation,
reasonable attorneys’ fees as determined by the judge or arbitrator.  For the purpose of this Agreement, the term “Attorneys’ Fees” shall mean the fees and
expenses of counsels to the Members, which may include printing, photostating, duplicating and other expenses, air freight charges and fees billed for law clerks,
paralegals, librarians and others not admitted to the bar but performing services under the supervision of an attorney.  Such term shall also include all such fees
and expenses incurred with respect to appeals, arbitrations, reference out and bankruptcy proceedings, and whether or not any action or proceeding is brought
with respect to the matter for which said fees and expenses were incurred.

                      B.     Waiver of Jury Trial.  The Members hereby waive trial by jury in any action, proceeding or counterclaim brought by any of the Members
against another in connection with any matter whatsoever arising out of or in any way connected with this Agreement, the relationship of the Members or any
claim of injury or damage relating to any of the foregoing, or the enforcement of any remedy under any statute with respect thereto.

          18.16.  Time of the Essence.  Time is of the essence of this Agreement.

          18.17.  Incorporation of Exhibits.  All exhibits, schedules and appendices attached and referred to in this Agreement are incorporated herein as if fully set
forth in this Agreement.

          18.18.  Certain Terminology.

                      A.     Include.  Whenever the words “including”, “include” or “includes” are used in this Agreement, they should be interpreted in a non-exclusive
manner as though the words “but [is] not limited to” immediately followed the same.

                      B.     Section.  Except as otherwise indicated herein, all Section references in this Agreement shall be deemed to refer to the corresponding Sections
of this Agreement.

                      C.     Here.  Variations of the word “here,” such as hereof, hereto, herein shall mean references to this entire Agreement, not to any particular
Section or paragraph unless the context clearly indicates otherwise.
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          18.19.  Construction.  The Members have each been represented by counsel of their respective choice in connection with this Agreement, the terms of
which have been fully and fairly negotiated.  The language in all parts of this Agreement shall in all cases be construed simply according to the fair meaning
thereof and not strictly against the party which drafted such language.

          18.20.  Good Faith and Fair Dealing.  The Members, the Representatives and the Alternates all hereby covenant to act in good faith and in accordance with
fair dealing with respect to this Agreement and the Company during the Term of the Company. 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Agreement as of the date set forth above.

 TEJON RANCHCORP,
 a California corporation
   
   
 By:  
  
  Robert A. Stine, its President and CEO
   
   
 By:  
  
 Name:  
  
 Title:  
  
  
  
 STANDARD PACIFIC CORP.,
 a Delaware corporation
   
   
 By:  
  
  Stephen Boggs, its Authorized Representative
   
   
 By:  
  
  Dale Casey, its Authorized Representative
   
  
 LEWIS INVESTMENT COMPANY, LLC,
 a California limited liability company
   
   
 By:  
  
  John Goodman, its Authorized Agent
   
   
 By:  
  
  Name:  
   
  Title:  
   
[SIGNATURES CONTINUED]   
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 PARDEE HOMES,
 a California corporation
   
   
 By:  
  
  Michael V. McGee, its President
   
   
 By:  
  
  Name:  
   
  Title:  
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Exhibit “A”

ADJACENT PROPERTY, EXISTING PROPERTY
AND TEJON RANCH

[See Attached]
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Exhibit “B”

MEMBERS’ ADDRESSES, CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS,
AND PERCENTAGE INTERESTS

Members and Addresses  

Initial Capital
Contributions
(as of Effective

Date)  
Tejon

Feasibility
Cost Credit  

Additional
Development

Land
Contributions as
of Effective Date  

Total Capital
Contributions
(as of Effective

Date)  
Percentage

Interest  
      

Tejon Ranchcorp
P.O. Box 1000
4436 Lebec Road
Lebec, California  93243  $ 0 $ 241,704.45 $ 1,065,485.16 $ 1,307.189.61  50.000000%
Standard Pacific Corp.
32133 Lindero Canyon Road
Suite 105
Westlake Village,
California  91361  $ 1,778,588.85  N/A $ 366,573.38 $ 2,145,162.23  16.666666%
Lewis Investment
Company, LLC
1156 N. Mountain Avenue
Upland, California 91785-0670  $ 1,778,588.51  N/A $ 366,573.13 $ 2,145,161.64  16.666667%
Pardee Homes
10880 Wilshire Blvd.
Suite 1900
Los Angeles, California  90024  $ 1,778,588.51  N/A $ 366,573.13 $ 2,145,161.64  16.666667%
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Exhibit “C”

FEASIBILITY COSTS

[To Be Supplied]
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Exhibit “D”

APPROVED EXISTING EXCEPTIONS

[See Attached]
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Exhibit “E”

IRR CALCULATION METHOD

The internal rate of return of a Member shall be calculated using the XIRR function in Microsoft Excel for Windows (version 7.0, or any later version which is
substantially the same as version 7.0) by inputting the following (the “Cash Flows”) (i) the date and amount of all Capital Contributions (and, with respect to
only those calculations made hereunder pursuant to Section 13.1A(3)(i)B., loans) of such Member made in accordance with the Original LLC Agreement and this
Agreement and (ii) the date and amount of all distributions to such Member with respect to Sections 6.1C and 6.1D (and, with respect to only those calculations
made hereunder pursuant to Section 13.1A(3)(i)B., the repayment of such loans) in accordance with this Agreement.

In order to arrive at the appropriate amount (the “IRR Amount”) of distributions required in order to achieve the specified internal rate of return, those Cash
Flows which have occurred as of the date of determination shall be discounted back to the date of the initial Capital Contribution applying the “Daily Rate”
(defined below).  The IRR Amount shall be equal to that amount that when discounted back to the date of the initial Capital Contribution at the Daily Rate would
cause the net sum of all of the discounted Cash Flows to equal zero.  As used herein, the “Daily Rate” shall be determined in the same manner as provided in the
example below.
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An example of the foregoing calculation is as follows:

Target IRR   25.0 %    
Daily Rate   0.0611539109%  Daily Rate = (1+Target IRR)^(1/365)-1  
Annual Rate   25.0%  Annual Rate = (1+Daily Rate)^365-1  

 

Period  Day  Cash flow  Present value  XIRR  
     

0   1/1/02  (2,000,000)  (2,000,000)    
87   3/28/02  (500,000)  (474,101)    

265   9/22/02  (250,000)  (212,609)    
374   1/9/03  (500,000)  (397,805)    
390   1/25/03  1,000,000  787,866    
459   4/4/03  750,000  566,492    
659   10/21/03  1,500,000  1,002,587    
730   12/31/03  1,136,827  727,569  25.04%

          
      1,136,827  (0)    
          

Cash flow assumptions

     Initial cash contribution of $2 million on January 1, 2002.

     Cash contributions on March 28, 2002, September 22, 2002 and January 9, 2003.

     Cash distribution on January 25, 2003, April 4, 2003 and October 21, 2003.

     Final cash distribution on December 31, 2003.

The Daily Rate is used as the interest rate for the
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present value calculation supporting the XIRR calculation.
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Exhibit “F”

NON-COMPETITION AREA

[See Attached]
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Exhibit “G”

FORM OF MEMORANDUM OF CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT

RECORDING REQUESTED BY
AND WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO:

____________________________

____________________________

____________________________

____________________________

MEMORANDUM OF CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT

          THIS MEMORANDUM OF CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT (“Memorandum”) is effective as of ____________, 200__, by and between TEJON
RANCHCORP, a California corporation (“Tejon”), and CENTENNIAL FOUNDERS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Company”).

W I T N E S S E T H:

          Tejon hereby grants to the Company the right to acquire all of Tejon’s right, title and interest in that certain real property more particularly described on
Exhibit “A” attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (the “Property”), pursuant to the terms set forth in that certain unrecorded First Amended
and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Centennial Founders, LLC dated as of August ___, 2002 between Tejon, Standard Pacific Corp., a
Delaware corporation, Lewis Investment Company, LLC, a California limited liability company, and Pardee Homes, a California corporation (the “Project LLC
Agreement”).  The sole purpose of preparing and recording this Memorandum is to give notice of the Company’s rights to acquire the Property on the terms and
conditions set forth in the Project LLC Agreement.  In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between the terms of this Memorandum and the Project LLC
Agreement, the terms of the Project LLC Agreement shall control.

          Unless sooner terminated in accordance with the terms of the Project LLC Agreement, the Company’s rights to acquire the Property pursuant to the Project
LLC Agreement shall expire of record ___________________ (___) years from the recordation of this Memorandum.

          This Memorandum may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be an original, and all of which together shall constitute a single instrument.
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          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Memorandum as of the date set forth herein above.

 TEJON RANCHCORP,
 a California corporation
   
   
 By:  
  
  Robert A. Stine, its President and CEO
   
   
 By:  
  
 Name:  
  
 Title:  
  
  
  
 CENTENNIAL FOUNDERS, LLC,
 a Delaware limited liability company
   
 By:  
  
 Name:  
  
 Title:  
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STATE OF CALIFORNIA )
  
 )  ss:
  
COUNTY OF _____________________ )

On ________________________, _______, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for said County and State, personally
appeared___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________,
personally known to me (or proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence) to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within instrument and
acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the
person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument.

WITNESS my hand and official seal.

 
 Notary Public
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EXHIBIT “A”

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
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Appendix “A”

TAX APPENDIX

[See Attached]

[TO BE REVISED]

Appendix A



FIRST AMENDED AND RESTATED

LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT

OF

CENTENNIAL FOUNDERS, LLC

DATED:  AUGUST 28, 2002

BY AND AMONG

TEJON RANCHCORP,

a California corporation,

STANDARD PACIFIC CORP.,

a Delaware corporation,

LEWIS INVESTMENT COMPANY, LLC,

a California limited liability company

AND

PARDEE HOMES,

a California corporation



APPENDIX “A”

CERTAIN TAX AND ACCOUNTING MATTERS

Centennial Founders, LLC

ARTICLE I -  CAPITAL ACCOUNTS.

          Section 1.1     Maintenance of Capital Accounts; General Rules.  A separate “Book Capital Account” (as defined in Section 1.2 of this Appendix “A”)
shall be maintained for each Member in accordance with the provisions of this Article I.

          Section 1.2     Book Capital Accounts.  A capital account (the “Book Capital Account”) for each Member shall be maintained at all times during the term
of the Company in accordance with this Section 1.2 and the capital accounting rules set forth in Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv) of the Income Tax Regulations, as the
same may be amended from time to time (“Income Tax Regulations”).  The Company shall make all adjustments required by said Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv),
including, without limitation, the adjustments contained in Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(g) of the Income Tax Regulations (relating to “Section 704(c) Property”, as
defined in Section 2.3B(1) of this Appendix “A”).  In the event that at any time during the term of the Company it shall be determined that the Book Capital
Accounts shall not have been maintained as required by this Section 1.2, then said accounts shall be retroactively adjusted so that the same shall conform to this
Section 1.2.

                       A.     Book Basis of Property.  As used herein, “Book Basis” of an item of Company property means the adjusted basis of such item as reflected in
the books of the Company,  determined and maintained in accordance with the capital accounting rules contained in Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv) of the Income Tax
Regulations.

                       B.     Initial Book Capital Accounts.  The “Initial Book Capital Account” of each Member, as of the date hereof, shall be the amount contributed to
date by such Member pursuant to Sections 4.1 and 4.3B of the Limited Liability Company Agreement to which this Appendix is attached (the “LLC
Agreement”).  The Book Capital Account of a Member shall be thereafter increased, without duplication, by any Capital Contributions made by such Member
pursuant to Sections 4.2, 4.3, 4.4, 4.5 and/or 4.6 of the LLC Agreement.

                       C.     Optional Revaluations of Company Property.  The Company will not make the election to revalue Company property permitted under
Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(f) of the Income Tax Regulations except as reasonably determined by the Members.

                       D.     Determination of Book Items.  Consistent with the provisions of Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(g)(3) of the Income Tax Regulations:  (1) “Book
Depreciation” (which means the depreciation, depletion or amortization deduction or allowance that shall be allowable to the Company with respect to an item of
Company property, determined in the manner
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hereinafter set forth) for each item of Company property shall be the amount that bears the same relationship to the “Adjusted Book Basis” (which means, with
respect to an item of Company property, the Book Basis of such item as the same may be adjusted from time to time by Book Depreciation allowable with respect
to such item of Company property) of such item of Company property as the Tax Depreciation (as defined in Section 2.3A) with respect to such item of Company
property for such year bears to the “adjusted basis” (within the meaning of Section 1011(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended [the “Code”]) of
such item of Company property; and (2) “Book Gain or Loss” shall be the gain or loss recognized by the Company from the sale or other disposition of Company
property (such gain or loss determined by reference to the Adjusted Book Basis, and not the adjusted tax basis, of such property to the Company).  If an item of
Company property shall have an “adjusted basis” (as defined in the preceding sentence) equal to zero, Book Depreciation shall be determined under a reasonable
method, which method shall be selected by the Company.

                       E.     Book Adjustments on Distributions.  With respect to all distributions of Company property to the Members, the Company shall comply with
the provisions contained in Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(e) of the Income Tax Regulations (relating to adjustments to the Members’ Book Capital Accounts in
connection with such distributions) and all allocations and adjustments made in connection therewith shall be in accordance with Article II of this Appendix “A”.

ARTICLE II - ALLOCATION OF INCOME, LOSSES AND DEDUCTIONS
 FOR BOOK AND TAX PURPOSES.

          Section 2.1     Profits and Losses.  Except as provided in Section 2.2, the “Profits” or “Losses” of the Company (which means the Company’s taxable
income or loss, respectively, as calculated in accordance with Section 703(a) of the Code [with, however, (i) all items of income, gain, loss or deduction required
to be stated separately pursuant to Section 703(a)(1) of the Code being included in such taxable income or loss, (ii) any income and gain that is exempt from tax,
and all expenditures described in Section 705(a)(2)(B) of the Code (or treated as expenditures so described pursuant to Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(i) of the Income
Tax Regulations) being included in such Profits or Losses, (iii) Book Depreciation (and not Tax Depreciation [as defined in Section 2.3A of this Appendix “A”])
and all items of Nonrecourse Deductions (as defined in Section 2.4C) being included in calculating such Profits or Losses, and (iv) Book Gain or Loss (and not
Tax Gain or Loss [as defined in Section 2.3B of this Appendix “A”]) being included in calculating such Profits or Losses], but excluding in such calculation the
amounts allocated under Sections 2.3, 2.4 and 2.5 immediately below) for each fiscal year of the Company, shall be allocated to the Members in the following
order and priority:

                       A.     Profits.  If there shall be Profits for such fiscal year, such Profits shall be allocated among the Members as follows:

                       (1)    first, to the Members (in proportion to the amounts of Profits to be allocated in accordance with this Section 2.1A(1)) until there shall have
been allocated to each Member Profits equal to the excess, if any, of (X) the cumulative amount of Losses allocated to such Member pursuant to Section 2.1B(6)
hereof through and including such fiscal year; over (Y) the
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cumulative amount of Profits allocated to such Member pursuant to this Section 2.1A(1) through and including such fiscal year;

                       (2)    next, to the Members (in proportion to the amounts of Profits to be allocated in accordance with this Section 2.1A(2)) until there shall have
been allocated to each Member Profits equal to the excess, if any, of (X) the cumulative amount of Losses allocated to such Member pursuant to Section 2.1B(5)
hereof through and including such fiscal year; over (Y) the cumulative amount of Profits theretofore allocated to such Member pursuant to this Section 2.1A(2)
through and including such fiscal year;

                       (3)    next, to the Members (in proportion to the manner in which Available Cash has been or is to be distributed in accordance with Section 6.1D of
the LLC Agreement) until there shall have been allocated to each Member Profits equal to the sum of (X) the amounts theretofore distributed and then remaining
to be distributed to such Member in accordance with Section 6.1D of the LLC Agreement, and (Y) the cumulative amounts of Losses theretofore allocated to such
Member pursuant to Section 2.1B(4) hereof, in all cases from the formation of the Company through and including such fiscal year;

                       (4)    next, to the Members (in proportion to the manner in which Available Cash has been or is to be distributed in accordance with Section 6.1E of
the LLC Agreement) until there shall have been allocated to each Member Profits equal to the sum of (X) the amounts theretofore distributed and then remaining
to be distributed to such Member in accordance with Section 6.1E of the LLC Agreement, and (Y) the cumulative amounts of Losses theretofore allocated to such
Member pursuant to Section 2.1B(3) hereof, in all cases from the formation of the Company through and including such fiscal year;

                       (5)    next, to the Members (in proportion to the manner in which Available Cash has been distributed in accordance with Section 6.1F of the LLC
Agreement) until there shall have been allocated to each Member Profits equal to the sum of (X) the amounts theretofore distributed to such Member in
accordance with Section 6.1F of the LLC Agreement, and (Y) the cumulative amounts of Losses theretofore allocated to such Member pursuant to Section
2.1B(2) hereof, in all cases from the formation of the Company through and including such fiscal year; and

                       (6)    next, the remainder to the Members in proportion to the manner in which Available Cash is to be distributed in accordance with Section 6.1F
of the LLC Agreement.

                       B.     Losses.  If there shall be Losses for such fiscal year, such Losses shall be allocated among the Members as follows:

                       (1)    first, to the Members (in proportion to the amounts of Losses to be allocated in accordance with this Section 2.1B(1)), until there shall have
been allocated to each Member Losses equal to the excess, if any, of (X) the cumulative amount of Profits allocated to such Member pursuant to Section 2.1A(6)
hereof through and including such fiscal year; over (Y) the cumulative amount of Losses allocated to such Member pursuant to this Section 2.1B(1) through and
including such fiscal year;
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                       (2)    next, to the Members (in proportion to the amounts of Losses to be allocated in accordance with this Section 2.1B(2)), until there shall have
been allocated to each Member Losses equal to the excess, if any, of (X) the cumulative amount of Profits allocated to such Member pursuant to Section 2.1A(5)
hereof through and including such fiscal year; over (Y) the cumulative amount of Losses allocated to such Member pursuant to this Section 2.1B(2) through and
including such fiscal year;

                       (3)    next, to the Members (in proportion to the amounts of Losses to be allocated in accordance with this Section 2.1B(3)), until there shall have
been allocated to each Member Losses equal to the excess, if any, of (X) the cumulative amount of Profits allocated to such Member pursuant to Section 2.1A(4)
hereof through and including such fiscal year; over (Y) the cumulative amount of Losses allocated to such Member pursuant to this Section 2.1B(3) through and
including such fiscal year;

                       (4)    next, to the Members (in proportion to the amounts of Losses to be allocated in accordance with this Section 2.1B(4)), until there shall have
been allocated to each Member Losses equal to the excess, if any, of (X) the cumulative amount of Profits allocated to such Member pursuant to Section 2.1A(3)
hereof through and including such fiscal year; over (Y) the cumulative amount of Losses allocated to such Member pursuant to this Section 2.1B(4) through and
including such fiscal year;

                       (5)    next, to the Members (in proportion to the amounts of Losses to be allocated in accordance with this Section 2.1B(5)) until there shall have
been allocated to each Member Losses equal to the excess, if any, of the cumulative amount of the Capital Contributions theretofore made by such Member to the
Company pursuant to the LLC Agreement less the cumulative amounts of the distributions theretofore made to such Member in accordance with Section 6.1C of
the LLC Agreement net of the Profits allocated to such Member pursuant to Section 2.1A(2) hereof, in each case through and including such fiscal year; and

                       (6)    next, to the Members, in accordance with their then respective relative Percentage Interests.

                       In furtherance of the foregoing, the Members agree to make such corrective allocations of Profits and Losses as may be required in order to cause
any allocations of Profits and Losses which were made to the Members prior to the Effective Date to be properly reconciled with, and conformed to, the
allocations provided for under this Section 2.1.

          Section 2.2     Overriding Allocations Relating to Distributions under Section 6.2 of the LLC Agreement.  Notwithstanding the provisions of Section
2.1 hereof, if the provisions of  Section 6.2 of the LLC Agreement apply in any fiscal year, the Profits or Losses (as the case may be) of the Company for such
fiscal year and for any subsequent fiscal year shall be allocated among the Members such that, after all distributions made or to be made to all Members pursuant
to the provisions of Section 6.2 and 6.1 of the LLC Agreement shall have been made, each Member’s Book Capital Account shall be equal to be zero.

          Section 2.3     Tax Allocations.
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                       A.     Allocation of Tax Depreciation.  Except to the extent required by Section 704(c) of the Code or the regulations promulgated thereunder, “Tax
Depreciation” for each fiscal year of the Company (which means the depreciation, depletion or amortization deduction or allowance that shall be allowable for
federal income tax purposes to the Company with respect to an item of Company property) shall be allocated to the Members in the same manner that Book
Depreciation shall have been allocated to the Members pursuant to Section 2.1 of this Appendix “A”.

                       B.     Tax Gain or Loss.  The gain or loss for federal income tax purposes from the sale or other disposition of Company property (“Tax Gain or
Loss”) for each fiscal year of the Company shall be allocated to the Members as provided in this Section 2.3.  Tax gain or loss for purposes of this Section shall be
calculated (1) without including any income from interest on any deferred portion of the sale price and (2) without including in the tax basis of the Company
property any remaining special basis adjustment to Company property under Section 732(d) or 743 of the Code except to the extent that such special basis
adjustment is allocated to the common basis of Company property under Section 1.734-2(b)(1) of the Income Tax Regulations.  The Members agree that the tax
effects of any special basis adjustment that is not included in the calculation of tax gain or loss in accordance with clause (2) of the preceding sentence shall be
separately reflected in calculating the tax gain or loss of the Member or Members to whom such special basis adjustment relates.

                       (1)    In General.  In the case of “Section 704(c) Property” (as hereinafter defined), Tax Gain or Loss (as the case may be) shall be allocated in
accordance with the requirements of Section 704(c) of the Code and the Income Tax Regulations thereunder and such other provisions of the Code as govern the
treatment of Section 704(c) Property.  Any gain or loss in excess of the amount allocated pursuant to the preceding sentence (or, in the case of property which is
not Section 704(c) Property, all Tax Gain or Loss) shall be allocated among all the Members in the same ratio that the book gain or loss with respect to such
property is allocated in accordance with Article II of this Appendix “A”; provided, however, in the event that there is no book gain or loss, then any Tax Gain or
Loss in excess of the amount allocated pursuant to the preceding sentence shall be allocated among the Members in accordance with Section 1.704-1(b)(3) of the
Income Tax Regulations.  As used herein, “Section 704(c) Property” means (i) each item of Company property which is contributed to the Company and to which
Section 704(c) of the Code or Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(d) of the Income Tax Regulations applies, and (ii) each item of Company property which, as
contemplated by Section 1.704-1(b)(4)(i) and other analogous provisions of the Income Tax Regulations, is governed by the principles of Section 704(c) of the
Code (or principles analogous to the principles contained in Section 704(c) of the Code) by virtue of (a) an increase or decrease in the Book Capital Accounts of
the Members to reflect a revaluation of Company property on the Company’s books as provided by Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(f) of the Income Tax Regulations,
(b) the fact that it constitutes a receivable, account payable, or other accrued but unpaid item which, under principles analogous to those applying to an item of
Company property having an adjusted tax basis that differs from its Book Basis, is treated as an item of property described in Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(g)(2) of
the Income Tax Regulations, or (c) any other provision of the Code or the Income Tax Regulations (including, without limitation, Section 1.704-1(b)(4)(i) of the
Income Tax Regulations) as the same may from time to time be construed, to the extent that, and for so long as, such item of Company property continues to be
governed by the principles of
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Section 704(c) of the Code (or principles analogous to the principles contained in Section 704(c) of the Code).  The Members agree that the Existing Property,
when contributed to the Company in accordance with Section 4.3A(1)(b) of the LLC Agreement, and any property (other than cash) contributed by Tejon to the
Company pursuant to Section 4.4 of the LLC Agreement, shall be treated as items of Section 704(c) Property, and the Company will use the remedial method for
determining such allocations, within the meaning of Section 1.704-3(d) of the Income Tax Regulations.

                       (2)    Recapture Income.  If, in the event of a gain on any sale, exchange or other disposition of Company property, all or a portion of such gain is
characterized as ordinary income (“Recapture”) by virtue of the recapture rules of Section 1250, Section 1245 or otherwise, then the Recapture shall be allocated
between or among the Members in the same ratio that Tax Depreciation allowable with respect to such Company property had been allocated between or among
them; provided, however, that under no circumstances shall there be allocated to any Member Recapture in excess of the Tax Depreciation allocated to such
Member under subsection A above (and such excess  shall be allocated instead between or among the Members as to which this proviso does not apply, in
proportion to the Tax Depreciation allocated between or among them).

                       (3)    Other Items Relating to Section 704(c) Property.  Any item of income, gain, loss or deduction relating to an item of Section 704(c) Property
shall be allocated in accordance with the requirements of Section 704(c) of the Code and the Income Tax Regulations thereunder and such other provisions of the
Code as govern the treatment of Section 704(c) Property and the related book item shall be allocated in a manner consistent with the Income Tax Regulations
promulgated under Section 704(b) of the Code.
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          Section 2.4          Exceptions.

                       A.     Limitations.

                       (1)    General Limitation.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article II, no allocation  shall be made to a Member which
would cause such Member to have a deficit balance in its Adjusted Book Capital Account which exceeds the sum of such Member’s share of Company Minimum
Gain and such Member’s share of Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain.  If the limitation contained in the preceding sentence would apply to cause an item
of loss or deduction to be unavailable for allocation to all Members, then such item of loss or deduction shall be allocated between or among the Members in
accordance with the Members’ respective interests in the Company within the meaning of Section 1.704-1(b)(3) of the Income Tax Regulations.

                       (2)    Member Nonrecourse Deductions.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article II hereof, any and all items of loss and
deduction and any and all expenditures described in Section 705(a)(2)(B) of the Code (or treated as expenditures so described pursuant to Section 1.704-1(b)(2)
(iv)(i) of the Income Tax Regulations) (collectively, “Member Nonrecourse Deductions”) that are (in accordance with the principles set forth in Section 1.704-2(i)
(2) of the Income Tax Regulations) attributable to Member Nonrecourse Debt shall be allocated to the Member that bears the Economic Risk of Loss for such
Member Nonrecourse Debt.  If more than one Member bears such Economic Risk of Loss, such Member Nonrecourse Deductions shall be allocated between or
among such Members in accordance with the ratios in which they share such Economic Risk of Loss.  If more than one Member bears such Economic Risk of
Loss for different portions of a Member Nonrecourse Debt, each such portion shall be treated as a separate Member Nonrecourse Debt.

                       B.     Minimum Gain Chargebacks.

                       (1)    Company Minimum Gain.  Except to the extent provided in Section 1.704-2(f)(2), (3), (4) and (5) of the Income Tax Regulations, if there is,
for any fiscal year of the Company, a net decrease in Company Minimum Gain, there shall be allocated to each Member, before any other allocation pursuant to
Article II hereof is made under Section 704(b) of the Code of Company items for such fiscal year, items of income and gain for such year (and, if necessary, for
subsequent years) equal to such Member’s share of the net decrease in Company Minimum Gain.  A Member’s share of the net decrease in Company Minimum
Gain is the amount of such total net decrease multiplied by the Member’s percentage share of the Company’s minimum gain at the end of the immediately
preceding taxable year, determined in accordance with Section 1.704-2(g)(1) of the Income Tax Regulations.  Items of income and gain to be allocated pursuant
to the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.4B(1) shall consist first of gains recognized from the disposition of items of Company property subject to one or
more Nonrecourse Liabilities of the Company, and then of a pro rata portion of the other items of Company income and gain for that year.
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                       (2)    Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain.  Except to the extent provided in Section 1.704-2(i)(4) of the Income Tax Regulations, if there is,
for any fiscal year of the Company, a net decrease in Member Nonrecourse Debt  Minimum Gain, there shall be allocated to each Member that has a share of
Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain at the beginning of such fiscal year before any other allocation pursuant to Article II hereof (other than an allocation
required pursuant to Section 2.4B(1)) is made under Section 704(b) of the Code of Company items for such fiscal year, items of income and gain for such year
(and, if necessary, for subsequent years) equal to such Member’s share of the net decrease in the Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain.  The determination
of a Member’s share of the net decrease in Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain shall be made in a manner consistent with the principles contained in
Section 1.704-2(g)(1) of the Income Tax Regulations.  The determination of which items of income and gain to be allocated pursuant to the foregoing provisions
of this Section 2.4B(2) shall be made in a manner that is consistent with the principles contained in Section 1.704-2(f)(6) of the Income Tax Regulations.

                       C.     Certain Defined Terms.  For purposes of this Appendix “A”:  (i) “Company Minimum Gain” shall have the meaning set forth in Section
1.704-2(b)(2) of the Income Tax Regulations; (ii) “Member Nonrecourse Debt” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.704(b)-2(b)(4) of the Income Tax
Regulations; (iii) “Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.704-2(i)(2) of the Income Tax Regulations;
(iv) “Nonrecourse Liability” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.704-2(b)(3) of the Income Tax Regulations; (v) “Adjusted Book Capital Account”
means the Book Capital Account of a Member reduced by any adjustments, allocations or distributions described in Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(4), (5) or (6) of
the Income Tax Regulations; (vi) “Economic Risk of Loss” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.752-2(b)-(j) of the Income Tax Regulations; and
(vii) “Nonrecourse Deductions” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.704-2(b)(1) of the Income Tax Regulations.

          Section 2.5     Qualified Income Offset.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Appendix “A”, in the event any Member unexpectedly receives
any adjustments, allocations or distributions described in Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(4), (5), or (6) of the Income Tax Regulations, there shall be specially
allocated to such Member such items of Company income and gain, at such times and in such amounts as will eliminate as quickly as possible the deficit balance
(if any) in its Book Capital Account (in excess of the sum of such Member’s share of Member Minimum Gain and such Member’s share of Member Nonrecourse
Debt Minimum Gain) created by such adjustments, allocations or distributions.  To the extent permitted by the Code and the Income Tax Regulations, any special
allocations of items of income or gain pursuant to this Section 2.5 shall be taken into account in computing subsequent allocations of Profits or Losses pursuant to
this Article II, so that the net amount of any items so allocated and the subsequent Profits or Losses allocated to the Members pursuant to this Article II shall, to
the extent possible, be equal to the net amounts that would have been  allocated to each such Member pursuant to the provisions of this Article II if such
unexpected adjustments, allocations or distributions had not occurred.

          Section 2.6     Members’ Interests in Company Profits for Purposes of Section 752.  As permitted by Section 1.752-3(a)(3) of the Income Tax
Regulations, the Members hereby specify that solely for purposes of determining their respective shares of excess Nonrecourse
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Liabilities of the Company, the Members’ respective shares of Company profits shall be equal to their relative respective Percentage Interests.

ARTICLE III - TAX AND ACCOUNTING MATTERS.

                       A.     Accrual Basis.  The Company will be on the accrual basis for both tax and accounting purposes.

                       B.     Books and Records.  The Company books and records shall be prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
consistently applied.  If required by the LLC Agreement, such books and records shall be audited by such certified public accountants as selected by the
Members.

                       C.     Fiscal Year.  The fiscal year of the Company shall end on the 31st day of December in each year.

                       D.     Withholding Requirements.  Development Manager shall comply with the requirements contained in Section 1446 of the Code and
comparable tax laws of any other State in which the Company is engaged in business (regarding income tax withholding on certain income that is allocated to
Members who are non-U.S. persons) and any successor or replacement provision or provisions of law or administrative guidance (the “Foreign Partner
Withholding Law”).  Development Manager is hereby authorized and directed by each Member to withhold from the distributions or other amounts payable to
such Member under the LLC Agreement such amount or amounts (“Required Foreign Partner Withholding”) as Development Manager reasonably determines are
required by the Foreign Partner Withholding Law, and to remit the Required Foreign Partner Withholding to the Internal Revenue Service and/or such other
applicable State taxing agency at such time or times as may from time to time be required by the relevant taxing authority.  If Development Manager determines
at any time that the Required Foreign Partner Withholding with respect to a particular Member exceeds the amount of distributions or other amounts payable to
such Member at such time (a “Cash Shortfall”), the Member in question shall immediately make a cash contribution to the Company equal to the amount of such
Cash Shortfall, which Development Manager shall use to effectuate the Required Foreign Partner Withholding.  The Book Capital Account of the Member in
question shall not be increased by the amount of the capital contribution described in the preceding sentence, and likewise shall not be decreased when the
Development Manager uses the proceeds of such capital contribution to effectuate the Required Foreign Partner Withholding.  When remitting the Required
Foreign Partner Withholding, Development Manager shall inform the relevant taxing authority of the name and tax identification number of the Member for
whose account such Required Foreign Partner Withholding is being made.  In complying with the provisions of this paragraph, Development Manager shall be
entitled to presume irrebuttably that a Member is subject to the Foreign Partner Withholding Law unless:  (i) Such Member shall have previously provided
Development Manager with a completed and signed certificate of non-foreign status, in the Form attached as Schedule “1”, such certificate was furnished to
Development Manager not earlier than during the third taxable year of the Company preceding the taxable year under consideration, Development Manager has
not been notified by such Member that its status under such certificate has changed, and Development Manager does not have actual knowledge that the

9



status of such Member under such certificate has changed; or (ii) Development Manager reasonably determines, based upon all facts and circumstances
(including, without limitation, the provisions contained in Revenue Procedure 89-31, 1989-1 Cum. Bull. 895, or any successor Revenue Procedure, guideline or
administrative pronouncement), that the Foreign Partner Withholding Law does not apply in a particular instance.

ARTICLE IV - NO DEFICIT FUNDING OBLIGATION.

                       Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Appendix “A” or in the LLC Agreement, no Member having a negative balance in its
Book Capital Account shall have any obligation to the Company or to any other Member to restore its Book Capital Account to zero, subject to the provisions of
the Act.

ARTICLE V - ORDER OF APPLICATION.

          For purposes of this Appendix “A”, the following provisions set forth in the LLC Agreement and this Appendix “A” shall be applied in the following order:

                       A.     Section 6 of the LLC Agreement, relating to distributions.

                       B.     Section 2.4A(1) of this Appendix “A”, relating to general limitations.

                       C.     Section 2.4A(2) of this Appendix “A”, relating to Member Nonrecourse Deductions.

                       D.     Section 2.4B(1) of this Appendix “A”, relating to chargebacks of Company Minimum Gain.

                       E.     Section 2.4B(2) of this Appendix “A”, relating to chargebacks of Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain.

                       F.     Section 2.5 of this Appendix “A”, relating to qualified income offset.

                       G.     Section 2.1 or Section 2.2 (as applicable) of this Appendix “A”, relating to allocations of Profits and Losses.

These provisions shall be applied as if all contributions, distributions and allocations with respect to a given fiscal year were made at the end of the Company’s
fiscal year.  Where any provision depends on the Book Capital Account of any Member, such Book Capital Account shall be determined after the application of
all preceding provisions for the year.

ARTICLE VI - CLOSING OF COMPANY BOOKS IN CONNECTION WITH
ADMISSION OF NEW MEMBER OR TRANSFER OF MEMBER’S INTEREST.

          Upon the effective date (the “Effective Date”) of the admission of a new Member into the Company or of a valid transfer of all or part of a Member’s
interest in the Company pursuant to
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Article XII of the LLC Agreement, the books of the Company shall be closed in accordance with Section 706(d) of the Code, and consistent therewith:  (X) items
of income, deduction, gain, loss and/or credit of the Company that are recognized prior to the Effective Date shall be allocated among those persons or entities
who were Members in the Company prior to the Effective Date; and (Y) items of income, deduction, gain, loss and/or credit of the Company that are recognized
after the Effective Date shall be allocated among the persons or entities who were Members after the Effective Date.

ARTICLE VII - TAX MATTERS PARTNER.

          Development Manager shall be the “tax matters partner” of the Company as such term is defined in Section 6231(a)(7) of Code (the “Tax Matters Partner”),
and it shall serve as such at the expense of the Company with all powers granted to a tax matters partner under the Code.  Development Manager shall use its best
efforts to cause the Company’s accountants to prepare and file on a timely basis, with due regard to extensions, all tax and information returns that the Company
may be required to file, all at Company expense.  No tax or information return shall be filed unless approved by Development Manager.  The Company’s
accountants are (i) to deliver all tax and information returns to the Members for their review, comment and reasonable approval at least thirty (30) days in advance
of the required filing date therefor (taking into account any extensions approved by the Members), and (ii) to furnish the Members with a projection of the
Company’s taxable income or loss for each fiscal and tax year of the Company by December 1 of each such year to assist in year-end tax planning, all at
Company expense.  Each Member shall give prompt notice to each other Member of any and all notices it receives from the Internal Revenue Service concerning
the Company, including any notice of audit, any notice of action with respect to a revenue agent’s report, any notice of a 30-day appeal letter and any notice of a
deficiency in tax concerning the Company’s federal income tax return.  The Tax Matters Partner shall at Company expense furnish each Member with status
reports regarding any negotiation between the Internal Revenue Service and the Company, and each such Member, if it so requests, may participate in such
negotiation.  The Tax Matters Partner shall use its best efforts to cause the Company’s accountants to prepare and deliver to each Member an information
reporting return (Schedule K-1) reflecting each Member’s distributive share of all income, gain, loss, deductions, allowances or credits of the Company for each
fiscal year, and will provide the information necessary for such accountants to accomplish the foregoing and to issue the other reports required hereunder on a
timely basis.  The Tax Matters Partner shall not enter into any settlement with any taxing authority (federal, state or local), or extend the statute of limitations, on
behalf of the Company or the Members without the approval of each Member.
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SCHEDULE “1” TO APPENDIX “A”

CERTIFICATION OF NON-FOREIGN STATUS

Section 1446 of the Internal Revenue Code provides that a partnership must pay a withholding tax to the Internal Revenue Service with respect to a partner’s
allocable share of the partnership’s effectively connected taxable income.  To inform Centennial Founders, LLC (the “Company”) that the provisions of Section
1446 do not apply, the undersigned hereby certifies on behalf of _______________________ (“Member”) the following:

1.     Member is not a foreign corporation, foreign partnership, foreign trust, or foreign estate (as those terms are defined in the Internal Revenue Code and Income
Tax Regulations).

2.     Member’s U.S. taxpayer identification number is ___________.

3.     Member’s office address is

______________________________________________

______________________________________________

______________________________________________

Member hereby agrees to notify the Company within sixty (60) days of the date Member becomes a foreign person.  Member understands that this certification
may be disclosed to the Internal Revenue Service by the Company and that any false statement contained herein could be punished by fine, imprisonment, or
both.

Under penalties of perjury, I declare that I have examined this certification and to the best of my knowledge and belief it is true, correct and complete, and I
further declare that I have authority to sign this document on behalf of Member.

Executed as of the ____day of _________________, 20___, at _________________________ .

 
 SIGNATURE
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EXHIBIT 99
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
Each of the undersigned hereby certifies, in his/her capacity as an officer of Tejon Ranch Co. (the “Company”), for purposes of 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as

adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to his own knowledge:
 

 
•  the Quarterly Report of the Company on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2002 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
 •  the information contained in such report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operation of the Company.
 
Dated:    November 12, 2002
 

/s/    ROBERT A. STINE        

Robert A. Stine,
Chief Executive Officer

 

/s/    ALLEN E. LYDA        

Allen E. Lyda,
Chief Financial Officer


